Public Document Pack The Royal Borough

NOTICE
OF i
M E ETI N G l\‘ﬁiir&g;(])nread

MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

will meet on

WEDNESDAY, 16TH MARCH, 2016

at

7.00 pm

in the

COUNCIL CHAMBER - TOWN HALL,

TO: MEMBERS OF THE MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

COUNCILLOR RICHARD KELLAWAY (CHAIRMAN)

COUNCILLOR DEREK WILSON (VICE-CHAIRMAN)

COUNILLORS CLIVE BULLOCK, GERRY CLARK, DAVID COPPINGER,
SIMON DUDLEY, MAUREEN HUNT, PHILIP LOVE, DEREK SHARP,
CLAIRE STRETTON AND LEO WALTERS

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS

COUNCILLORS STUART CARROLL, PAUL BRIMACOMBE, DAVID BURBAGE,
CARWYN COX, MOHAMMED ILYAS, ASGHAR MAJEED, MARION MILLS,

MJ SAUNDERS, HARI SHARMA AND ADAM SMITH

Karen Shepherd
Democratic Services Manager
Issued: Tuesday, 8 March 2016

Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part | of this meeting.

The agenda is available on the Council’'s web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk — if you are viewing this on
the website and there are appendices you are unable to access, please contact the
Panel Administrator Shilpa Manek 01628 796310, or democratic.services@rbwm.gov.uk

Fire Alarm - In the event of the fire alarm sounding or other emergency, please leave the building quickly and calmly by
the nearest exit. Do not stop to collect personal belongings and do not use the lifts. Congregate in the Town Hall Car
Park, Park Street, Maidenhead (immediately adjacent to the Town Hall) and do not re-enter the building until told to do so
by a member of staff.

Recording of Meetings — The Council allows the filming, recording and photography of public Council meetings. This
may be undertaken by the Council itself, or any person attending the meeting. By entering the meeting room you are
acknowledging that you may be audio or video recorded and that this recording will be available for public viewing on the
RBWM website. If you have any questions regarding the council’s policy, please speak to the Democratic Services or
Legal representative at the meeting.



http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@rbwm.gov.uk

ITEM

AGENDA

PART 1
SUBJECT

WARD

PAGE
NO

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
To receive any apologies for absence.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest.

MINUTES
To confirm the part | minutes of the last meeting.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS (DECISION)
To consider the Head of Planning and Development’s report on
planning applications received.

Full details on all planning applications (including application
forms, site plans, objections received, correspondence etc.) can
be found by accessing the Planning Applications Public Access
Module by selecting the following link.
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/dc_public_apps.htm

9-146

ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS (MONITORING)
To consider the Appeals Decision Report and Planning Appeals
Received.

147 - 150




Agenda Item 2

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985

In accordance with the requirements of the Local Government (Access to Information)
Act

1985, each item on this report includes a list of Background Papers that have been
relied

on to a material extent in the formulation of the report and recommendation.

The list of Background Papers will normally include relevant previous planning decisions,
replies to formal consultations and relevant letter of representation received from local
societies, and members of the public. For ease of reference, the total number of letters
received from members of the public will normally be listed as a single Background
Paper,

although a distinction will be made where contrary views are expressed. Any replies to
consultations that are not received by the time the report goes to print will be recorded
as

“Comments Awaited”.

The list will not include published documents such as the Town and Country Planning
Acts

and associated legislation, Department of the Environment Circulars, the Berkshire
Structure Plan, Statutory Local Plans or other forms of Supplementary Planning
Guidance,

as the instructions, advice and policies contained within these documents are common
to

the determination of all planning applications. Any reference to any of these documents
will be made as necessary under the heading “Remarks”.

STATEMENT OF THE HUMAN RIGHTS ACT 1998

The Human Rights Act 1998 was brought into force in this country on 2nd October 2000,
and it will now, subject to certain exceptions, be directly unlawful for a public authority to
act in a way which is incompatible with a Convention right. In particular, Article 8
(respect

for private and family life) and Article 1 of Protocol 1 (peaceful enjoyment of property)
apply to planning decisions. When a planning decision is to be made however, there is
further provision that a public authority must take into account the public interest. In the
vast majority of cases existing planning law has for many years demanded a balancing
exercise between private rights and public interest, and therefore much of this authority’s
decision making will continue to take into account this balance.

The Human Rights Act will not be referred to in the Officer’s report for individual
applications beyond this general statement, unless there are exceptional circumstances
which demand more careful and sensitive consideration of Human Rights issues.



MEMBERS’ GUIDANCE NOTE

DECLARING INTERESTS IN MEETINGS

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS (DPIs)

DPIs include:

e Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain.
e Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made in respect of any
expenses occurred in carrying out member duties or election expenses.
e Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed
which has not been fully discharged.
e Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the relevant authority.
e Any license to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.
e Any tenancy where the landlord is the relevant authority, and the tenant is a body in
which the relevant person has a beneficial interest.
e Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where
a) that body has a piece of business or land in the area of the relevant authority,
and
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal
value of the shares of any one class belonging to the relevant person exceeds one
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.

PREJUDICIAL INTERESTS

This is an interest which a reasonable fair minded and informed member of the public would
reasonably believe is so significant that it harms or impairs your ability to judge the public
interest. That is, your decision making is influenced by your interest that you are not able to
impartially consider only relevant issues.

DECLARING INTERESTS

If you have not disclosed your interest in the register, you must make the declaration of
interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as you are aware that you have a DPI or
Prejudicial Interest. If you have already disclosed the interest in your Register of Interests
you are still required to disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter being discussed.
A member with a DPI or Prejudicial Interest may make representations at the start of the
item but must not take part in discussion or vote at a meeting. The term ‘discussion’
has been taken to mean a discussion by the members of the committee or other body
determining the issue. You should notify Democratic Services before the meeting of your
intention to speak. In order to avoid any accusations of taking part in the discussion or vote,
you must move to the public area, having made your representations.

If you have any queries then you should obtain advice from the Legal or Democratic Services
Officer before participating in the meeting.

If the interest declared has not been entered on to your Register of Interests, you must notify
the Monitoring Officer in writing within the next 28 days following the meeting.



48/15

49/15

50/15

51/15

Agenda Iltem 3

MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL
17.02.16

To listen to audio recordings of this meeting, go to:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/meetings_audio_recordings_august2015.htm

PRESENT: Councillors Clive Bullock, Gerry Clark, David Coppinger, Maureen Hunt,
Richard Kellaway (Chairman), Derek Sharp, Derek Wilson (Vice-Chairman) and
Leo Walters.

Officers: Alan Brier (Tree Officer), Tony Carr (Traffic & Road Safety Manager), Andrew
Fletcher (Rights of Way Officer), Jenifer Jackson (Borough Planning Manager), Shilpa
Manek, Susan Sharman (Senior Planning Officer) and Matthew Tucker (Solicitor -
Shared Legal Solutions)

Also Present: Councillor MJ Saunders
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies for absence received from Councillors Simon Dudley, Philip Love and Ms Claire
Stretton.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
None Received.

Councillor MJ Saunders was in attendance at the meeting. Councillor Saunders is a
member of Cookham Parish Council and Cookham Society.

MINUTES
RESOLVED: That the Part | minutes of the meeting of the Maidenhead Development
Control Panel held on 20 January 2016 be approved.

PLANNING APPLICATIONS (DECISION)

The Panel considered the Head of Planning and Development’s report on planning
applications and received updates in relation to a number of applications, following the
publication of the agenda.

NB: *Updates were received in relation to planning applications marked with an asterisk.

15/02564/FULL Construction of a log cabin for occupation by an
Land between agricultural worker in connection with the operation and

. management of an egg laying poultry farm to be
nghtlands. Lane and established on the holding for a temporary period of 3
Strande View Walk years.

and Strande Lane
Cookham The PANEL VOTED UNANIMOUSLY that the
Maidenhead application be REFUSED. The Application was

refused on the grounds outlined in the Planning

Officer’s report.

(Speakers: The Panel was addressed by Andy Silver,
objector, Mr Scarf, objector, Cookham Society, Cllr

[
Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead
Document Title: Minutes of the Maidenhead Development Control Panel — Wednesday, 17 February 2016
Author: Shilpa Manek 5
Creation Date: Tuesday, 9 February 2016



Christine Doyle, objector, Cookham Parish Council
and Cllr MJ Saunders, objector, Ward Member).
15/02565/FULL Erection of one purpose built poultry shed elevated on a
Land between Chickens Induding a separate intsgral 699 packing room
;‘:f:;ﬁ‘:g};};‘%;ﬁd at one end of the building.
and Strande Lane The PANEL VOTED UNANIMOUSLY that the
Cookham application be REFUSED. The Application was
Maidenhead refused on the grounds outlined in the Planning
Officer’s report.
(Speakers: The Panel was addressed by Andy Silver,
objector, Mr Scarf, objector, Cookham Society, Cllr
Christine Doyle, objector, Cookham Parish Council
and Cllr MJ Saunders, objector, Ward Member).
15/02567/FULL The erection of one purpose built poultry shed elevated on
Land between a r_aised platform for the keeping of up to 1750 egg laying
Lightlands Lane and chickens.
Strande View Walk | e pANEL VOTED UNANIMOUSLY that the
and Strande Lane application be REFUSED. The Application was
Cookham refused on the grounds outlined in the Planning
Maidenhead Officer’s report.
(Speakers: The Panel was addressed by Andy Silver,
objector, Mr Scarf, objector, Cookham Society, ClIr
Christine Doyle, objector, Cookham Parish Council
and Cllr MJ Saunders, objector, Ward Member).
15/02749/FULL The erection of a general purpose portal framed
Land between agricultural storage building for the keeping of hay and
Lightlands Lane and straw and a bulk feed storage hopper.
Strande View Walk | 7pe pANEL VOTED UNANIMOUSLY that the
and Strande Lane application be REFUSED. The Application was
Cookham refused on the grounds outlined in the Planning
Maidenhead Officer’s report.
(Speakers: The Panel was addressed by Andy Silver,
objector, Mr Scarf, objector, Cookham Society, ClIr
Christine Doyle, objector, Cookham Parish Council
and Cllr MJ Saunders, objector, Ward Member).
15/03707/FULL Alterations to ground floor retail unit and the conversion of
Gordons Supermarket upper.floors to provide 2 x residential units with
17 — 19 Gordon Road associated parking.
Maidenhead The PANEL VOTED UNANIMOUSLY that the
S16 6BS application be APPROVED. The Application was
approved subject to the conditions in the Borough
Planning Manager’s report.

52/15 ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS (MONITORING)

Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead

Document Title: Minutes of the Maidenhead Development Control Panel — Wednesday, 17 February 2016
Author: Shilpa Manek 6

Creation Date: Tuesday, 9 February 2016



The Panel noted the appeal decisions.

The meeting, which began at 7.05 pm, ended at 7.45 pm

iii
Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead
Document Title: Minutes of the Maidenhead Development Control Panel — Wednesday, 17 February 2016

Author: Shilpa Manek 7
Creation Date: Tuesday, 9 February 2016



This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 4
RoYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD

Maidenhead Panel

16th March 2016

INDEX
APP = Approval
CLU = Certificate of Lawful Use
DD = Defer and Delegate
DLA = Defer Legal Agreement
PERM = Permit
PNR = Prior Approval Not Required
REF = Refusal
WA = Would Have Approved
WR = Would Have Refused
Item No. 1 Application No. 15/02081/FULL Recommendation REF Page No.
1
Location: Land Adjacent To Weir Sound Lock Avenue Maidenhead
Proposal: Construction of detached dwelling
Applicant: Member Call-in: N/A Expiry Date: 2 September 2015
Item No. 2 Application No. 15/02107/FULL Recommendation REF Page No.
27
Location: Land To The North of Longlea Fifield Road Fifield Maidenhead
Proposal: Re-location of Phoenix gym club including building ,access, car parking and landscaping.
Applicant:  Mrs Bushell- Phoenix Member Call-in: Clir David Coppinger Expiry Date: 31 March 2016
Gymnastics Club
Item No. 3 Application No. 15/02135/FULL Recommendation REF Page No.
53
Location: Land South of Horwoods Yard Green Lane Maidenhead
Proposal: Construction of indoor bowling green and clubhouse with associated facilities and construction of outdoor
bowling green and green-keepers store with car parking and associated landscaping
Applicant:  Desborough Bowling Member Call-in: N/A Expiry Date: 18 March 2016
Club
Item No. 4 Application No. 15/03388/0UT Recommendation PERM Page No.
79
Location: Woodlands Farm Spring Lane Cookham Dean Maidenhead SL6 9PN
Proposal: Outline application with all matters reserved: Erection of 3 x detached dwellings.

AGLIST

9



Applicant:

Mr Simmonds- The Member Call-in: Clir M J Saunders Expiry Date: 17 March 2016
Simmonds Partnership

Item No. 5 Application No. 15/03901/FULL Recommendation PERM Page No.
95
Location: Former Stiefel Laboratories (Ireland) Ltd Whitebrook Park 68 Lower Cookham Road Maidenhead
Proposal: Construction of a new part two/three storey office (use class B1) building with associated landscaping, tree
works and car parking following demolition of existing buildings
Applicant: The Royal London Member Call-in: N/A Expiry Date: 31 May 2016
Mutual Insurance
Society Limited
Item No. 6 Application No. 15/04201/VAR Recommendation PERM Page No.
115
Location: All Saints CE Junior School Westborough Road Maidenhead SL6 4AR
Proposal: Construction of 2 storey building to form 4x additional classrooms, two court sports MUGA with parking on site
as approved under planning permission 15/00620 without complying with condition 2 (external surface
materials) to change the materials to be used.
Applicant:  The Royal Borough Member Call-in: Not applicable Expiry Date: 21 March 2016
Windsor And
Maidenhead
Item No. 7 Application No. 16/00098/FULL Recommendation PERM Page No.
121
Location: 1 Cannon Down Cottages And Land At 1 Cannon Down Cottages Maidenhead Road Maidenhead
Proposal:  Two storey rear extension at No. 1 and 1x new attached dwelling with associated works.
Applicant: Mrs Constable Member Call-in: Clir M J Saunders Expiry Date: 10 March 2016
Item No. 8 Application No. 16/00395/FULL Recommendation PERM Page No.
133
Location: Land And Buildings To Rear of Oakley Green Lodge Oakley Green Road Oakley Green Windsor SL4 4PZ
Proposal: Erection of 3 x dwellings, with garages and curtilages, with access alterations, parking, landscaping and
ancillary works following demolition of existing buildings and hardstanding
Applicant:  Mr And Mrs Bennett Member Call-in: Not applicable Expiry Date: 8 April 2016
Appeal Decision Report Page No. 147
Planning Appeals Page No. 149

AGLIST

10



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD
PLANNING COMMITTEE

MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

16 March 2016 Item: 1
Application 15/02081/FULL

No.:

Location: Land Adjacent To Weir Sound Lock Avenue Maidenhead

Proposal: Construction of detached dwelling

Applicant:

Agent: Mr Daniel Morris - JSA Planning

Parish/Ward: Maidenhead Riverside Ward

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Antonia Liu on 01628 796697 or at
antonia.liu@rbwm.gov.uk

1.

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

2.

SUMMARY

The proposal is for a new house on garden land to the east of the house known as ‘Weir Sound’,
following the subdivision of the plot.

The site lies in a high risk flood area as a result of the River Thames. The proposal fails the
Sequential Test as it has not demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority that
the development could not be located in areas with a lower probability of flooding. The proposal
also fails the Exception Test as it would not provide wider sustainability benefits to the community
that outweigh flood risk and does not demonstrate safe access and egress from the site, resulting
in an unacceptable risk to the health and safety of the occupants during a flood event, and an
increased burden on the emergency services and during a time of flood.

Due to the narrowness of the plot and scale of the proposed house, the development would result
in an incongruous pattern of development that would also be a cramped form of development,
representing poor design to the detriment of the streetscene and wider character of Lock Avenue.
The limited opportunity for planting, particularly on the boundaries which is an important feature
in the area, and harm to the existing hedgerow to the front of the site would be detrimental to the
streetscene and wider character of the locality.

The siting of the new house and its height would result in an unacceptable level of overlooking to
the nearby property of ‘Taumead’ as there would not be an adequate separation distance and the
existing boundary landscaping cannot be relied upon to mitigate the impact.

It is recommended the Panel refuses planning permission for the following summarised
reasons (the full reasons are identified in Section 10 of this report):

1. | The site lies within a high risk flood area. The proposal fails to comply with the Sequential
Test, the Exceptions Test and that it would occupiers of the house would not be safe for
the lifetime of the development taking into account the vulnerability of the users.

2 | Unacceptable level of overlooking to the detriment of the living conditions of the occupiers
of ‘Taumead'.

3 | Cramped form of development with limited opportunities for planting and the creation of an
opening in a mature hedge. For these reasons, the proposal would not assimilate well with
the existing character and appearance of the area.

REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

e The Borough Planning Manager and the Lead Member of Planning consider that it would not
be appropriate to use delegated powers in this instance.

11




3.1

41

5.1

5.2

5.2

54

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

The site comprises of garden land to the east of ‘Weir Sound’, a two storey dwelling on Lock
Avenue. Lock Avenue is characterised by detached residential dwellings set in large plots, and
the houses feature a mix of architectural design but predominately traditional in style. Many of the
houses on Lock Avenue have tall hedgerows along their front boundaries with a grass verge to
the front. The overall character is spacious and verdant. The River Thames lies approximately
95m to the east, and the site lies in Flood Zone 3.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

Ref. Description Decision and Date

14/02991/PDXL | Single storey rear extension no greater than 8.00 Prior Approval Required -
m depth, 3.8m high and an eaves height of 3.6m 05.11.2014

14/03015/CPD | Certificate of lawfulness to determine whether a Approved - 03.10.2014
proposed two storey rear and single storey side
extension on both sides of dwelling is lawful

14/02237/CPD | Certificate of lawfulness to determine whether a Approved - 25.07.2014
proposed outbuilding is lawful

14/00190/CPD | Certificate of lawfulness to determine whether a Approved - 03.02.2014
proposed single storey outbuilding is lawful

96/29852/FULL | Single storey front extension and garage extension | Approved - 06.03.1996

The proposal is for a new, two-storey, detached dwelling to be sited to the east of the existing
house at Weir Sound, together with associated landscaping. The proposed plot would measure
approximately 9m in width and 32m in depth, and the house would be sited approximately 7m
back from Lock Avenue. The proposed house would feature a crown roof and measure
approximately 9m in height, 13-16m in depth, and 12.5m in width. To the front, a drive is
proposed with an area of hardstanding for 2 on-site car parking spaces.

MAIN RELEVANT STRATEGIES AND POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

National Planning Policy Framework, Section 6 (Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes),
7 (Requiring good design) and 10 (Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal
change).

Royal Borough Local Plan

The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are:

Within settlement area | High risk of flooding Highways/Parking issues

Local Plan

DG1, H10, H11 F1 15, T7, P4

Supplementary planning documents adopted by the Council relevant to the proposal are:

e Interpretation of Policy F1 — Area Liable to Flood
e Sustainable Design and Construction
e Planning for an Ageing Population

More information on these documents can be found at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/pp supplementary planning.htm

Other Local Strategies or Publications
Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are:

° RBWM Parking Strategy - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web pp supplementary planning.htm

12



http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp_supplementary_planning.htm

6.

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

° RBWM Strategic Flood Risk Assessment - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web pp supplementary planning.htm

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

The key issues for consideration are:

Flood Risk
Character of the Area
Impact on Neighbouring Amenity
Impact on Highway Safety and Parking Provision
Other Material Considerations
Flood Risk

Sequential Assessment

The site wholly within the 1% Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP) (1 in 100 year) plus 20%
allowance for climate change flood extent. This is classified by the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF) and the associated National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG) as flood zone
3 and as having a ‘high probability’ of flooding from rivers. In accordance with paragraphs 101 to
102 of the NPPF the proposed residential development must successfully pass a flood risk
sequential test in order to direct development to the lowest risk areas of flooding first, before land
in the medium (FZ2) and high (FZ3) probability of flooding classifications. The applicant has
undertaken a sequential assessment of alternative sites uses the most recent version of the
Council's SHLAA (January 2014) to identifying potential housing sites but only within the
settlement boundary of Maidenhead and neighbouring settlements such as Cookham. While the
2014 SHLAA is the most up-to-date source of data with the limited study area it has not been
demonstrated that there are no alternative preferable sites in respect of flooding available within
the whole of the Borough. The proposal therefore fails the Sequential Test.

Flood Risk

Given that the proposal has failed the Sequential Test it is not necessary to consider the proposal
further in respect of flooding. However, for completeness, the requirements of the Exception Test
have been assessed. To pass the Exception Test it must be demonstrated that the development
provides wider sustainability benefits to the community that outweigh flood risk, informed by a
SFRA; and a site-specific Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) must demonstrate that the development
will be safe for its lifetime taking account of the vulnerability of its users, without increasing flood
risk elsewhere and, where possible, will reduce flood risk overall.

In this respect it is considered that the submitted Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) fails to clearly
demonstrate that the development can provide appropriate safe access and egress with a ‘very
low’ hazard rating. Consequently there would be an unacceptable risk to the health and safety of
the occupants during a flood event, contrary to paragraph 103 of the NPPF. Furthermore, the
additional new house would place additional people at risk during a flood event, contrary to policy
F1 which states that in an area liable to flood a proposal should not increase the number of
people or properties at risk from flooding. It is also noted that NPPG states that the emergency
services are unlikely to regard developments that increase the scale of any rescue that might be
required as being safe. This position is supported by a recent appeal decision at ‘Four Gables’,
62 Lower Cookham Road, dated 3 February 2016, which is attached at Appendix E.

The FRA states that a ‘safe refuge’ for all occupants within the new dwelling, supplemented by a
‘Flood Risk Management Plan’ will be provided. However, it is considered unlikely that occupiers
would be able to stay for a prolonged period due to lack of supplies (i.e. fresh drinking water and
food) and the Environment Agency advises that generally in flood events some foul sewage
networks may not function correctly dueltg capacity issues and/or their outlets/pumping stations


http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp_supplementary_planning.htm

6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

being offline. Consequently emergency services would be called up to move occupiers,
especially those less able. Furthermore, a Flood Risk Management Plan would not guarantee
that people would / could heed warnings to vacate or be aware of the time duration of flooding at
the time of any warning and possibly decide to ‘stay put’ given that the scheme has been
designed to be a dry and safe haven. Therefore, it is essential that a safe route of access and
egress can be provided and maintained during flood events up to and including the 1% AEP plus
20% allowance for climate change flood event. The Environment Agency has objected on this
basis.

In terms of floodplain compensation the new building will take up floodplain storage space. The
applicant proposes construction of the new building over floodable voids and provision of level-
for-level flood compensation through ground lowering and removal of an elevated pond. As a
method of flood compensation use of floodable voids is considered to be unacceptable as there
is no guarantee that the voids would remain unblocked during the lifetime of the development to
ensure its effectiveness. However, if the building were solid (no voids) then there would still be an
overall gain of approximately 17 cubic metres of floodplain storage due to the level-for-level flood
compensation. The elevated pond area to be cleared and levelled to 24.03m AOD will provide
level-for-level compensation for the upper level bands (24.03m AOD to 24.73m AOD), and lowering of an
area on the adjacent land to 23.73m AOD, provides level-for-level compensation for the lower level bands.
As such, it has been demonstrated that there would be no loss of floodplain storage up to the 1%
AEP plus 20% allowance for climate change floodplain level. The finished floor levels of the
proposed development would also be raised 300mm above the 1% AEP plus 20% allowance for
climate change flood level, to ensure that the property would remain dry in the event of a flood.

In terms of wider sustainability benefits to the community that outweigh flood risk the FRA states
the development would provide new housing within a desirable area, and would bring economic
benefit as it will being a vacant site into use, creating job opportunities for local buildings and
trades. However, any economic benefit would be temporary so not a significant sustainability
benefit and the need for housing is recognised but could be provided elsewhere in the Borough
but notwithstanding this would not outweigh the risk to people due to the lack of a safe escape.

Overall the proposal is considered to fail a Sequential Test, and in respect of the Exception Test
would result in an unacceptable risk to the health and safety of the occupants during a flood
event, and would not provide wider sustainability benefits that would outweigh flood risk, contrary
to the NPPF and Local Plan policy F1.

Surface Water Flood Risk

The submitted Flood Risk Assessment states that the appropriate drainage will be dealt with prior
to commencement of any development. Had the application been recommended for approval, the
details of any drainage mitigation to help in the event of a heavy period of rainfall would have
been dealt with by condition.

Character of the Area

Lock Avenue comprises predominately by large detached houses sited within generous plots with
ample spacing to the site boundaries. This contributes to the spacious character of the street,
and allows for mature vegetation boarding the plots to flourish. The subdivision of the plot to
accommodate the new dwelling would result in a plot that is narrower than the other plots on
Lock Avenue, which is contrary to the prevailing pattern of development. The narrowness of the
plot and the scale of the house would also result in limited spacing between the house and side
boundaries and this is considered to result in a cramped appearance within the site. Furthermore,
the lack of space between the house and western boundary in particular would not allow
sufficient planting along this flank. It is noted that mature vegetation boarding the plots, including
the side boundaries is characteristic of the street, contributing to its verdant character. As such,
the proposal is considered unduly incongruous, to the detriment of the streetscene and wider
character of Lock Avenue.

14



6.11

6.12

6.13

6.14

6.15

6.16

There are further concerns over the creation of the new access from Lock Avenue, and the
impact that this would have upon the streetscene. The front boundary to the site is fairly well
screened by high quality hedgerow, and the creation of the new access and associated
hardstanding is likely to result in harm and potential loss of this hedge, which would have a
harmful impact on streetscene.

Concerns have been raised by local residents over the siting of the house, which is out of line
with Weir Sound to the west and Taumead to the east. However, there is no strong established
building line on Lock Avenue, and it not considered that the siting is unduly obtrusive in this
respect. However, overall, the proposal is still considered to be contrary to Local Plan policies
DG1, H10 and H11 which seek high standards of design which would be compatible with
character of the area, and paragraphs 56, 60, 61 and 64 of the National Planning Policy
Framework.

Neighbouring Amenity

The proposed house would be sited further rearwards than Weir Sound and would extend
approximately 10m further rearwards than the rear elevation of Weir Sound at a two storey
height of approximately 9m at the ridge. However, the corner of the proposed house would just
clip an approximate 45 degree line taken from the mid-point of the nearest ground floor rear
window serving an orangery at ‘Weir Sound’ at a distance of approximately 15m. It is therefore
not considered to result in an undue loss of light to or appear visually intrusive from this room
within ‘Weir Sound’. There is a flank first floor window on the east elevation at ‘Weir Sound’,
serving a bedroom, which the proposed house partly extends across. However, the proposed
house would not extend across the mid-point of this window and the bedroom is also served by a
window on the rear elevation. It is therefore not the sole source of natural light, ventilation or
outlook. As such, the amenity of this room is not considered to be unduly harmed. In relation the
garden area, the proposal would introduce mass and bulk, resulting in a visual presence, but
given the width and size of plot of Weir Sound the proposed house is not considered to appear
visually overbearing when viewed from their rear garden to the detriment of its usability.

Taumead is sited approximately 17m further rearwards than the proposed house. This
separation distance and oblique relationship is considered sufficient to mitigate any
unreasonable loss of light to or visual intrusion when viewed from habitable rooms as a result of
the proposal. In relation to amenity space, as with Weir Sound, the proposed house would
introduce a visual presence when seen from the main garden area but given the width and size
of plot at Taumead the proposed house is not considered to appear visually overbearing when
viewed from their garden to the detriment of its usability.

Flank windows have been proposed at first floor level, but as these serve non-habitable rooms (a
stairway and bathrooms) it is considered that direct views into neighbouring sites would be
limited. If recommended for approval, this could have been secured by condition. Views from
proposed ground floor rear windows would also be limited due to their height. However, the
proposed first floor windows on the rear elevation, which would serve habitable rooms, are
considered to introduce a level of overlooking into the main garden area of Taumead that would
unduly erode their privacy. The existing garden at Taumead while to the front of the main house
has a reasonable level of privacy as existing views towards Taumead and the main garden area
from the existing house at Weir Sound is currently limited due to distances and angles. There is
landscaping on the boundary but as the length of time planting would survive is unknown, it
cannot be relied on to mitigate overlooking. As such, the proposal is considered contrary to Core
Principle 4 of the NPPF which seeks to ensure a good standard of amenity for all.

Highway Safety and Parking Provision

Lock Avenue is a residential cul-de-sac, subject to a 30mph speed restriction, which connects
surrounding highway network via a T-junction to the A4094 Ray Mead Road. The existing
property, Weir Sound, would retain its two existing access points, while the new access point to
the proposed house would be unrestricted, which is considered acceptable.

15



6.17

6.18

6.19

71

In relation to parking, the proposed layout shows 2 on-site parking spaces but there would be
ample space within the site to provide the additional car parking space required to comply with
the Council’s parking standards. The submission and approval of a revised parking layout can be
secured by condition if minded to approve.

A dwelling of this size and in this location could generate between 8 to 12 additional movements
per day which is not considered to have a material impact on local roads.

Other Material Considerations

Sustainable design and construction

The Council has an adopted Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) setting out 12 criteria for
developments to achieve in order to improve the sustainability performance. The SPD advises
that over its lifetime, a sustainable building will cost less to build, heat and light than a
conventional building thereby resulting in economic and environmental gains which will have
direct impacts on the sense of well-being of the occupiers and society as a whole. Given that this
is a minor development and that the measures would be unlikely to affect the appearance of the
building, it is considered that such details could be secured by condition.

ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS

The Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 (CIL Regulations) which came in force on
the 6 April 2015, allows the Council to raise funds from developers undertaking new building
projects in the borough to support and fund new

. Planning obligations may still be sought to mitigate local impact if they
are still necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms if directly related to the
development and if fairly related to the scale and kind of the development. Where a development
places additional pressure on local services and infrastructure, Policy IMP1 of the Local Plan
requires such impacts to be mitigated. In this case due to the scale of development no planning
obligations are sought in associated with this development.

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT
Comments from interested parties

5 occupiers were notified directly of the application and the planning officer posted a statutory
notice advertising the application at the site on 17 July 2015.

3 letters were received objecting to the application, summarised as:

Where in the report

Comment this is considered

1. | Harm to neighbouring amenity including loss of light and privacy, Para. 6.13 - 6.15
and visually overbearing to neighbouring residents

2. | Incongruous to character of the street and visually prominent within | Para. 6.10 - 6.12
the street scene due to its siting

Loss of existing front boundary hedge Para. 6.11
Inadequate on-site parking, increasing pressure on on-street Para. 6.17
parking

Other consultees and organisations

Where in the report

Consultee Comment this is considered

Environment | Objects to the proposal due to the failure to demonstrate | Para. 6.3 — 6.8
Agency safe access and escape routes. Consequently there

16



10.

would be an unacceptable risk to the health and safety of
the occupants during a flood event, contrary to saved
policy F1 of the Royal Borough of Windsor and
Maidenhead (RBWM) local plan (adopted 2003) and
paragraph 103 of the National Planning Policy
Framework (NPPF). No concerns raised were in relation
to the finished floor levels and flood compensation

scheme.
Local No objections subject to conditions relating to: Para. 6.16 — 6.18
Highway - New access to be constructed before occupation

Authority - Parking spaces to be provided in accordance

with approved plan
Informatives:
- HIO4 (Highway Licence for new access)

- HIO6 (No damage to be caused to
footways/verges)

- HIO7 (No damage to be caused to the highway)

- HI029 (No building materials, plant, vehicles or
equipment to be parked/stored on the public
highway).

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

Appendix A — Site Location Plan

Appendix B — Proposed Site Layout

Appendix C — Proposed Elevations

Appendix D — Proposed Floor Plans

Appendix E — Appeal Decision at ‘Four Gables’, 62 Lower Cookham Road

I I B

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues raised through the
application process and thorough discussion with the applicants. The Case Officer has sought
solutions to these issues where possible to secure a development that improves the economic,
social and environmental conditions of the area, in accordance with NPFF.

In this case the issues have not been successfully resolved.

RECOMMENDED REASONS FOR REFUSAL

The application site lies within an area at high risk from flooding and the proposal fails the
Sequential Test as it has not demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority that
the development could not be located in areas with a lower probability of flooding. The proposal
also fails the Exception Test as it would not provide wider sustainability benefits to the
community that outweigh flood risk and would not be safe for its lifetime taking account of the
vulnerability of its users. The proposal is therefore contrary to saved Policy F1 of the Royal
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local Plan 1999 (incorporating alterations adopted June
2003) and paragraph 103 of the NPPF.

Due to its siting, height and proximity to the shared boundary with 'Taumead' the new dwelling
would represent an unneighbourly form of development that would cause an unacceptable level
of overlooking and loss of privacy to the garden of this neighbouring property , to the detriment of
neighbouring amenity. The proposal is therefore contrary to Core Principle 4 of the National
Planning Policy Framework, and saved Policy H11 of the Royal Borough of Windsor and
Maidenhead Local Plan 1999 (incorporating alterations adopted June 2003)

Due to the narrowness of the plot and scale of the proposed house, the development would
result in an incongruous pattern of development that would also be a cramped form of
development, representing poor design ’Elc-)7the detriment of the streetscene and wider character



of Lock Avenue. The limited opportunity for planting, particularly on the boundaries which is an
important feature in the area, and harm to the existing hedgerow to the front of the site would be
detrimental to the streetscene and wider character of the locality. The proposals are contrary to
Policies DG1, H10, H11 of The Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local Plan 1999
(Incorporating Alterations Adopted June 2003) and core planning principle bullet points 4 and 5,
and paragraphs 56, 60, 61 and 64 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

18



APPENDIX A — LOCATION PLAN

19



APPENDIX B — PROPOSED SITE LAYOUT

20



e

@_MP”.”:”:..__...K ._...._...__ = 1, __ __um.w .__a.
il 1 nF &

mES WL S —

APPENDIX C — PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

21



Roof Flan

FArst Aoor Flan

APPENDIX D — PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS

22



| m The Planning Inspectorate

Appeal Decision
Site visit made on 29 December 2015

by Patrick Whelan BA({Hons) Dip Arch MA MS5c ARB RIBA RTPI
an Lhspedtor appeinted by Uve Sedrabary of Stabe Poer Commwnithes and Lecal Sovarmimsant
Deciion date: 3 February D018

Appeal Ref: APP/T0355/W /15/3133609
Four Gables, 62 Lower Cookham Road, Maldenhead SL6 B1Z

The appaal i€ made under Section T2 of the Town and Country Planning fda 1990
against a refuLal to grant planning pérmission.

The appeal i made by Mrs Jadkie Boberts against the dedson of the Coundll of the
Ryl Borough of Windsor & Maidenhesd

The application Ref 1501667, dated 18 May 2015, was mfused by notice dated 19
August 2015,

The developrment propoded & the conversion of exdsting annéws at £2 Lower Cookharm
Rosd, Maidenhead to independent Semi-detached dwealling with rear extension, entrance
parch and pitchad roof.

Decision

1.

The appeal is dismissad.

Preliminary Matter

2. The agent has confirmed that the appellant’s name s Mrs Jackie Roberts and
not Mr Jackie Roberts. [ have therefore used this name in the banner heading.

Main Issue

3. The main Issue is whether the proposal represents an acceptable form of
development, having regard to national and local planning polcies relating to
development in areas at risk of flooding.

Reasons

Folicy considerations

id.

The site lies in a residential area in Flood Risk Zone 2 (medium probabiity of
flooding} but ks surrounded by land in Flood Risk Zone 3a (high probability of
flooding). The Councl's Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 2014 {SFRA)
describes such an area as a 'dry island’, and recommends that & s categorised
as falling within the flood zone which encircles it, in this case Flood Risk Zone
3a. Document 4@ Exceplion Test of the appellant’s appeal statement shares
the view of the Council; that the site is in Flood Risk Zone 3a.

The Mational Flanning FPolicy Framework 2012 (the Framework) states that
inappropriate development i areas at risk of fooding should be avolded by
directing develaspment away from areas at highest risk. Where development is
necessary in areas at risk of flooding, it should be made safe, without
increasing flood risk elsewhere. To achieve this, the Framework advocates a

23



Appeal Deckslon APPTOASS W/ 15312356049

Sequential Test to steer new development to areas with the lowest probability
of flooding. If, after the application of the Seguential Test, it is not possible for
developmeant to be located in zones with a lower probability of flooding, an
Exception Test can be applied comprising two elements:

« [t must be demonstrafed that the development provides wider
sustainability benefits to the communily that outwelgh food risk, informed
by a SFRA whera one has been prepared; and,

A site-specific Food Risk Assessment (FRA) must demonstrate that the
development will be safe for its Mfetime taking aocount of the vilnerability
of fts users, withowt increasing food sk elsewhere and, where possibe,
Wil rediece food sk overall

For a develogpment to be permitted, bath elements of the Exception Test must
be passed. and it has to be demonstrated that, amongst other things, the
development is appropriately flood resilient and resistant, including having safe
access and escape routes where reguired, and that any residual risk can be

safely managed.

Palicy F1 of the The Royal Borough of Windsor and Makdenh=sad Local Plan
incorporating akerations adopted in 2003 (LP) seeks to prevent new
residential development in areas llablke to flood, which would increase the
number of people at risk.

8. The Council considers that the proposal does not need to pass the Sequential
Test, but concludes that it falls the Exception Test.

The Sequential Test

9. The Framework states that kecal planning authorties should only consider

10,

development appropriate In areas at risk of flooding following the Segquential
Test. The FRA of May 2015 accompanying the application, includes an
assessment against the Seguential Test, concluding that there are no
reasanably available sites with a lower probabilty of flooding that would be
appropriate for the development proposad.

The assessment does not include any alternative skes. However, given the
approach advocated in the Planning Practice Guidance (PPGE) to the availability
of alternative sites, as well as the scale of the proposal, and that it relates to
the subdivision of an existing dwelling and plat of land, it would not be
irrational to conclude that there is no reasonably avallable s&e appropriate for
the proposed development with a lower risk of fliooding than the proposed site.
Mobwithstanding the conclusion of the Council regarding the need for the
Sequential Test, I consider that it has been passead.

The Exception Test

11.

1,

Regarding the first element of the Exception Test, whike 1 appreciate that the
progosal s in a residential area and 1 note the pressure for development in the
wider area, the pravision of one additional house does not amount to the level
of wider sustainability benefit that would cutweigh the flood risk.

With regard to the second part of the Exception Test, the Council peints out
that during a flood event, the dry island may be surrounded by flood water for
a considerable time, and that future oocupiers would be unlikely to have access

24



Appeal Decision APFTOESE W1 5731330609

13.

14.

15.

16.

to medicines, food, water and utilities. The SFRA advises that it s essential
that any future development within areas Nke this conskders carefully the
emergency response in the event of flooding. The PPG advises that the
emergency services are unlikely to regard developments that increase the scale
of any rescue that méght be required as being safe.

There are no details provided in the FRA accompanying the planning application
to demonstrate that the development would provide safe access and egress for
people during a flood. On this basis, 1 am unable to conclude that the proposal
wiould provide safe access and egress; it has therefore not been demonstrated
that the proposal would be safe for iks lifetime. The proposal thus fails both
criteria of the Exception Test.

1 acknowledge that the appellant’s FRA suggests that the vulnerability of the
coouplers of the independent dwelling proposed, likely to be a young, able
coupde or family, may be less than the vulnerabilty of the ocouplers of the
existing dwelling including the annexe, more likely to be ocoupked by older
peoplz. However, the size of a dwelling does not debermine the age of its
cocuplers, which inany event, is a poor indicator of frailty or fitness. More
significantly, the PPG does not distinguish between types of residential oooupler
- adwelling i classad as ‘'more vulnerable’ regardiess of the age of its
cCouplers. Moreowver, an independent house cocupled by a family would be a
more ntensive living environment than the ocoupation of an annexe, with the
potential for a greater number of visibors, trips, and access for servicing.

1 hawve had regard to the appellant’s reference to planning permissions for
housing developments granted at 33 and 35 Lower Cookharmn Road, as well as
the site of the Chef Peking restaurant on Ray Mead Road, with the implication
regarding the Coundls consideration of risk in the planning balance. Howewver,
as the first application concermed the redevelopment of a vacant gym and
wiorkshop and the latter the change of use from a restaurant, any parallels to
this case are limited. Moreover, I have determined this proposal on its own
meErits.

1 conclude that the proposal would represent an unacceptable form of
development, having regard to national and local planning policies relating to
development In areas at risk of flocding. It would conflict with the approach to
managing flood risk as set out in the Framework, and would be contrary to
policy F1 of the LP, where it accords with the Framework. Whilst it would
provide a modest benefit of one additional house to local housing supply, this is
cubweighed by the unacceptable risk to future cocuplers from flooding, which is
in clear conflict with the policies of the development plan and with the
Framework.

Conclusion

17,

For the reasons given abave, and taking account of all matters raised, I
conclude that the appeal should be dismissad.

Fatrick Whalan

INSPECTOR

Appendix E — Appeal Decision at ‘Four Gables’, 62 Lower Cookham Road

25



This page is intentionally left blank



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD
PLANNING COMMITTEE

MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

16 March 2016 Item: 2

Application 15/02107/FULL

No.:

Location: Land To The North of Longlea Fifield Road Fifield Maidenhead

Proposal: Re-location of Phoenix gym club including building ,access, car parking and
landscaping.

Applicant: Mrs Bushell- Phoenix Gymnastics Club

Agent: Mr Jan Molyneux- Stephen Bowley Planning Consultancy

Parish/Ward:  Bray Parish

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Victoria Gibson on 01628 685693 or at
victoria.gibson@rbwm.gov.uk

1.

1.1

1.2

1.2

1.3

1.4

SUMMARY

Amended Plans have been received which reduce the depth of the building from 47.5m to 42m,
the width from 35m to 24m and the overall height from 14m to 10.25m. The number of car
parking spaces has also been reduced from 121 to 84 and the building set into the site by a
further 15m. A flood risk assessment, sustainable drainage system and a visual impact study
have now also been submitted and their conclusions are discussed further in the report.

The proposed site is located within the Green Belt and the development proposed constitutes an
inappropriate form of development in the Green Belt. Furthermore, it would reduce openness
across the site. Inappropriate development in the Green Belt can only be considered acceptable
if there are very special circumstances which clearly outweigh the Green Belt and any other
harm. The case of very special circumstance (VSC) put forward by the applicant are primarily;
the achievements/benefits of the club, the number and range of users, the constitutional
requirement of the club to serve the Maidenhead catchment area and the lack of available
alternative sites. These considerations are not considered to constitute VSC and therefore do not
clearly outweigh the substantial weight given to harm caused through inappropriateness, the
actual loss of openness to the Green Belt and the significant weight given to the lack of an
acceptable sustainable drainage system which is discussed further below.

The building has been designed to appear as an agricultural building and as such would not
appear visually at odds with its location. It will be partially screened and if viewed along Fifield
Road or from the surrounding area will appear as an agricultural barn. The building would be
sited 135m back from the front boundary of the site and would not appear overly prominent within
the street scene. Any lighting will be conditioned so that it is appropriate for this semi rural
location.

The site has been laid out to provide sufficient car parking, whilst the car parking area could be at
odds with this countryside location it will be screened by landscape bunds and planting and
therefore the harm from its visual impact is considered to be low. Landscaping has also been
incorporated within the site to break up the expanse of hardstanding. The proposal is therefore
not considered harmful to this countryside location. The access provided is considered
acceptable and highways raise no objections. This proposed location so close to the existing site
also means that a significant number of the users are already using the adjoining highway
network and therefore the displacement of traffic is kept to a minimum.

The proposal would not have a detrimental impact on ecology or trees subject to the scheme

being constructed in accordance with the recommendations of the ecology report and the
necessary conditions.

27




1.5

1.6

3.1

41

4.2

4.3

The gym would operate from 9.00 — 21.00 Monday to Friday and 9.00 — 18.00 Saturday and
Sunday. The building would be constructed to prevent noise pollution of an unacceptable level
emanating from the building. The car park has been sited so that the closest car parking space
would be approximately 37 metres from the side boundary of the neighbouring Longlea Nursing
Home with a footpath and tree belt intervening. Given these distances and the hours that the gym
would be operating it is not considered to have a detrimental impact on the occupiers of the
nursing home. The siting of the building and its design also means that there would be no loss of
light or privacy to the occupiers of this adjacent nursing home.

Flooding is a serious issue for local residents; whilst this site is not sited within the flood plain
numerous residents have highlighted it as a local issue. The Council as Lead Local Flood
Authority has raised an objection to the scheme and recommends the development for refusal on
this ground.

It is recommended the Panel refuses planning permission for the following summarised
reasons (the full reasons are identified in Section 10 of this report):

1. | The proposal is inappropriate development which is, by definition, harmful to the
openness of the Green Belt and conflicts with one of the purposes of including land
in the Green Belt. There are no ‘Very Special Circumstances’ to justify this
inappropriate development and the harm identified below.

2 | An adequate sustainable drainage system has not been secured and as such it has
not be demonstrated that the proposal would not increase the risk of flooding.

REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

e The Borough Planning Manager and Lead Member for Planning consider that it would not be
appropriate to use delegated authority in this instance due to the level of public interest in this
item.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

The application site is rectangular in shape and sited on the east side of Fifield Road. Currently
the site has no means of access and comprises of arable farmland. An intact hedgerow is
present along the southern boundary of the site. The western boundary of the site is comprised of
young broad-leaved plantation woodland. To the north, east of the site is the continuation of the
arable field. To the south of the site lies the small settlement of Fifield. The site abuts Longlea
which is a nursing home.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

The proposal is for the construction of a new gymnastics building, access, car park area and
associated landscaping. The building would be approximately 42 metres deep and 24 metres
wide with an overall height of 10.25 metres. 84 car parking spaces would be provided.

The gym would provide a replacement home for Phoenix Gymnastics Club which currently rents
a building within Water Oakley Farm. The landlords have received planning permission for its
demolition and redevelopment for residential purposes and therefore the club is obliged to
relocate. The building would fall in a Class D2 use.

There is no relevant planning history for the site however the following applications have
previously been submitted for a replacement gym building on the Water Oakley site, currently
occupied by the applicant.

Ref. Description Decision and Date

05/02734/0OUT | Outline application for the erection of a Permitted 01.11.2006
replacement gymnasium with associated access

and car parking
28




4.4

5.1

5.2

5.3

54

6.1

09/02247/0OUT | Renewal of planning permission 05/02734 Outline | Permitted 03.03.2010
application for the erection of a replacement
gymnasium with associated access and car
parking )

12/03120/0OUT | Renewal of planning permission 05/02734 (Outline | Permitted 11.02.2013
application for the erection of a replacement
gymnasium with associated access and car

parking) renewed under permission 09/02247/0UT

It should be noted that the section 106 agreement under the 2012 application secured support for
the applicant in remaining on site and in searching for a new site.

MAIN RELEVANT STRATEGIES AND POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

National Planning Policy Framework

- Chapter 2 Ensuring the Vitality of Town Centres (sequential test for main town centre uses)
- Chapter 4 Promoting Sustainable Transport

- Chapter 7 Promoting Healthy Communities

- Chapter 9 Green Belt

- Chapter 11 Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment

Royal Borough Local Plan

The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are:

Highways
Green | character /Parking
Belt Issues issues
Local Plan | GB1, |DGH, TS, P4
GB2,

Supplementary planning documents adopted by the Council relevant to the proposal are:

e Sustainable Design and Construction
e Planning for an Ageing Population

More information on these documents can be found at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/pp supplementary planning.htm

Other Local Strategies or Publications
Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are:

° RBWM Landscape Character Assessment - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp supplementary planning.htm

° RBWM Parking Strategy - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web pp supplementary planning.htm

° RBWM Public Rights of Way Improvement Plan - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/prow_improvement plan.htm

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION
The key issues for consideration are:

i Whether the development constitutes an appropriate form of development in the Green
Belt and impact on openness;

ii Impact on the character and appearance of the area;

29



http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/prow_improvement_plan.htm

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

iii Highways;

iv Impact on neighbouring amenities;

\Y Flooding;

vi  Sustainability and Town Centre Uses;
vii  Ecology.

viii  Other Considerations; and

iv Planning Balance.

Whether the development constitutes an appropriate form of development in the Green
Belt and actual impact on openness.

The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy, as set out in paragraph 79 of the NPPF, is to keep
land permanently open. Paragraph 89 of the NPPF indicates that with some exceptions, the
construction of new buildings is inappropriate development in the Green Belt. Although the Local
Plan pre-dates the publication of the NPPF, Policy GB1 adopts a broadly similar approach to
national policy. On the point of indoor sport the Local Plan policy is identical.

The gym is inappropriate development in the Green Belt and, by definition, harmful to its
openness and it would also conflict with one of the purposes of Green Belt namely “to assist in
safeguarding the countryside from encroachment.” In addition, the physical presence of a
substantial building and presence of parking will result in an actual reduction in openness on the
site. The proposals are contrary to Policy GB1 of the Local Plan and NPPF. It could only be
approved, if there are ‘Very Special Circumstances’ (VSC) that clearly outweighs the harm to the
Green Belt cause by inappropriateness and any other harm. The applicant has made a case for
VSC and this is considered at the end of the report under the ‘Planning Balance’ after
consideration of all the other issues.

Impact on the character and appearance of the area

The proposed building has been designed to have the appearance of an agricultural building so
that it assimilates well in views with the character and appearance of the area. It was suggested
that the building be timber clad, however, size and sections of the building would make this
excessively heavy. Whilst the building would be set back behind the existing building line of
Fifield Road this is considered acceptable given the agricultural appearance of the barn and how
it would read as being part of the rural character of the adjacent fields rather than comprising part
of the residential character of Fifield Road.

By setting the building back approximately 135 metres from the front boundary of the site it also
prevents the building from appearing overbearing within the street scene. All planting along the
boundaries is to remain apart from the small area required to make way for the access. The
access has also been carefully sited to the north of the development to minimise views of the car
park. A detailed landscaping scheme including bunds has also been proposed which would
substantially screen the car parking area and minimise any harm to the character and
appearance of the area. Lighting would also be controlled by condition if the application was to be
recommended favourably in order to prevent harm to the rural character of the area.

With regard to impact on trees the west boundary of the site is a mature shelter belt (planted
approximately 15-20 years ago) comprising of mixed native species such as hawthorn, black
thorn alder, oak, spindle etc. An established mixed native hedgerow interspersed with mature
trees aligns the southern boundary and public footpath beyond.

The proposed entrance to the gym will require the loss of a tapered section of the mature shelter
belt (27m at its widest point, 10m at narrowest point) and 2 'B' category trees in order to create a
new entrance in to the site. The oak and alder trees are early mature and are not important in
context of the wider landscape. Their removal is unlikely to be visible beyond the immediate

30



6.8

6.9

6.10

6.11

6.12

6.13

6.14

vicinity and their loss is mitigated by the presence of established trees within and adjacent to the
application site. The gym and associated parking are situated well outside the root protection
areas (RPA's) of retained off-site trees so the arboricultural impact is limited to the western
boundary. As such the proposal would not have a detrimental impact on trees and would not
cause harm to the character and appearance of the area in this regard.

A landscape and visual impact statement has been submitted with the application. The site and
its surrounding landscape were assessed during October 2015. A total of sixteen viewpoints were
selected to represent residents of Fifield and its surroundings; along with users of adjacent roads
and public rights of way which surround the site. The visual impact assessment identified a total
of four viewpoints with significant visual effects, representative of users of public rights of way
(including footpaths) adjacent to the site which have direct views and road users looking into the
site through the new access on Fifield Road. Following mitigation measures, vegetation growth
and weathering, the residual visual impacts (15 years to establish) would not remain significant.
For the remaining receptors, the report concluded that once a successful mitigation strategy has
been implemented, the views of the development will be difficult for the casual viewer to
distinguish the development from the surrounding existing development in the area. The potential
landscape character effects would be considered minor/negligible i.e. not significant. With regard
to impact on the character and appearance of the area the proposal complies with Local Plan
Policy DG1 and GB2 and would accord with Core Planning Principle 7 and other parts of the
NPPF which requires development to respond to local character.

Objectors have also raised the issue that it is not only the building and car park that would be
harmful to the semi rural nature of the area but also the increase in the traffic coming through the
village. In assessing this issue the existing location of the club needs to be taken into account,
(see Appendix A) all traffic travelling currently to the gym from the south is likely to already
becoming through the village. The traffic coming from the north along the A308 will turn into
Fifield Road and will not need to go through the village. Notwithstanding this, the trip generation
proposed is not considered to be so intensive to result in significant harm to the semi rural
character of the area, or result in unacceptable pollution or vibration levels.

Highways

Fifield Road is a local distributor road that provides an alternative link between the A308 Windsor
Road and the B3024 Forest Green Road. The site is situated in an area where the vehicular
speeds are de-restricted (60mph). However, approximately 50m south of the proposed access
Fifield Road reverts to a 30mph speed limit. The road is unlit and offers limited pedestrian
opportunities along the majority of its length.

The applicant proposes constructing a priority junction off Fifield Road. To comply with current
standard the new access would need to provide visibility splays of 2.4 x 215m in both directions.
Referring to the Proposed Site Access plan the site can achieve the splays to the right (north) of
the access. However, to the left, the new access can only provide splays of 2.4 x 150m, primarily
due to the alignment of the road.

The Highway Authority is prepared to take a pragmatic approach and accept a departure from
their current standard given the close proximity of the 30mph speed limit, and for most part the
sightlines are across the 30mph speed limit. This approach appears justified and is supported by
the Local Planning Authority. The provision of the new access would need to be secured by way
of a S278 Agreement between the applicant and the Authority should the application have been
recommended favourably.

The parking criterion for a Class D2 (assembly and leisure) development is assessed on an
individual basis and should reflect the needs of the particular use. In this submission the
applicant proposes a 40% reduction in the floor area compared to the original application,
together with the omission of the school bus parking spaces and a 30% reduction in the overall
number of car parking spaces.

Having considered the reduction in floor area of the building and a lesser reduction in the sites
parking provision, the Highway Authority conclude that the parking is sufficient to accommodate

31



6.15

6.16

6.17

6.18

6.19

6.20

the activities on the site. Furthermore the revised site and landscaping plan does allow vehicles
to enter, manoeuvre and exit the site in a forward manner.

The applicant stated in the Transport Assessment that the proposal has the potential to generate
between 626 and 1246 vehicular trips per day. This transport statement was based on the
original scheme and has not be amended to take into account the reduced building area. The
higher figure represents the worst case scenario; all the classes and session being full. The peak
commuter traffic periods is defined as the one-hour period of time with the highest volume of
traffic. For the am peak period this occurs between 8 a.m. and 9 a.m. and, for the pm this is
between 5 p.m. and 6 p.m.

Using the worst case scenario figures with no allowance given to the reduction in the floor area
the building or the reduction in the site parking provision, the proposal would lead to 10 vehicles
during the am peak period and 75 during the pm peak period. The highest movement of traffic
occurs between 6 pm and 7 p.m. Between this period 55 vehicles arrive at the start of the hour
with 83 departing an hour later. The Highway Authority’s recent traffic count along Fifield Road
between 22M January 2016 and the 7t February 2016 showed that vehicular activity varies
considerably during both peak periods. See Table below:

Date AM Peak Period PM Peak Period
08:00 — 09:00 18:00 — 19:00

23 January 2016 83 73

24 January 2016 43 61

25 January 2016 331 17491

26 January 2016 327 19389

27 January 2016 325 198

28 January 2016 329 171

29 January 2016 278 169

30 January 2016 87 80

31 January 2016 34 66

1 February 2016 319 190

2 February 2016 358 197

3 February 2016 405 190

4 February 2016 301 188

5 February 2016 257 176

6 February 2016 88 70

7 February 2016 48 67

Given the variance in vehicular activity across Fifield Road during the peak periods, the impact of
an additional 10 to 75 movements would be imperceptible. The worst case scenario figure of
1246 trips does not mean that there will be this number of vehicles descending upon the area at
one specific time. Vehicles will arrive and depart between 08:00 and 22:00. Furthermore, it is
unlikely that the routes to and from the site would change significantly. Drivers will continue to
travel either from the east and west of the Borough via the A308 or from the south via Fifield
Road.

Based upon the National Planning Policy Framework development should only be prevented or
refused on transport grounds where the residual cumulative impacts of development are severe.
There are no structural or design defects on Fifield Road or in the surrounding highway network
which would exacerbate or lead to a worsening of highway safety. Whilst the visibility splay would
be slightly below standard the area most affected is within a 30mph zone and the harm to
highway safety would not be severe.

Impact on Neighbouring Amenities
There are no neighbouring properties on three sides of the application site. The only neighbour
lies to the south and comprises of Longlea Nursing home.

Given the siting of the proposed building over 30 metres from the side boundary of the nursing
home and corner to corner over 80 metres awagzand with the retained intervening tree screen the



6.21

6.22

6.23

6.24

6.25

6.26

6.27

proposed building would not result in loss of light or privacy for the occupiers of the nursing
home. Nor would the building have an overbearing impact. The main impact of the proposal
would be the noise and general disturbance from the car parking area. The nearest car parking
space would be over 40 metres from the side boundary and the hours of use of the gym could be
controlled. For these reasons the impact is not considered to be significant.

The Council’'s environmental protection officer raises no objections and subject to conditions
should the application be considered favourably.

Flooding

The site does not lie within the flood plain however the issue of local flooding has been raised by
a large number of residents. Furthermore, as the proposal constitutes a major form of
development the applicant is required to submit a sustainable drainage system and a flood risk
assessment (FRA) in order to prevent any increase in surface water run off from the site and/or
increase in flood risk. The Lead Flood Authority originally raised objections. As a result of this a
revised scheme has now been submitted as well as a flood risk assessment.

The FRA states that the overall surface water flood risk to the site is ‘very low’, despite the
western area of the site shown to be at ‘low’ to ‘high’ risk. This assessment is based on the two
ditches either side of Fifield Road. The eastern bank of the eastern ditch provides a 400mm
freeboard, which the FRA states will serve to prevent surface waters from entering the western
part of the site. The FRA states that surface water flooding in the locality of the site would be
restricted to Fifield Road itself, with waters flowing downslope to the north. The FRA also states
that there is a small ditch along the southern boundary, which it notes will restrict surface water
flows that may enter from off-site to the south.

The Lead Local Flood Authority has confirmed that it cannot be assumed that these ditches are
excluded from the Environment Agency Risk of Flooding from Surface Water mapping. Nor can it
be assumed that the ditches would deal with the volume of surface water runoff generated during
a ‘medium’ or ‘high’ risk event within the vicinity of the site and hydraulic modelling would be
required to demonstrate this. Detail must be provided on how the risk of surface water flooding
shown to affect the western area of the site will be managed without impacting on neighbouring
properties or the function of the proposed drainage arrangements.

The surface water drainage strategy states that runoff will be discharged to ground; however
infiltration tests have not been undertaken for the site. It is recognised that the intention is to
direct runoff eastwards, where clays give way to sand and gravel; however evidence is not
provided within the FRA to demonstrate that this scheme is viable. If discharge to ground is not
viable for the site, surface water runoff will need to be directed to the surrounding ditches. If this
is the case, the high surface water flood risk will need to be considered. It is also noted from the
plans provided that the SuDS features located in the west of the site, adjacent to Fifield Road, lie
within an area of ‘low’, ‘medium’ and ‘high’ risk of surface water flooding associated with a flow
route through the site. The surface water drainage strategy states that it is assumed that run-off
from external source areas will not enter the site. Given that there is insufficient evidence
submitted with the FRA to support the change in surface water flood risk for parts of the site from
‘high’ to ‘very low’, it cannot be assumed that surface water from offsite will not flow onsite and
will not impact on the SuDS features in this area. The flood risk associated with the new access
over the existing drainage ditch will need to be assessed to demonstrate that flows within the
ditch will not be restricted. This assessment needs to be submitted in support of the planning
application in order to demonstrate that the proposed development will not increase flood risk.

In the absence of this information the development does not comply with paragraph 103 of the
NPPF as it has not been demonstrated that the proposed development would not increase flood
risk.

Impact on the vitality of Town Centres

One of the objectives of the NPPF is ensuring the vitality of town centres and Annex 2 of the
NPPF identifies the uses that are to be located in such centres based on the town centre first
approach. The current Development Plan is silent in respect of the locational approach for leisure

33



6.28

6.29

6.30

6.31

6.32

6.33

6.34

6.35

uses and it does not allocate suitable sites for such uses. The NPPF states that Local Planning
Authorities should allocate suitable sites to meet the scale and type of retail, leisure, commercial
and other uses needed in town centres.

Annex 2 refers to “more intensive” sport and recreation uses as being considered a town centre
use. It is debatable as to whether the development could be described as intensive however
should the development be considered a town centre use then it is for applicant to demonstrate
that there would not be any sequentially preferable sites. An impact assessment on both town
centres is not however necessary given the size of the development proposed.

The applicant has carried out an intensive site search for town centre sites, edge of centre sites
and accessible out of town sites. However this site is the only site that is available to the club and
given their 3 year search and the number of sites investigated it is considered that compliance
with the sequential test has been demonstrated and that there is not an available site within the
town centre, edge of town centre or a preferable site closer to the town centres of Windsor and
Maidenhead.

Ecology

An extended phase 1 Habitat Survey was submitted with the application, this survey was carried
out in the optimum period April - September. The report confirms that there were no signs of
badgers identified within the site. With regard to bats seven trees present within the hedgerow
along the southern boundary of the site were assessed as having a low-moderate roosting
suitability for bats and are classified as Category 2 tree (trees with no obvious potential, although
the tree is of a size and age that elevated surveys may result in cracks or crevices being found:
or the tree supports some feature with limited potential for roosting bats.) All of these are
pedunculated oak trees with ivy present that may be hiding potential cracks within the trees. All
other trees present within the site are classified as Category 3 trees (trees with no potential to
support bat roosts).

The hedgerow and broad-leaved plantation woodland provides suitable habitat for foraging and
commuting bats. In addition there are areas of woodland directly linked with the hedgerow along
the southern boundary of the site which are considered to provide good quality foraging habitat.
The field boundaries would not to be affected by the proposals with the exception of the access
road from the west and therefore connectivity would be retained around the site. In addition
additional planting is proposed to be undertaken to the north and west of the building which
would provide additional foraging and commuting features for bats.

There is one water body present on the site, a narrow ditch within the north-west corner of the
site. At the time of the survey this ditch contained very little water and was considered to provide
sub-optimal habitat for water voles. As there are no other suitable waterbodies within close
proximity of the site it is considered highly unlikely that this species or great crested newts would
occur on the site.

The majority of the site provides sub-optimal habitat for dormice in the form of arable fields,
grassland and young broad leaved plantation woodland. However, the intact hedgerow along the
southern boundary of the site does provide suitable habit for dormice but no evidence of dormice
or their nests were identified during the survey.

There are three records of grass snake (reptiles) dated from 2001 and 2008 returned from Bray
Pit approximately 1.5km to the north west of the site. Grass snakes are know to travel fairly long
distance (up to 2km) however it is considered likely that any reptiles present within the locality
will stay within the River Thames corridor that provides much more suitable habitat. No potential
hibernation areas for reptiles were identified on the site during the visit.

In conclusion the survey works identifies that the site supports small areas of suitable habitat for
breeding birds, possibly reptiles and roosting bats. The proposals are not to impact any trees
that are suitable for roosting bats and recommendations have been put in place to ensure that
any nesting birds or reptiles that may pass through affected areas of the site are not harmed.

34



6.36

6.37

6.38

6.39

6.40

6.41

6.42

6.43

6.44

Providing that all the recommendations are undertaken, as detailed in the report the proposals
are not considered to have a negative impact on any designated sites, habitats or species within
the site or the locality.

Other Considerations

The Local Plan policy R8 seeks to encourage the provision of recreational development except
where such development would result in significant environmental or highway problems or where
it would conflict with other polices in the plan. The proposal would not result in significant highway
problems but would conflict with Green Belt policies and could increase flood risk as described
above. Additionally, Policy R14 of the Local Plan states that developments should be resisted
that detract from the user’s enjoyment of this route. The Public Rights of Way Officer considers
that the proposals are acceptable. The proposed building would be, at its closest point, 32m from
the edge of the PRoW. Given this distance and the existing screening along this part of the
footpath closest to the site the users of the footpath enjoyment would not be harmed.

Objectors have raised the issue that the housing scheme at Water Oakley should not have been
approved because of the loss of this sporting facility. Reference has also been drawn to the fact
that Sports England has confirmed that if it had been consulted on that previous application it
would have objected. There are policies contained both within National and Local Policy which
seeks to protect recreational uses. However in this instance Phoenix Gym only had a personal
permission to change the use of the agricultural barn to gym. At anytime therefore the owners
could have served notice on the gym and then its lawful use would have returned to an
agricultural use. On this basis planning policy could not prevent the loss of this sports facility.

Objections have been raised regarding harmful impact on house prices in the area; this is not a
material planning consideration. Furthermore the amount of time for residents to comment on the
application is in accordance with the Council’s Procedures, statutory requirements and has been
carried out in the same way as all planning application that the Council deals with.

Numerous other sites have been put forward by local residents, however if these landowners are
not on board then these alternative sites cannot be secured.

Residents have stated that no environmental report was submitted with the application. An
ecology report was submitted with the application but has to be kept as sensitive information
because of the identification of protected species. The Council’'s ecologist report is however a
public document.

There are no proposals for the gym to have a drinks license. Furthermore, there is no evidence
to suggest that local business would suffer as a result of this proposal.

The siting of the building has been chosen to avoid any adverse impact on minerals available
within the area. A letter of clarification was submitted with the application from M Lowe a Director
of Summerleaze landowner and owners of the mineral rights, confirming that the proposal would
not sterilise future mineral extraction as the Club would be located on a barren area of clay
rather than gravel.

It has been claimed by one resident that not many of the residents of Fifield would benefit from
this facility. Whether this is the case or not does not outweigh the benefits to the large number of
current users.

With regard to the concern raised regarding the water pipe that runs through the site this is not a
material planning consideration in the determination of this application. However it can be
confirmed that the water main is at a depth which will not be affected by the construction of the
Gym nor during its operation.

Planning Balance and the Case of Very Special Circumstance.

35



6.45

As stated in National Planning Policy and in the Borough Local Plan planning permission can
only be granted for inappropriate development if there is a case of very special circumstances
that clearly overcomes the harm to the Green Belt and any other harm. It has been concluded
that the development constitutes an inappropriate form of development which is harmful by
definition and substantial weight needs to be given to this harm. Significant weight also has to be
given to the actual physical reduction in openness across this site and the failure of the
application to demonstrate that the proposal would not increase flood risk through the
implementation of an adequate sustainable drainage system.

The Case Of Very Special Circumstances (VSC) put forward by the applicant and reproduced
below.

1. Apart from borough leisure centres we have the highest footfall of over 1000 children
from 8 weeks to 18 years patrticipating in gymnastics every week.

2. Phoenix an established and revered community asset has been providing quality
gymnastics to the local community for over 35 years.

3. The proposed site at Fifield Road allows the club to stay within the centre of the Royal
Borough just a few hundred yards from our current site and will minimise any
disruption/loss of members.

4. At the Planning Control Meting on 9" April 2014 planning permission was granted for the
redevelopment of the club’s existing site. Councillors were asked to confirm there
support for the club in their search for an alternative location, which they unanimously
did.

5. Section 106 monies from Water Oakley development of £167,000 has been allocated to
Phoenix rather than social housing. This was passed by the Development Control Panel.

6. The National Planning Policy Framework states “ Existing open spaces, sports and
recreational buildings and land, including playing fields, should not be built on” By
allowing the Water Oakley development the Council have forced the closure and
demolition of the club and the need for the very special circumstances to relocate.

7. After extensive searching over many years this has been the only viable site that has
become available due to the lack of extensive industrial warehousing incorporating the
square footage needed and or the cost of land in the borough. See attached at appendix
D details of potential sites.

8. The site is not suitable for mineral extraction, being where the underlying sand and
gravel runs out.

9. The site is immediately adjacent to existing buildings on the edge of Fifield and as such
would not be prominent within the rural area.

10. The proposed development would be substantially landscaped to screen the building and
car parking.

Keys to our Success
[l A thirty five year history and an excellent reputation for high quality teaching

[0 Competitive pricing

| Experienced coaching and management team

O

Strong personal relationships with participants

O

Strong community ties and partnership liaisons e.g Get Berkshire Active, local

36




6.46

6.47

6.48

schools, home schooling parent body, corporate support 3 mobile.
Membership

We have a very robust membership and anyone taking part in gymnastics is required to
become a member of the national governing body, British Gymnastics. Parents and carers
automatically become members of Phoenix Gymnastics Club when their children enrol
which gives them voting rights at AGMs and for their thoughts and ideas for taking the club
forward to be heard. Any member who wishes to assist the club in any capacity especially
within their professional expertise has the ideal environment in which to add value.
Membership currently stands at weekly participants of 750 members with weekly Play gym
(under fives with parent carers) walk-in of 300+

Phoenix Gymnastics wants every child in the borough to able to access all and every level
of British Gymnastics disciplines creating a sporting habit for life.

Gymnastics has been shown to be an ideal sport for children in developing both physical
and mental skills including core strength, confidence, cooperation, coordination and
concentration. Learning these critical skills and gaining a love for sport at an early age
benefits all children and their future life.

2015 A Beginning or an End

Phoenix provides not just floor based classes but all aspects of gymnastics and our fully
equipped gym includes a full size floor, vaults, bars, beams, running and tumble tracks
which all gymnasts utilise in developing their skills and confidence.

The relocation of Phoenix Gymnastics Club will ensure that many more children will be able
to enjoy a healthy, active childhood in a better-equipped facility. With nearly one third of
children in the UK under 15 suffering from obesity, physical activity and participatory sports
are essential.

The Club will close permanently on 9" October 2015 due to the demolition of our current
building to make way for housing, unless we have secured a new site and received planning
permission.

We believe that the details provision in this statement show that Phoenix Gymnastic Club
exhibits the very special circumstances required for such a development to be considered
acceptable in the Green Belt.

Planning Officer's Assessment of the Very Special Circumstances.

The club has been aware of the need to move for approximately 3 years and has undertaken an
extensive search to try and find new premises. The club will need to close down on 9 October
2015 if an alternative site cannot be found. A site search has looked at over 50 sites, but due
primarily to the demand for housing in the Borough this has restricted opportunities for the gym to
find an alternative site.

Phoenix Gymnastics Club is a significant recreational facility within the local area with up to 1000
users per week and the club is held in high esteem and has provided professional coaching to
many thousands of children of all abilities in the local community for 35 years. The benefit of this
for all those children to their overall wellbeing and future generations is important and the social
benefits of the facilities and the contribution it makes to sustainable development (of which there
is a presumption in favour of) is given some weight. The successes of this club, its importance
and their achievements are noted but do not amount to VSC.

Whilst some weight can be afforded to the case of VSC it is not considered that these benefits

outweigh the substantial weight that has to be given to the harm through the inappropriateness of
the development, and the significant weight given to the actual physical reduction in openness of

37




the Green Belt from the presence of the building and car parking area and the harm caused
through the lack of an adequate sustainable drainage system.

Conclusion

6.49 A compelling case for ‘'VSC’ has not been made by the application and neither is one obvious for
other reasons. In accordance with Paragraph 88 of the NPPF substantial weight is afforded to the
harm to the Green Belt and significant weight is attached to the other harm which has been
identified in respect of the failure of the application to demonstrate that the proposal would not
increase flood risk. The proposal is considered acceptable with regard to impact on the character
and appearance of the area, impact on the PRoW, highway safety, vitality of town centres,
neighbouring amenity, trees and ecology. The application is recommended for refusal.

7. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT
Comments from interested parties
9 occupiers were notified directly of the application.
The application was advertised in the Maidenhead & Windsor Advertiser 16" July 2015.
The planning officer posted a statutory notice advertising the application at the site 10" July
2015.

A petition with 1,125 signatures supporting the application has been received.

In total 479 letters were received supporting the application, summarised as:

Where in the
Comment report this is

considered
1. This club offer young people of all abilities the chance to compete and | 6.45

fulfil their dreams. The club generates community spirit and is an
asset to the community.

2. It would be devastating if such a lovely team of people that have run it
for the last 35 years didn’t get to continue the excellent work they do.

3. | support this application because it will allow for the access and
continuation of excellent sporting facilities for the local community and
young people.

4. | believe the Phoenix Gym is vital to the needs of people who wantto | “
carry out a sport especially following the Olympics.

5. This will be a brilliant new venue for children in the area to enjoy for “
many years to come.

6. This is a great proposal offering a new well planned amenity to the “
local area.

7. Phoenix Gym is a popular and successful gymnastics club which “

benefits both individuals and the local community. Their dedicated
staff has enabled the club to compete commendably at regional and
national events and the move to a modern and better equipped site
can help ensure it excellent reputation. The proposed building is more
attractive that the one at the current site and can be more energy
efficient. As the tow sites are relatively close to each other | do not
see the relocation of the club as having any major impact on the local
area. | would not wish to see such a valuable asset for the youth of
the Borough disappear due to the lack of a new home when the
current building is being demolished.

38



8 The existing gym is so busy and cramped to have a new gym would “
be amazing.

9. Phoenix gym has been a wonderful community asset over the years. | “
It is rare to have such a unique sporting facility available to us and it is
imperative that the future of the club is secured. On a personal note,
Phoenix has given out daughter an opportunity to shine in something
she is truly passionate about. It has given her confidence to try new
things in all areas of her life. So many young people have had the
same privilege — to experience at all levels within a supportive
community. We are very excited at the prospect of new facilities to
ensure more families have the chance to experience what we have.

It is time this valuable gym found a permanent home It is a popular “
and well visited centre providing many local children with both
gymnastic classes and a play gym for the younger ones.

10. | Itis vital that a club like this is maintained as an Olympic legacy. “
11. | Excellent community sporting resource. Has been invaluable for my “
children. It will offer a great opportunity for children in the borough.

12. | If the club was to close | would be lost as | absolutely love “
gymnastics, | know for a fact that all my friends and people that | go to
gym with will feel the same as it means a lot to them also.

13. | Close to 1000 children attend the gym, if the planning does not go “
through it would be a disaster for the club, employees, and gymnasts.
The site proposed has a great access and the plans enable a
considered sensitive aesthetically and environmentally driven
development of the plot.

14. | Given the current demand and waiting list at the Club, the opportunity | “
for more children of the Borough to enjoy the play gym, build
confidence, improve fithess and have fun expending energy in a high
quality and safe environment can only be extremely positive for the
Borough.

15. | The new development will mean more children having a great “
opportunity, more employment prospects for young adults. It will help
other youngsters like myself with learning and even physical
disabilities and no doubt give future children a refuse in similar ways it
gave me.

16. | The Borough would be worse off without the facility. “

141 letters were received objecting to the application, summarised as:

Where in the
Comment report this is
considered
1. The site will increase the flooding problems in the area 6.22 - 6.26
2. The proposed development would result in disturbance to the | 6.19 -6.21
residents of Longlea Nursing Home due to the large car park sited
immediately next to the home. Residents would be disturbed 7 days
each week till late into the evening by floodlighting and noise from
cars arriving and leaving the site. This would impact residents’ health
and well being.
3. The development would result in the total desecration of the quiet | 6.9

ambience of the whole village. The Phoenix Gym already has in
excess of 700 members plus 300 juniors and they want a purpose
built unit to encourage more members. This equates to increasing the

39




volume of traffic in our village to more than twice what it is already and
most of this traffic will happen after school time and after work which
will mean a high volume of traffic late into the evening.

Farmglade own all the land now from Oakley Court Hotel up to
Monkey Island which is almost half of the smallest piece of greenbelt
land between Windsor and Maidenhead so why can’t they build the
gymnasium on the site of the old Brayfield Farm where there is ample
space to put it without spoiling our village.

6.37-6.39

The volume of water coming from the roof would add to an already
overflowing ditch in Fifield Road causing excess flooding. The ditch is
quite deep and will take a large volume of water but the problem lies
in the underground pipe which carries the water to the Thames not
being able to cope.

6.22 - 6.26

Properties in the area would be devalued

6.38

The site is in the Green Belt

6.2-6.3

Fifield Road is a small road used by many horse riders, many of which
are learner. Significant increases to traffic levels would cause an
already dangerous road to become more unsafe and potential for
serious accidents would be significantly increased. The local road
system already struggles to cope with a dearth of roundabouts,
properly enforced speed limits blind bends and poor sight lines.

6.10-6.18

Given that there are lots of brownfield site available locally these
should be used instead and this would be in accordance with the
Governments priorities.

6.39

10.

There has been no environmental impact report submitted with
application

6.40

11.

The flood report contains errors; it states that the building would be
built on sand gravel which would help water drain away when in fact
the owner reports that the proposed development area is clay which
would prevent water from draining away. The independence of this
report is therefore questioned.

6.22-6.29

12.

It is understood that the Borough Council should have previously
identified an alternative site for Phoenix Gym to relocate prior to
granting planning permission for housing on the current Phoenix Gym
site. A gross failure of due process.

6.37

13.

The timing of this application is also highly suspicious. One must
question the short time frame to submit objections as a potential tactic
by RBWM to minimise them.

6.38

14.

Local businesses such a Fifield pub would suffer from reduced trade
due to potential customers being put off by the level of congestion
caused by increased traffic levels along Fifield Road and this would
impact upon the local economy.

6.41

15.

The size and scale of the proposed development (approximately 45m
x 35m and 14 metres high) is not in keeping with the area and the
further tarmacking of 140 car parking spaces and coach bays will
further increase congestions and water run off.

6.4-6.9

16.

Maijor light and noise pollution in the Green Belt.

6.6. and 6.

17.

| see no reason why the gym should need to move

6.4

18.

It seems that no attempt has been made to carry out a traffic study to
understand the existing movements and what adding the estimated
massive hourly vehicle movement might do to the area.

See Applicants
Highway
Statement

19.

The proposal would have a negative impact on the nursing home as

6.19-6.20

40




the size of the building would cut out daylight and would be
overbearing
20. | The Fifield area is a semi rural quiet village and this proposal would | 6.4 — 6.9
harm that character. The proposal is of an industrial scale and would
have an urbanising impact.
21. | Very few of the residents of Fifield will benefit from the proposal. 6.43
22. | The sequential test is not robust and there is no Environmental | 6.27 — 6.29
Report.
23. | Ifitis intended for the gym to have a drinks license it will cease a lot | 6.41
of disturbance for the nursing home and the people of Winkfield.
24. | The proposed site is farmed land and recently the margins planted | 6.30 — 6.35
with trees to mitigate the impact on any future gravel extraction. As
such the area is a haven for wildlife and is a peaceful place. The
effect of the proposed development in respect of flora and fauna,
noise or light pollution does not seem to have been worthy of
consideration by the applicant.
25. | Harm to the Public Right of Way adjoining the site. 6.4-6.9
26. | The proposed increase in traffic would cause pollution problems in the | 6.10-6.18
area there would also be safety problems as there are no footpaths
along the Fifield Road.
27. | Increase in vibration to the houses adjacent to the speed humps. Also | 6.9
there is a weight restriction on heavy vehicle which should impact on
coach access.
Statutory consultees
Where in the
Consultee Comment report this is
considered
Local Lead | Original Plans 6.22 — 6.29
Flood _ _ _ _
Authority The brief Sustainable Drainage Statement provided on

behalf of the applicant states that the proposed site is set on
underlying sands and gravels and as such is free draining
land suitable for a SuDS scheme. The geological map would
however suggest that the underlying geology is

London Clay with no superficial deposits.

The Sustainable Drainage Statement also states that the site
is surrounded by deep, free running ditches, which dry up
during the summer indicating that they have ample capacity
for further surface water runoff if necessary. The ditch
running parallel with Fifield Road is however known to
respond rapidly to rainfall and flooding has been
experienced on the ditch network, both upstream and
downstream of the proposed development. It is therefore
important that adequate provision is made for the disposal of
surface water and insufficient detail has been provided to
demonstrate that the proposed development will comply with
the non statutory technical standards for sustainable
drainage (dated March 2015). The applicant should therefore
be asked to submit additional information demonstrating that
the proposals comply with the non statutory technical
standards for sustainable drainage.

41




If the planning application is to be determined as submitted
without the applicant being given the opportunity to submit
additional information it is recommended that the application
be refused.

Amended Plans/Information

Additional Information Required
Raises an objection.

In order to remove this objection it is recommended that the
following information is submitted with the

planning application:

1) An assessment of the surface water flood risk to the
western area of the site, with details of suitable mitigation
where appropriate.

2)Results of intrusive ground investigations demonstrating
seasonal variation in the depth of the

groundwater table, infiltration rates determined in
accordance with BRE Digest 365 and areas of

ground contamination, including Made Ground.

3)Evidence to show that the drainage scheme has been
designed to account for the areas of low,

medium and high risk of surface water flooding associated
with a flow route through the west of

the site.

4)If discharge to ground is proved not to be viable,
demonstration that discharge to a surface water

body is viable including evidence demonstrating that the
RBWM agree in principal to the plans.

5)If discharge to a surface water body is proved not to be
viable, demonstration that discharge to the

main sewer network is viable including evidence
demonstrating that the sewerage undertaker

agrees in principal to receiving additional surface water
contributions to its network.

6)Demonstration that the new site access over the existing
drainage ditch will not restrict flows in the

ditch.

7)Details of the maintenance and / or adoption proposals /
agreements for the development covering

every aspect of the proposed drainage system.

Without this information the application is recommended for
refusal

Bray Parish
Council

Original Plans

Recommended for refusal on the following grounds:-

Over development in the Green Belt

GB1- In appropriate basic design

DG1- Increase in traffic on a busy and dangerous road-
Impact on flooding in an area that has experienced and been
and unneighbourly - Negative impact on a public right of way

Amended Plans/Information

Do not believe special circumstances have been proven.

All of report

subject to major flg

42

oding



Recommended for refusal on the following grounds;

GB1 — Unacceptable use and development in the

Green Belt,

GB2 — Unacceptable development,

DG1 - Design Guidelines,

F1 - Impact on flooding in an area that has experienced

and been subject to major flooding problems in recent years,
- Intrusive and unneighbourly,

- Negative impact on a public right of way, -

Increase in traffic on a busy and dangerous road.

Other consultees and organisations

Consultee

Comment

Where in the
report this is
considered

Oakley Green
and Fifield
Residents
Associations

Original Plans/Information

The relocation of the Phoenix Gym is of great important
not only to the Royal Borough but also to British
Gymnastics. We are enormous supporter of this Club
and therefore this application needs to be carefully
considered.

We also need to take into consideration the responses
from local Residents in Fifield and the fact that this site is
in the Green Belt.

We therefore somewhat sadly conclude that we are
unable to support this application for these reasons

1) The site is within the Green Belt and is also
green field.

2) The proposed site is next to a nursing home and
hence there is a likelihood of potential noise and
loss of privacy due to light pollution.

3) The site is located close to near bends on a road
which carries a fair amount of traffic and near to a
riding school catering for young riders.

4) The generated traffic would cause further
congestion at the junction with Fifield Road and
A308. Although the Highways report indicates
that this is not the case we believe that this would
be a consideration.

5) The lack of support for this application by the
residents of Fifield.

We believe that there must be more sites within the
Borough that have not been considered and that
every effect should be made to relocate this
important Club.

All of report

Oakley Green,
Fifield and

Original Plans/Information

All of report

43




District
Community
Association

The Phoenix Gymnastics Club is a very popular facility
and odes great work. As a measure of its increasing
popularity the club has a membership of over 750 and
plans to expand. Some local residents use the facility
and see it as an asset to the area. The comments below
are not against the Club and what it is delivering but
describe the concerns that local residents have about
relocating it from a brown field site to a green field site in
Fifield and the associated adverse impacts of such a
move.

1) Location and Planning Policy — the site is in the
Green Belt and the Very Special Circumstance
does not outweigh the harm when potential
elements of harm are considered.

2) Neighbours — harmful impacts due to noise and
light pollution.

3) Scale — the building is much bigger than any of
the neighbouring buildings.

4) Road traffic and safety — Fifield Road is heavily
used, there are tight bends immediately to the
south by the entrance to the nursing home and
this has been the scene of accidents in the past.

5) Flooding — residents are concerns about the
potential to make flooding worse because of the
huge amounts of water run off from the
Gymnasium roof and car park.

6) Noise and Light Pollution — the external lighting
and level of noise from the car park with harm the
amenities of occupiers of the care home and the
north part of the village.

7) Archaeology — archaeological remains may be
damaged by ground disturbance for the proposed
new gym club and associated works.

8) Ecology — the proposal would result in the loss of
some trees and in addition such a busy and
active site will adversely affect the local flora and
fauna.

9) Sports England have confirmed that

Amended Plans Information

The amended Water Management Plan does not seem
to have changed and proposes that all this water can be
dealt with by using 3 ephemeral pools and a sub-base
under the car parking areas. Several figures are quoted
to claim that the capacity of this system is vastly over
provided. It claims that water will all be fed slowly to a
final attenuation pond from where it will gradually
dissipate into the ground. What it does not mention or
appear to allow for is the point made early in this process
by RBWM'’s own Flood Risk Manager that when these
ponds are most needed they will be half ful of water
already severely diminishing their effective capacity.
From local experience there’s a lot of water simply
disappearing into the ground, If it isn’t led away where is
it? Yet we are asked to believe that no water will leave

44




the site ... it will all be held within it and dissipated into
the ground below it. One cannot help but to wonder
how?

The proposed western SUDs pond as it is currently
designed and offered if put into practice would have the
crown of the 1.2 m diameter pipe intruding into it to some
degree - perhaps by as much as 0.3 m. We are only
amateurs, but it surely cannot be right to have such a
glaring potential problem at the outset ? At the very least
surely the layout of the site will need to be reconsidered

PRoW Officer

A public footpath (FP 51a Bray) runs alongside the
southern boundary of the application site accessed from
Fifield Road and there are a number of other public
rights of way in the vicinity of site (see attached extract
from the Definitive Map of Public Rights of Way.

As noted in the Landscape and Visual Impact
assessment, the proposed development would be visible
from these public rights of way in particular FP 51a both
during the construction state and to a lesser extent
during the operational stage.

However bearing in mind the screening provided by
existing vegetation and by the proposed landscaping of
the development site | do not consider that the adverse
impact of the development on views from the public
rights of way network would be sufficient to justify an
objection on public rights of way grounds.

Environmental No objection subject to conditions regarding noise and Noted

Protection contamination. Amended Plans no change.

Tree Officer No objection subject to conditions. Amended Plans no 6.6 -6.8
change.

Ecology No objection subject to conditions. Amended Plans no 6.30 - 6.35
change.

Sport England It is understood that the site where the Club is located | g 37

currently has been granted planning permission for a
housing development. If Sport England had been aware
of the application for the development of the Club’s
existing site, then Sport England would have objected as
paragraph 74 of the NPPF requires existing sports
facilities to be protected from development or replaced.
The Club is an important local sports facility and its
future depends upon finding an alternative site. It is
understood that this is a Green Belt site and has only
been selected because of an absence of suitable
alternatives. The Club’s new building has been designed
to be sympathetic to its location whilst providing the
space the Club will need for sport.

The proposal is therefore considered to be in accord with
Objective 3 of Sport England’s policy. This being the
case, Sport England offers its support to this application.

45




9.

Berkshire Therefore the application site falls within an area of | Noted.
Archaeology archaeological significance and archaeological

remains may be damaged by ground disturbance for the
proposed new gym club and associated works. This is a
development of reasonable scale (1.4 ha) on previously
undeveloped land, bar the construction of the water
pipeline. In view of this partial disturbance to the site,
Berkshire Archaeology would recommend that a
condition requiring a programme of archaeological

investigation is attached, should planning consent be
granted. Amended Plans no change.

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

Appendix A — Site Location

Appendix B — Amended Site Layout
Appendix C — Amended Landscaping
Appendix D — Amended Elevations

O oo o

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues raised through the
application process and thorough discussion with the applicants. The Case Officer has sought
solutions to these issues where possible to secure a development that improves the economic,
social and environmental conditions of the area, in accordance with NPFF.

In this case the issues have not been successfully resolved.

The proposal constitutes inappropriate development in the Green Belt which is, by definition,
harmful to the Green Belt. Furthermore the siting of the new building combined with its
additional height and resulting bulk, would reduce the openness of the Green Belt. The proposal
is therefore contrary to Policies GB1 and GB2(A) of the Royal Borough of Windsor and
Maidenhead Local Plan 1999 (Incorporating Alterations adopted June 2003) and Paragraph 89
of the NPPF as the Local Planning Authority does not consider that very special circumstances
have been demonstrated that clearly outweigh the substantial weight that has to be given to the
Green Belt harm and the other harm referred to in reason 2.

The application fails to secure an acceptable sustainable drainage system and as such it cannot

be demonstrated that the proposal would not increase flood risk. The proposal is contrary to
paragraph 103 of the NPPF.

46



Appendix A

0LL SSE €7/ 10 '[1 » WOD'IDJOMUBLOY' MMM
8S1 LAS » 2aysdonys
« ANGSMBIYS « |931)S JOHIDG » SISQUIDYD SI9YIDF

jJuswebeUBW J8JEM |BJUBWIUOIIAUS

== Ja1eMUaljey

UMOYS S ElekiN

910Z A1onupyp 100

L UOISIOA

20/V44/ 1502 Buimoig

PldY ‘aniD XIU80Ud  j55iouy

S2IN|DB) 19JDM ol

HNZ 841
Q304131
abpuquol|
aBpUIDYM 8Yy] BOZ
P UDWAYPWS IBPASId  yuayn

7V 0 }O8U0D 300S

ssjoysiog @

(£Q-1Q) s8YDHQ SBDUIDIQ s
SOSINODIS|OM ——

paly uolpojddy D

puaban

000941 000841

000££1

000641

000841

00006 00068Y

UOTOT 1T 2 S | B YW 8 | I Zln ]

:M.._...:.na

Qv3aHN3alv
!

\4

E ) pray
< f AdusoQ << @
al < ¢

B00E6F 00026y

— ]2 i
W wooz 001 0 .
A - -
| 3834313y 3y |
, N 87
)
£d
— 602598
£v0/500238 /
600/500238
1a
ca
It ~ " warg 4 ,
Ly R Sl b, YU
" — \ ks Zoe g ¥ ..n\w 4 .
N /\ m 4 o\,‘x
£ 215 Mo Aauo 4 B > Nx!oi
4 &4 74

7 !

BO0BZT

000541

000941

000441

0006/ 1

£ ™
Els g il
q 53

AT

££91800010 Asaing

(W
v

PIO $102 siuBs

puo

00006¥

000687

47



Appendix B

IMPORTANT!

[ rect mesd o 1] demsing o s flguesd
vt s oy, Lisesss it resiaed
al dimensions are ghvon I miimetnes.

] e S e et o & s Bedoia
this commancament of work o this fasrzaton
ol any liem. Aay decepancles must be
gl B B Arc ),

Thie drawig and deelgn le copyighi and must
el ba -

)

2 b part o | whaln whhat

kel censeni.

@ H J Sty & Pariners

SITE PLAN as PROPOSED
SCALE=-111250

GENERAL MOTES!

AMENDMENTS

¥; 501 215 General amend ranks
srascn] ammandments
Ce 27! - Gairetal anasd ol
1185 » Geraral amendmeis,
= saneral amerd=anty,

H.J, Siribling & Partmers
1 Elon Squane,

Efon, Windacr

Barkahlm 514 BED

The44() 1753 SEZ2DT,
Fi+44{] 1753 BI04,
Emalk prilngghsaibiing.co.uk

SO0 Maw Prossle Cyrnastios Club
ke Foas
Maldunhuad
Berkahire

Sha Han as Proposad

SCALEY JOB N
111250 &1 A3 00
OATE; DA NI
27 Novamber 2015 nar

48




Appendix C — Site Landscaping

HPOIUEAYLIWS| [2pdAa]d mme
yrrozuewfp|ws [apdajddasd 3
EZEEEF ZE6L0'S LIZEER ZSEL0°L
HHE 841 FEIHTSOHHS
FDANHENOM] A HM IHL YoT
AW NYWAHLIWG 1130431
40 INISNOD LNOHLIM

A5 38 LON AVIN ONIMVHA SIHL

\

/.,

\ uewAuyiws|zpA3|d _,,_,__

i

VS00'a'(BIPLL' VLN

“ON MWYHE

Srd asy
TINIIHD NAMYHT
EV@OSLIL S10Z22a
EILREY va

uejd Guideaspueq
FL

qnp sYBseuwAD Xausoyd
INED
UoNnEeIO0|3Y -

qnp s>Rseuwin Xuaoyq
13r0td

NOLLYDITddY DNINNY1d
SMLYLS ONIMYHO

Jodoay 9911 235 BOIY UO[IID101d J00Y 104

s|aaan 10ds pasodouy E
abpay pue asad) M__.__HM_W_M_ ! '
77

Bujjue|q Bujusaiss

{53d @841) Bujue|g mD.C.I

V2

Bupued gniys mo| pasodody

%

Bujiue|d gjng

se3le A0[AIIS
01 Bu|2BHNS 2124355845 E

|2ARsB punog ujsad go syiediood |

|aaaB punog ujsad nwmoooE—H_

{saieay £0'2)
Adepunog a1s |ejualad

puabai

s

uIEwWEl 01
ssedb Buiysixy

B2y 33135 01
I2EJING B32I235EID

sanod punoib spiscsd
1 Bunueld gruys jewoy

.,\////»

I
m

[AAGN

B0

e Thd lord

Mo GNIAHIZ 171l Savdsakil 1L
HIM Iy H 0L edls I3]0
ML RIS Turls wEaH L
IMMIS3H? W2 ey H2al WALl

Vi@ ool B|03g
Tvl3a Ud
Al NPz

[{]

T
ET 5
w ME
(] il
ET 5
a1 A
(] il
ET 5
AaquIn .. Asag
T

W or

33 ot

EEL ot

333 ot

33 ot

9 (4

3 (3

oy

&

i3 0%

4 0L
Jaquny aw

T T I

o Bujlias 10 woj13nIsued 10g pasn ag ol Joy "Ajuo sasodind Sujuup)d 10y 310 papjaoid s 0p1ag (310N _

T

#pinoad o3 eaue Bupped
ay3 jo abpa ay1 punose
syiems ul Bunuejd qing

ezl Buuds

@81 aAneu yum paruejd

se198ds gnuys pue

2q 01 pung Buluzaing

2
el
2
2
el
2
2
way

dassaasa

a

ung  LoOP-OF apjupmpag BN, JOUI EIWA
T ueee oy | aa19) SSap, B30 BiEsua]
FEGE TE LAgEOE AR, syuodaf o
T Leor0E - AR A3
SEMGL NE Lo Mpuids  pmawg, Eungc) snwduong
T uesEOE - weaug, snpafoges spseaucio] |
T - S N, Byt
uepeayads ams  awey uowway BTN AUIES

U 4300 AR PRSP I pRiuEd 3G 91 © DNILNY TG BMRHS

dus,  0eOr a5y sapjang SmnGo WA
dum OvOE Fca Pl aupsahun saoy|
dum  Ov0E R 43NS oynpuad oy
dum  09Or 4wy osouRngh Ty
dum v DE e A CRRRUD XD
dum 090w Ly oudBouow snBanios
UM 09Or *0 angas smasng

wopmypads  aus

ey uowmay

TN YAUIES

533 (. = SAEPY . 230 FAUT 203 5T I8 PAUE 3 0] - STIAL ININTTHIS

s EAE /T Ul I UD0SE UpY ‘05 g U0 grg ajdey
waE EA /T “UNY ‘I UD0ST Upy ‘dR g uogrg
uopEypads amg

43Py ueEy
ey uowwo

2 ¥
oiopcs sy |

PO g 224, 995 - SIFHL NIWIDFHS

saaJ) AJepunog
7 mosabpay paieisuiay

H2035 MIN
Ag priuswsajddng aq 01
Bunuejg a21) Bunsixg

awey ayauaps [

-A1enigay pue

13qWala( ussmiag usjelsapun 2q o1 Bunued |y «
YIS
POOMIOS PRIE3Il WWTEXTEXDDE € AQ pauoddns
pue paun3as (3usjeanba Jo) pienb asn xaqn]

wogy oN | Aq paidalosd 2q o1 Bunued Buluasing «
sjueld § pue 5 'f yo sdnosb

aind sanads ul uayeuapun aq o] Bunuejd Buluaaing «
“patueld yxiou Jo/pue [Eustew punoib [euwibuo
Yaum paIuy2eq sud WWQOEXDDEXDOE Ul S313U3

wyg'| 3E paiueld 2Q 01 sqQRUYs PUE 3884 BUlussIIs ||y +
MEIRQ Ud BBIL

d a1 uawiads «
Iyoad 1oz pean

PUE pauoisal 3yl o3ul 4R33P 2q v Bunueld «

ue paiyzads se pajueld aq o1 B

uopesyrads bujueld

AN FEEw

T

49



Appendix D — Amended Site Plan

S0 S0 mgwndos Lo
vo

cork RELD

pawadal 5
UapaNg DU SRR e

Sty

Aol
o et R i B

R T L]
"AHCATR SELL (e 1
1225 Bl Dk 1L

weuping § Bellalng TR

.

00Z:L -37VIS
(dv3d) d3s0d0ddse{ad-dl NOILYAITII LSY3

Tt} wssy o per =

e

w ® ]
{00E L} Sa0epy Ul BlEcE

[ W o

oozl -37VvOosS
(153M) d3S0d0Hd SENCILYAITI LNONS

0SZI1L -37VIS
(HLHYON) 035040Hd 5B ONIJYOSANY T MIN ONIMOHS ©-9 NOIL23S 3LIS

0§zl -37VvosS

(HLNOS) d350d08d SEONIJYOSANYTMIN ONIMOHS 4-4 NOILD3S 3LIS

i e g
oty ety

nonollon

00zZiL -37VIS
03S0d0Hd SBE Y-V NOILD3IS SS0HD

00zl -31VIS
d3s0d0d¥d seE N¥Y1d d00Y

=AM ol

Slde / Sowth

1583 § 1Bay

LoN | 8pts

00ZIL -37VIS
(HLNOS) A35040dd SENOILYAZT3 QIS

00ZI}L-37VOS
d3S0d0dd SENY1d HOOTd ONNOYD

N | o4
Ay Aeflauy —
aaieagpu] - W
] e
e Y e
A .
g £
2 wAEBLWAS |z 2
g naN H w
5 g
( v
- a4
A
L7
worz
1883 | s

00ZI1L-37VIS
(HLYON)Q3S0d0¥d 58 NOIL¥AZ13 3QIS

L L

50



51



This page is intentionally left blank



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD
PLANNING COMMITTEE

MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

16 March 2016 Item: 3
Application 15/02135/FULL

No.:

Location: Land South of Horwoods Yard Green Lane Maidenhead

Proposal: Construction of indoor bowling green and clubhouse with associated facilities and

construction of outdoor bowling green and green-keepers store with car parking and
associated landscaping

Applicant: Desborough Bowling Club

Agent: Mr Kevin Scott

Parish/Ward:  Oldfield Ward

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Daniel Gigg on 01628 796044 or at
daniel.gigg@rbwm.gov.uk

1. SUMMARY

1.1 Full planning permission is sought to re-locate the Bowl's Club facility from York Road in
Maidenhead Town Centre, to an out-of-centre location in the Green Belt at Green Lane at the
South East edge of the settlement of Maidenhead. The Bowl’s Club building will incorporate both
indoor and outdoor bowl’'s greens and club facilities containing two bars, a dance floor and
kitchen facilities. The building will be located in the southern part of the site and the parking will
be in the northern part.

1.2 The application site lies in the Green Belt. The proposed building would be inappropriate
development in the Green Belt for which there are no ‘Very Special Circumstances’ (‘VSC’) to
justify the substantial harm to the Green Belt. The applicant considers that a compelling part of its
‘VSC’ case is that the re-location of the Bowl's Club will free up part of the York Road Opportunity
Area which is an allocated site for mixed use development in the Maidenhead Town Centre Area
Action Plan. However, there is nothing to suggest that the site being vacated would result in the
in a rejuvenation scheme coming forward that would benefit the vitality and viability of the town
centre. The other part of the VSC case relates to the provision of a facility of International
standard and that approval has been given for a housing development at a nearby site in the
Green Belt. No evidence has been put forward to justify that the facility will be of an international
standing and the nearby site was for a different type of development and a specific case of VSC
was made that cannot be repeated for this development. In terms of consideration of other harm
— this being a requirement of Green Belt policy in the National Planning Policy Framework —
significant weight should be afforded to the conflict with national and local planning policies and
supplementary planning advice as set out below.

1.3 The building is proposed in a countryside location which has a rural feel from its verdant
character. The development will lead to the early demise of a TPO-protected off-site Veteran Oak
Tree which is a principal landscape feature. In addition, the siting, scale and materials of the
building along with associated paraphernalia and noise from comings and goings would be
harmful to the important characteristics of the area. In addition, the siting and scale of the building
combined with the extensive parking area will erode the openness of the Green Belt.

14 A Bowl’s Club is considered to be a ‘main town centre use’. The proposed development would be
sited in an out-of-centre location. In the absence of information from the applicant to demonstrate
whether there would be sequentially preferable locations and impact assessments, the proposals
could impact on the vitality of the Borough’s main town centres.

1.5 The applicant has not provided sufficient evidence to demonstrate whether there will be sufficient
capacity on roads and of junctions in the vicinity of the site. In addition, there are some
constraints and pressures experienced on Green Lane from a highways perspective which will

53




1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

be added to as a result of this development which could lead to conflicts with all highways’ users.
Such conflicts could not be overcome through the applicant’'s suggested traffic management
measures for Green Lane or the level of traffic reduced because a Travel Plan is unlikely to
positively influence the amount and type of non-vehicle modes traffic to and from the site.

The site lies in a high risk flood area as a result of the River Thames. The applicant has failed to
adequately demonstrate whether there are any sequentially preferable locations to site this
development. Notwithstanding this, the building is proposed to be raised on pillars and with voids
to ensure the free flow of water and so as not to reduce the capacity of the floodplain. The
applicant has provided amended plans to show the size of the voids to satisfy the request from
the Environment Agency (EA). The EA has been re-consulted and their advice will be reported in
the update to Panel. In terms of ‘flash flooding’ from heavy periods of rainfall, the applicant has
not demonstrated that the proposal would incorporate acceptable sustainable drainage
measures to reduce such potential flood risk.

In terms of other harm, this relates to: the applicant has not carried out bat surveys in respect of
the Veteran Oak tree so there could be an impact on this protected species; the siting and scale
of the building will detract from enjoyment of users of the Green Way; and, until the precise
vehicle trip rate is established the impact on associated infrastructure cannot be assessed and
specialist advice obtained as to whether any mitigation would be required.

Such is the substantial and significant weight of harm identified that the scheme would require a
very significant and compelling case of ‘VSC'. As set out in paragraph 1.2 of this summary, no
such ‘VSC’ has been made or is apparent.

The NPPF also requires a balancing exercise of benefits against harm. As this is a re-location of
an existing facility that has not been proven to be a facility of international standing, there is not a
benefit from a sporting point of view and there are no other apparent benefits to re-locating this
facility to the Green Belt.

It is recommended the Panel refuses planning permission for the following summarised
reasons (the full reasons are identified in Section 9 of this report):

1. The proposal is inappropriate development which is, by definition, harmful to the
Green Belt and conflicts with two of the purposes of including land in the Green
Belt. But notwithstanding the harm by its inappropriateness, it will also physically
reduce the openness of the Green Belt by reason of its proposed siting and
because it will be a substantial building with a dominance of parked vehicles.
There are no ‘Very Special Circumstances’ to outweigh both this inappropriate
development and the harm identified below.

2 There will be harm to the character and appearance of the countryside as a result
of the siting, scale and materials of the building along with associated
paraphernalia and noise.

3 Premature demise of a Veteran Oak Tree which is a principal landscape feature
and covered by a Tree Preservation Order. Its loss would be harmful to the
character and appearance of the area.

4 It has not been demonstrated that the proposed out of centre location for this
‘main town centre use’ is sequentially acceptable and that it would not have a
harmful impact on the vitality of town centres.

5 It has not been demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority
that the additional traffic would have an acceptable impact on the capacity of the
roads and junctions in the vicinity of the application site. In addition, as a result
of the siting and operations of the barrier into the development, the restricted
widths of part of the highway, the lack of detail on the bridge strengthening and
that the traffic management measures proposed would not be workable, the
development would result in harm to the safety and convenience of all highway
users.

54



3.1

3.2

3.3

3.4

41

4.2

6 The site lies within a High Risk area of flooding from The River Thames. The
applicant has failed to satisfactorily demonstrate whether there are alternative
sites at a lower flood risk.

7. The proposal would increase flood risk from surface water, in the absence of
evidence to the contrary.

8. Impact on bats that may be roosting in the Veteran Oak Tree, in the absence of
evidence to the contrary.

9. The development will detract from the enjoyment of the Green Way.

10. | The proposals fail to make provision for infrastructure improvements directly
related to the development.

REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

o The Borough Planning Manager and the Lead Member of Planning consider that it would not
be appropriate to use delegated powers in this instance due to the level of public interest in
the item.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

The application site is roughly triangular in shape and approximately 1.6ha in size located to the
South East of Maidenhead Town Centre. The site lies to the East of Green Lane. Green Lane is
accessed off the junction of Forlease Road/Stafferton Way (Link Road).

Green Lane serves some residential properties, allotments and a waste transfer station. At the
end of the road, vehicular traffic is precluded from accessing the public open spaces of Braywick
Nature Reserve/Braywick Park. Only pedestrians and cyclists can gain access into these public
open spaces from Green Lane. A footpath that runs to the south of the York Stream links Green
Lane to Stafferton Way.

A chain link fence and chestnut pale fencing runs along the majority of the western boundary and
primarily in front of, but also straddling the boundary, is a mix of hedges, overgrown scrub and ivy
and there are some trees. There are gaps in the vegetation which give clear views into the site
from the adjoining public footpath. Beyond this boundary is Green Lane which has hedges and
trees along its length and for this section is mainly laid to a gravel track so has a less formal feel
— this is the pedestrian and cycle route into Braywick Nature Reserve/Braywick Park. Further
west is allotments and the sewage treatment works. The southern boundary is a mix of hedges/
trees, with gaps in the vegetation that give views from the adjoining public footpath. Beyond the
southern boundary is the Braywick Nature Reserve which contains footpaths, one of which
borders with the application site. The Nature Reserve contains a mix of vegetation primarily trees.
The eastern boundary is a mix of hedges and trees. Beyond this is the York Stream and the
further to the east are houses and to the South East is Oldfield Primary School. To the North of
the site is the waste transfer station which has a metal fencing on the boundary with the
application site.

On the whole the site has a verdant feel but it has been colonised with planting that is commonly
found with disturbed ground. There are a mix of grasses, scrub, hedges and shrubs. The land is
higher on the Green Lane side and there appears to be a gradual slope downwards from North to
South to the middle of the site before rising slightly to the South boundary. The South West
corner of the site has an untidy appearance with some dumped materials.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

Planning permission is sought to re-locate the existing Maidenhead Bowl's Club from York Road
in Maidenhead Town Centre to Green Lane.

The site will be accessed from the North West corner with an entry and exit via a barrier system.
The northern part of the site taking up nearly half of the site will be parking for 106 cars and two

55



4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.7

5.1

5.2

spaces for coaches. The spaces at the edge of the site will be accessed via a one way route and
these spaces are proposed to be perpendicular to the boundaries. The remainder of the spaces
are proposed to be located in the centre of the car park. They will be accessed off the one way
system and are proposed to be arranged in three rows. A Turning head is prosed in the South
West corner off Green Lane.

The club building will be located to the south of the car park. The ground floor is proposed to be
raised up and contains voids to allow for the passage of water in a flood event. Amended plans
showing the size of the voids was submitted during the course of considering the application.
Pedestrian access into the building is via steps or ramps that are located in front of the building.

The coverage of the overall structure will take an ‘L’ shaped form. As a result of the voids the
ground floor is raised up. This raised platform varies in height — it will be at it's lowest at the
Green Lane end of the site (being 0.2m above ground level) and will be at it's highest on all other
sides (being around 1.4m to 1.6m). On the Western side of the structure will be a building. The
building will contain at ground floor the entrance lobby, the 8 rinks indoor green and the changing
facilities plus clubhouse facilities with seating and bar and kitchen. The first floor will have a
dance floor with a raised stage, a bar and kitchen along with toilets. The longest section
(excluding the platform) is proposed to be around 66m. At it's widest the building will be nearly
45m. The tallest part of the building that will contain the two floors of clubhouse facilities will be a
flat roof; it will be 10m above ground level when viewed from the east and 8.6m above ground
when viewed from the West. The rest of the roof of the building is proposed to be pitched, which
will then step down by around 0.3m. Around the building is the platform for access.

On the eastern side on the raised structure will be an outdoor bowling green that will have a
fence around its edge to a height of 1m, meaning that it will be raised up from the ground level to
a height of 2.4m. This part will be nearly 28m in length by 38m in width. To the north of the
outdoor bowling green will be a detached building (the green keeper’s store and toilets) on the
raised part of the structure that will be 5m in length and 11m in width. It will be nearly 6m in
height when viewed from the north.

The raised section is proposed to be cream blockwork with metal grilles over the opening. The
Southern elevation will be a mix of metal panels predominantly green and grey, and some wood
cladding. All other elevations will be a mix of horizontal cladding to the walls of a mix of green,
grey and silver metals. There will also be some render to all elevations. The fascia, capping and
trim will be a grey colour.

There is no relevant planning history for this site.

MAIN RELEVANT STRATEGIES AND POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

National Planning Policy Framework: ‘Introduction — Core Planning Principles; Section 2
‘Ensuring the vitality of town centres’; Section 4 ‘Promoting Sustainable Travel’; Section 7
‘Requiring good design’; Section 9 ‘Protecting Green Belt Land’; Section 10 ‘Meeting the
challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change’; and, Section 11 ‘Conserving and
enhancing the natural environment’.

Royal Borough Local Plan

The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are:

Green H'gh Protected nghw.ays
risk of /Parking
Belt h Trees -
flooding issues
Local Plan
oo |F NG DG1, 5,
’ P4

56



5.3 Supplementary planning documents adopted by the Council relevant to the proposal are:

54

6.

6.1

6.2

6.3

vi

Vi

vi

e Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions
e Interpretation of Policy F1 — Area Liable to Flood
e Sustainable Design and Construction

e Planning for an Ageing Population

More information on these documents can be found at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/pp supplementary planning.htm

Other Local Strategies or Publications
Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are:

° RBWM Landscape Character Assessment - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp_ supplementary planning.htm
° RBWM Parking Strategy - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web pp supplementary planning.htm
° RBWM Strategic Flood Risk Assessment - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web pp supplementary planning.htm
° RBWM Public Rights of Way Improvement Plan - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/prow _improvement_plan.htm

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

The key issues for consideration are:

Green Belt;

Character and appearance of the area;

Vitality of town centres;

Flooding;

Highway safety and convenience;

Living conditions of neighbouring properties;
[ Ecology;
i Other matters; and,

Planning Balance.

Green Belt

The fundamental aim of Green Belt policy, as set out in paragraph 79 of the NPPF, is to keep
land permanently open. Paragraph 89 of the NPPF indicates that with some exceptions, the
construction of new buildings is inappropriate development in the Green Belt. This paragraph
refers to one exception as provision of appropriate facilities for outdoor sport as long as it
preserves the openness of the Green Belt and does not conflict with the purposes of including
land within it. Although the Local Plan pre-dates the publication of the NPPF, Policy GB1 adopts
a broadly similar approach to national policy. On the point of outdoor sport the Local Plan policy
is identical except that it requires such facilities to be ‘essential’, so in this regard the NPPF is
more up-to-date.

The proposals are not considered to be an outdoor sports facility because a significant part of
the development is for indoor bowl’s contained within a building. The bowl’s club is inappropriate

57


http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/prow_improvement_plan.htm

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9

development in the Green Belt and, by definition, harmful to its openness and it would also
conflict with two of the purposes of Green Belt namely ‘to check the unrestricted sprawl of large
built up areas’ and ‘to assist in safeguarding the countryside from encroachment. In addition, the
physical presence of a substantial building and presence of parking will result in an actual
reduction in openness on the site. The proposals are contrary to Policy GB1 of the Local Plan
and NPPF. It could only be approved, if there are ‘Very Special Circumstances’ (VSC) that
clearly outweighs the harm to the Green Belt cause by inappropriateness and any other harm.
The applicant has made a case for VSC and this is considered at the end of the report under the
‘Planning Balance’ after consideration of all the other issues.

Impact on the character and appearance of the area

The application site lies in the countryside and this area has a rural feel with its verdant features
from the mix of planting including individual trees and belts of trees on the South and East
boundaries.

Green Lane is partially in the settlement of Maidenhead and the suburban form is evidenced by
the townscape of houses and roads. The application site lies at the edge of the built up area of
Maidenhead, so travelling along Green Lane there is a noticeable change from suburbia into the
countryside. Within the immediate part of this countryside there are lawful buildings and uses
which are visible to differing degrees dependent on where they are viewed from both within and
outside of the countryside. Such buildings are Oldfield Primary School which lies to the South
East of the site, the sewerage treatment works to the West and the waste transfer station to the
North.

The plans for the scheme show that the existing planting buffer of hedges and trees will be
retained and enhanced around the site. However, this will not be sufficient to mitigate the size of
the building. The size of the building in public views along Green Lane would be highly
noticeable given its siting very close to Green Lane, being just 1m away from it. The apparent
size of the building will be re-enforced by the metal cladding which is the main material because
of its colours, size of panel and overall extent across the external facades of the building. In
addition, the extensive amount of hardstanding for parking and turning, including the emergency
vehicle turning area, that all together will take up nearly half of the site will be very obvious from
views at the vehicular entrance into the site and along The Green Way, along with the
associated paraphernalia such as fencing, barriers and lighting. The proposals will be an alien
form of development in this countryside location. In addition, there would be additional noise in
the countryside as a result of the comings and goings of users of the facility which would be
harmful to the rural character.

The verdant character of the area is as a result of a number of on-site and off-site trees. The
trees on the site are subject to a Tree Preservation Order (TPO), as is an off-site Oak tree that
lies to the West of the Green Lane track. A total of 7 on-site trees are proposed to be removed
due to their structural and physiological condition. There is no objection to the loss of these trees
provided they are replaced to ensure continuity of tree cover. If the application had been
recommended for approval, then a condition would have been used to secure this.

The off-site Oak tree is considered by Tree Officers to be a veteran one, although the applicant
disagrees. The siting and size of the building will mean that the building will result in an incursion
into the tree’s root protection area and that it would have a branch overhang that would conflict
with the roof of the building. This would result in the early demise of a veteran tree. The loss of
this significant tree would result in harm to the character and appearance of the area.

The proposals are considered to be contrary to Local Plan policies DG1 and GB2, and is
contrary to Core Planning Principle 7 which requires development to conserve the natural
environment and other parts of the NPPF which require developments to respond to local
character (paragraph 58) and integration of new development into the natural environment
(paragraph 61). Further, National Planning Policy states that planning permission should be
refused for developments affecting such trees unless the need for, and benefits of, the
development in that location clearly outweigh that loss.

Impact on the vitality of Town Centres

58



6.10

6.11

6.12

6.13

6.14

6.15

One of the objectives of the NPPF is ensuring the vitality of town centres and Annex 2 of the
NPPF identifies the uses that are to be located in such centres based on the town centre first
approach. The current Development Plan is silent in respect of the locational approach for leisure
uses and it does not allocate suitable sites for such uses. The NPPF states that Local Planning
Authorities should allocate suitable sites to meet the scale and type of retail, leisure, commercial
and other uses needed in town centres.

Annex 2 refers to indoor bowling centres being within the class of main town centres uses under
the heading of ‘leisure, entertainment facilities the more intensive sport and recreation uses’. The
proposal is for both indoor and outdoor bowling centre. It is considered that the development is a
main town centre use. However, the applicant disagrees with Officer’s classification of the use in
main town centre use terms and instead suggests that “...this is a clear reference to tenpin
bowling. This is certainly much closer to other uses listed in this Annex 3 definition such as bars,
pubs, night clubs etc. The list is preceded by the phase ‘the more intensive sport and recreation
uses’...”. Annex 2 does not contain an explicit reference to ten pin bowling but instead to indoor
bowling centres which the proposal is for. The nature of the indoor bowling activity is considered
to be an ‘intensive sport’. It is a use that falls within Class D2 ‘Assembly and Leisure’ of the Use
Classes Order which includes uses such as swimming baths, skating rinks, gymnasiums and
other areas for indoor and outdoor sports or recreations not involving motorised vehicles or
firearms.

The application site is considered to be out of centre because it is neither within nor at the edge
of the commercial boundary as identified in the Maidenhead Town Centre Area Action Plan and
commercial boundary as identified in the Proposals Map to the Local Plan. As the Development
Plan is considered to be out of date in terms of policy on leisure uses in town centres, it is for the
applicant to demonstrate that there would not be any sequentially preferable sites and to carry
out an impact assessment on both town centres. The applicant has been given the opportunity to
provide both assessments but as they consider that the bowls club is not a ‘main town centre
use’ they have advised that they will not provide the required information. In the absence of this
information, the proposal is contrary to paragraphs 26 and 27 of the NPPF. Central Government
is committed to a town centre first approach and ensuring the vitality of such centres. A bowls
club would be very likely to support the vitality of the Borough’'s town centre’s particularly
Maidenhead if there is a sequentially preferable site to the proposed out of centre location.

Flooding (fluvial and surface water)

The proposed development would be located within flood zone 3a (FZ3) which is land considered
as having a high probability of flooding from rivers.

Sequential Assessment

National planning policy seeks to direct development to the lowest risk areas of flooding first,
before considering land in the medium (FZ2) and high (FZ3) probability of flooding
classifications. The applicant has carried out a sequential assessment of alternative sites
requiring a 1.6ha area of land in Maidenhead. A Borough wide assessment was requested by
Planning Officers but the applicant advises that the Bowl's Club has locational requirements to
remain in the Maidenhead area. However, the locational requirements of the club would not be a
material consideration and therefore the search should be Borough wide given that protecting
the high risk areas of flooding from development is vital. This over-rides the locational
requirements of the private club. In addition, it has not been clearly justified why a 1.6ha site is
required because, for example, parking could be provided under the building thereby reducing
the site size requirement.

Notwithstanding the lack of a Borough wide sequential assessment and consideration of smaller
sites, the applicant has discounted the following sites:

- Town Centre sites for the reason that the applicant considers that there are a lack of suitable
sites, competing land uses/economic factors and availability; and,

- Sites outside of the town centre area as identified in the Strategic Flood Risk Assessment and
Edge of Settlement Sites Review are being or are likely to be promoted for housing and

59



6.16

6.17

6.18

6.19

6.20

6.21

6.22

6.23

6.24

employment by developers or are established employment sites. The applicant also states that
there are economic factors in this as well.

In terms of the town centre locations — which is the preferred location for vitality reasons, as set
out above — there is no evidence to suggest that the site could not remain in the town centre as
part of a mixed use development. No record of discussions has been provided with other owners
of land within the town centre as to whether it would be feasible to re-provide this sport’s facility.
For the other sites, the same is true in that they have been discounted primarily because they
are likely to be promoted for other uses but there is no evidence of discussions with those
owners.

It is not considered that a satisfactory sequential assessment has been provided and therefore
based on paragraph 102 of the NPPF, the application cannot be permitted. As the proposal is for
a ‘Less Vulnerable’ use based on National Planning Guide definitions, the Exceptions Test is not
required to be considered as the use is compatible with the flood risk classification of FZ3.

Fluvial Flood Risk

The new building will take up floodplain storage space. The applicant proposes voids to mitigate
the loss of floodplain storage because compensation through lowering of other land within, or
nearby, the site would not be possible because this site is not on the edge of the floodpain.
Compensation can only be provided at the edge of the floodplain where it is possible to reduce
the level of land to allow displaced flood waters to fill a void.

The applicant has provided amended plans in response to the points raised by the Environment
Agency that the plans do not show the dimensions of the voids and the proposed finished floor
level to ensure in the event of a flood (taking into account climate change) such waters could
pass under the building and that there would be sufficient floodplain storage. The EA has been
consulted and any response will be provided in the update.

The EA has objected to the application on the grounds of loss of floodplain storage unless the
Local Planning Authority is satisfied with the use of appropriate sized voids. The supporting text
to Policy F1 of the Local Plan and the associated SPG on flood risk state that voids should not
be used to mitigate the space lost within the floodplain because voids can become blocked.
However, in this case, the building will be in single management and therefore it makes it much
easier to ensure that voids will remain open. Had the application been recommended for
approval, then management of the voids would have been secured through an obligation in a
legal agreement. This is separate to the requirement to pass both elements of the Sequential
Test as required by paragraph 102 of the NPPF.

With regards to the development being safe which is a requirement of Policy F1 of the Local Plan
and the NPPF, sufficient warning of a flood event could be provided to ensure that users would
not be at the site during such times. Such an approach is acceptable for a non-residential use. In
addition, it should be noted that the finished floor level would be above the flood level which
means that water would not inundate the building during a flood.

Provided that the EA raise no objection to the size of the voids, the proposals in terms of fluvial
flooding comply with Policy F1 and paragraph 103 of the NPPF.

Surface Water Flood Risk

A Ministerial Statement from December 2014 confirms the Government’s commitment to
protecting people from flood risk. This Statement was as a result of an independent review into
the causes of the 2007 floods which concluded that sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) were
an effective way to reduce the risk of ‘flash flooding’. Such flooding occurs when rainwater
rapidly flows into the public sewerage and drainage system which then causes overloading and
back-up of water to the surface.

The Government has set out minimum standards for the operation of SuDS and expects there to
be controls in place for ongoing maintenance over the lifetime of the development. The submitted
Flood Risk Assessment fails to demonstrate th6a(t)the proposal complies with technical standards



6.25

6.26

6.27

6.28

6.29

6.30

6.31

and no detail has been provided in respect of future management of any acceptable SuDS
scheme that may come forward. The proposal is contrary to paragraph 103 of the NPPF.

Highway safety and convenience

Impact on the capacity of the road network

The Transport Statement claims that there will be an additional 180 vehicle trips per day on the
highway network and predicts a negligible impact on the highway network with particular
reference to the Green Lane and Forlease Road junctions with the Stafferton Way Link Road.

The applicant’s Transport Consultant has provided data from the existing Bowls Club security
door entry system to substantiate the likely vehicle trip rate. However, the data only relates to the
number people accessing the club but does not provide details of the number of person trips and
mode of travel used. Furthermore, if useful data based on current trips had been provided it
would need to be adjusted to take into account the improved bowls club facility based on, for
example, playing times and the number of competitions/events. The data provided is insufficient
to justify the daily trip rate and furthermore junction analysis would need to be provided. In the
absence of this information, the true impact of the new development on the local highway
network is not known. It is not then possible to determine whether there would be a requirement
for any mitigation measures. The proposal fails to comply with paragraph 32 of the NPPF.

Layout, access, manoeuvring and visibility within and outside of the application site

It has been demonstrated that the required visibility of 2.4m by 33m in both directions on exiting
the site can be achieved on Green Lane. The layout within the development is acceptable in
terms of parking spaces for cars and coaches, servicing and internal access.

Outside of the site, there is potential for a number of conflicts between highway users. The first
stretch of Green Lane is just about wide enough for two cars to pass and there is a pavement on
one side. Beyond the last house, the road narrows and there is a single track bridge beyond
which is an un-made track that terminates at the entrance to Braywick Nature Reserve. Green
Lane serves about 8 dwellings, a waste transfer station and allotments. In terms of the waste
transfer station, this generates a number of lorry movements carrying skips and lorries frequently
have to park on Green Lane while waiting for other lorries to leave the yard. Such lorries also
reverse into the site for operational reasons. Also, part of the road does not have parking
restrictions so is subject to on-street parking by others using the town centre and the train station.
This road is also used by walkers and cyclists who access Braywick Park/Nature Reserve and for
those people using the public right of way along the York Stream. The immediate area around the
York Stream is expected to get busier with people as a result of the ‘Maidenhead Waterways’
development which is currently being built.

On stretches of Green Lane, particularly the bridge, there would be a conflict between
pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles. The applicant proposes to control this by priority working over
the bridge through giving way to on-coming traffic from the north. A waiting lane is also proposed.
Furthermore, the applicant suggests the use of a banksman to direct traffic to minimise conflicts.
Strengthening of the bridge would also be required.

The suggested management of the traffic over the bridge would not be a workable solution and
particularly given that it is not known whether there would be capacity within the highway to
manage waiting traffic. Furthermore, the use of a banksman to direct traffic on a highway would
not be legal. No details of the strengthening of the bridge have been provided — which in itself
may require planning permission so would need to be covered in the application red line
boundary — so it is not known whether the bridge could physically support the increased level of
traffic.

In addition, no swept path analysis has been provided for coaches on the part of Green Lane
from the Link Road to the bridge over the York Stream. Also, coaches exiting Green Lane and
turning left onto the Stafferton Way Link Road would conflict with oncoming traffic. Furthermore, a
coach trying to turn left into Green Lane would be unable to do so if there is waiting traffic on
Green Lane.

61



6.32

6.33

6.34

6.35

6.36

6.37

6.38

In terms of traffic gaining access into the site, a barrier is proposed to prevent unauthorised
parking. The Highways Officer has requested that should planning permission be granted that the
Council would have the right to remove the barrier should congestion problems on the single
track bridge arise over operations of the barrier. Such an intervention would not be possible as
the application needs to be assessed based on the submission.

The Highways Officer considers that sustainable travel initiatives such as car sharing secured
through a Travel Plan could help reduce the volume of traffic. However, some modes of
alternative travel such as walking and cycling are unlikely to be attractive given the constraints of
the highway network and the conflicts of highway users that have been identified. A Travel Plan
for this development is unlikely to positively influence the amount and type of non-vehicle modes
of traffic. It would have a very limited highway benefit for the proposals.

For the reasons that the true trip rate generation of the development is not known, that there are
concerns over the siting and operations of the barrier into the development, the restricted widths
of parts of the highway, the lack of detail on the bridge strengthening and that the traffic
management measures would not be workable, there would be harm to highway safety and
convenience on Green Lane and on the other nearby roads. The proposal conflicts with Policy
DG1 of the Local Plan and paragraph 32 of the NPPF.

Living conditions

The NPPF seeks to secure a good standard of living for existing and future occupants of land and
buildings. Residential properties lie to the north, north east and east of the site. These properties
are over 50m away from the building, so at that distance there would not be any harm to living
conditions in terms of outlook, light or overlooking. The development will result in additional traffic
movements but it is not considered that such noise would be discernible against background
levels. Furthermore, given the separation distances it is not considered that there would be any
significant noise and disturbance to the neighbouring residential properties from vehicles in the
parking area and the general comings and goings throughout the day. For this reason, a Noise
Impact Assessment has therefore not been requested from the applicant. The waste transfer
station lies immediately to the north of the application site but given the commercial nature of that
use, this proposal will not have a harmful impact upon it.

Ecology

In terms of the NPPF, protecting and enhancing the natural environment forms part of
‘Environmental Role’ dimension of ‘Sustainable Development’ and is one of the Core Planning
Principles (bullet point 7). The applicant has submitted field surveys and assessments of the
habitat within and outside of the site to demonstrate that the proposals will not harm existing
habitats and they outline opportunities for biodiversity enhancement.

The survey confirms that the land within the site has been disturbed from previous activities such
as the dumping of waste, which has resulted in colonisation of vegetation such as nettle,
hogweed, ivy and grasses, along with some areas of scrubland and groups of shrubs. On the
boundaries of the site, the predominant vegetation is a mix of unmanaged hedges and trees. The
flora species on the site are not of a significant ecological value.

The main species of fauna identified by the applicant’s ecologist as having a habitat on the site
that will be affected by the development is reptiles, notably slow worms. To ensure a continuing
habitat on this site, it is proposed to retain the undeveloped area for this species. Any reptiles will
be captured and re-located into an appropriate fenced off part of the undeveloped area. In terms
of other protected species, the field survey identified that several trees on the fringes of the site
offer potential roosting places for bats but as the trees would be retained there would not be any
destruction of their habitat. However, the Tree Officer has confirmed that one significant off-site
tree, a veteran oak (tree T9), would have its roots damaged by the proposals and as such this
tree would have an early demise. This tree has been identified as having potential for bats and as
such in the absence of a detailed survey the loss of the tree could result in a loss of an
irreplaceable habitat for bats contrary to the requirements of paragraph 118 of the NPPF and
core planning principle bullet point 7. In addition, National Planning Policy states that planning
permission should be refused for developments affecting Veteran trees unless the need for, and

62



6.39

6.40

6.41

6.42

6.43

6.44

6.45

benefits of, the development in that location clearly outweigh that loss; this is assessed in the
‘Planning Balance’ part of the report.

In terms of mice, voles, birds, hedgehogs and stag beetles on the site, there will be some loss of
habitat for these species but the remaining area of the site will be specifically enhanced for these
and other species. No other species were identified as having potential to be present on the site.

In addition, 10m buffers are proposed to be retained around the edge of the site and a sensitive
lighting scheme will further ensure that the site continues to be a place for foraging and
‘commuting’ fauna.

Other than the potential impact on bats that may be roosting in the veteran oak tree which is
outside of the site, there will not be any harm to habitats outside of the site within 2km of it (the
Braywick Local Nature Reserve, Green Corridor Local Wildlife Site, the Bray Meadows Site of
Special Scientific Interest, The Gullett and South Lodge Pit Site of Special Scientific Interest)
provided pollution from dust, noise and light is controlled during construction, along with the
retained and enhanced landscaped buffer.

The applicant proposes to enhance the natural environment through planting native species
within the site and a long-term management plan. These enhancements will be beneficial to
wildlife so this complies with the NPPF (Core planning principle bullet point 7 and paragraph 109)
and the legal requirement set out in Section 40 of the Natural Environment and Rural
Communities Act 2006.

Other Matters

Green Way

To the West of the site is the Green Way which is an important recreational route. Policy R14 of
the Local Plan states that developments should be resisted that detract from the user’s
enjoyment of this route. Public Rights of Way Officer considers that on balance that the proposals
are acceptable. While the Officer's comments are noted, the building will be very long, high and
close to this recreational route and as such it is considered that it will be imposing along this
stretch of the Green Way. The proposed development will therefore detract from the enjoyment of
this route.

Private recreation facilities

While Local Plan policy R8 is generally supportive of development for public or private
recreation, this support does not extend to development would that would result in significant
environmental or highway problems, or where it would conflict with any other policies of this plan.
The explanatory text for policies R7 and R8 notes that new facilities must have particular regard
to environmental effects in the Green Belt, and that new buildings should be of a scale and
design sympathetic to the character of the area. As set out in this report there would be
significant environment and highway problems and there is conflict with other policies of the plan.

Sustainable design and construction

The Council has an adopted Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) setting out 12 criteria for
developments to achieve in order to improve the sustainability performance. The SPD advises
that over its lifetime, a sustainable building will cost less to build, heat and light than a
conventional building thereby resulting in economic and environmental gains which will have
direct impacts on the sense of well-being of the occupiers and society as a whole. No details
have been provided on this which is disappointing because sustainability should be an integral
part of the design and as a number of supporters believe that the building will be “environmentally
friendly”.

63



6.46

6.47

6.48

6.49

6.50

Archaeology

The site is in an area within the Middle Thames Valley which is rich in prehistoric and Roman
remains. However, as the site was previously subject to archaeological investigation in the late
1980s and no remains were found, there is no further requirement in respect of this matter. The
proposals accord with Policy ARCH2 of the Local Plan.

Contamination

Had the application been recommended for approval, then conditions would have been
recommended covering contamination given historical uses close to the application site to comply
with Policy NAP3 of the Local Plan.

Dust and lighting

The Environmental Protection Officer has requested details of dust management and lighting to
be submitted in order to protect living conditions. In terms of lighting, the separation distances
would be sufficient to ensure that there would not be any harm. With regard to dust, this would
not be considered to be a reasonable requirement given that the duration of construction would
not be excessive for a scheme of this size. The proposals comply in this regard with Policy NAP3
of the Local Plan.

Associated infrastructure

Where a development places additional pressure on local services and infrastructure, Policy
IMP1 of the Local Plan requires such impacts to be mitigated. It is not clear what the precise
impact will be on the local highway network because trip rates and junction analysis has not
taken place. In the absence of this, a holding objection is raised.

The Planning Balance

Very Special Circumstances (VSC)

The applicant has put forward the following case for ‘VSC’ that is required as referred to in
paragraph 6.3:

- the proposals will deliver sports facilities in the Borough of an international standard close to
the town centre;

- the same case of VSC as applied to the redevelopment of the former Park and Ride site in
Maidenhead (Ref. 14/03765) can be applied, which is: in accordance with the emerging Local
Plan Spatial Strategy; provisions of residential development in close proximity to the town centre
assisting in securing a sustainable balance between homes and jobs; conserves special quality
of environment of wider town centre which requires a viable population and housing; focuses
development on urban areas; supports the settlement hierarchy by supporting growth and
viability of town centre; location close to the town centre; and, contribution to town centre
regeneration;

- Freeing up the existing bowl's club site which occupies a key location of the York Road
Opportunity Area (YROA).

- The Council (in its capacity of owner of land in the YROA) is currently advancing plans for the
area and at this stage the applicant does not consider it would be helpful to submit an application
while this process is still underway. But the fact that the applicant is pushing the proposal for the
relocation of the Club in the absence of a Masterplan for the OA is a considerable benefit to the
regeneration process and will add considerable certainty and momentum.

64



6.51

6.52

6.53

6.54

6.55

6.56

- If permission is granted, the applicant would then own the existing Bowl’s Club site which would
significantly increase the likelihood of it being redeveloped given the applicant’s record in
redeveloping the Chapel Arches Area.

The YROA will make an important contribution to the rejuvenation of Maidenhead Town Centre
when it is redeveloped. The YROA is allocated for a mixed use development in the Maidenhead
Town Centre Area Action Plan. The AAP policies do not refer to re-location of the bowl’s club
and as such it has not been demonstrated firstly whether such a facility could be re-built on the
site.

It is unclear how the re-location of the site to the Green Belt would result in rejuvenation benefits
for Maidenhead town centre that could amount to ‘VSC’. The applicant has been advised
previously by Planning Officers that an application for the redevelopment of the OA should be
submitted alongside an application for the re-location of the bowl’s club to a Green Belt site. The
delivery of the two developments would then be tied together by a legal agreement to ensure that
each one were built in parallel. There is no evidence to suggest that the site being vacated by the
Bowl’'s Club would result in the guarantee that a scheme would come forward. A site could be
sold on by a developer or it may be land-banked to be developed at a future stage. The
uncertainty over and the Council’s lack of ability to security any control as to what could happen
to the site for taking forward the rejuvenation of the town centre weighs heavily against allowing
the new development in the Green Belt.

There is no evidence in the submission to prove that the new facility would deliver a sport’s
facility of international standard. In addition, no body representing sporting activities has
expressed support such as Sports England. There is no evidence to suggest that a facility of
international standard is needed in this locale.

The planning permission for the former Park and Ride site was for a housing development. The
case made there is very different and specific to that development. It cannot be repeated for a
bowl’s club. Indeed ‘VSC’ must only ever relate to the specifics of an individual development.

Conclusion

A compelling case for ‘'VSC’ has not been made by the application and neither is one obvious for
other reasons. In accordance with Paragraph 88 of the NPPF substantial weight is afforded to the
harm to the Green Belt and significant weight is attached to the other harm which has been
identified in respect of the character and appearance of the area, ecology, highway safety and
convenience, the recreational route of the Green Way, flooding, vitality of town centres and
sustainable design and construction. It should be noted that such is the substantial and
significant weight of harm identified, the scheme would require a very significant and compelling
case for 'VSC’. Such a case has not been made and neither is one apparent.

The NPPF also requires a balancing exercise of benefits against harm. As this is a re-location of
an existing facility that has not been proven to be a facility of international standing, there is not
an evidenced benefit from a sporting point of view and there are no other apparent benefits to re-
locating this facility to the Green Belt. There are not any evidenced benefits that would outweigh
the harm.

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Comments from interested parties

16 occupiers were notified directly of the application.

The application was advertised in the Maidenhead & Windsor Advertiser on 20" August 2015.

The planning officer posted site notices advertising the application at the site on 25" August
2015

35 letters were received supporting the application, summarised as:

65



Comment

Where in the
report this is

The move is long overdue as parking, disabled facilities and cramped
changing facilities are a real issue. The building needs major repairs
and is not fit for purpose. The club suffers because of this. It is losing
members to other clubs.

considered

This is not a
relevant
material
consideration in
the
determination of
the application.

This is an opportunity for the club to move to a ‘state of the art’ new
building for bowling, which will meet international standards, especially
for disabled and wheelchair visitors and out the Club and Maidenhead
on the international map. It will also be more environmentally friendly.

6.45 & 6.50

Support disadvantaged people such as blind bowlers and people with
learning difficulties, as well as being a social hub for many players

Noted but this is
a re-location of
a facility so
there would be
no change.

This is a long established club with both indoor and outdoor greens.

This is not a
relevant
material
consideration in
the
determination of
the application.

The move to Green Lane will then mean that the site will become | 6.48 -6.49
available for the regeneration of Maidenhead town centre.
A brand new bowls club in Maidenhead may bring in money to the town | 6.25 — 6.34

with new bowlers and visitors. It will also reduce the traffic in the centre
of Maidenhead.

Important place for socialising and supporting better health of people.

Noted but this is
a re-location of
a facility so
there would be
no change.

6 letters were received objecting to the application, summarised as:

Where in the
Comment report this is
considered
The proposed building is inappropriate development in the Green | 6.2 - 6.3
Belt so the applicant needs to demonstrate that there are Very
Special Circumstances (VSC) which clearly outweigh the harm
caused to the Green Belt and any other harm.
The case for VSC is limited to five very brief bullet points and | 6.47 —6.53
appears to be based primarily on the emerging Local Plan and
intention to allocate the land out of the Green Belt. However, the
Local Plan has not progressed to a stage yet where it can be
considered to carry any significant weight in the decision making
process.
The development will cause harm to the openness and the purposes | 6.2 — 6.3

66




of including land in the Green Belt simply by the volume of building
and associated works involved.

There are no VSC which outweigh the harm, which according to
paragraph 88 of the NPPF attracts substantial weight.

6.47 — 6.53

Endorse the concerns of the Council’'s Highways Officer.

6.25-6.34

The development involves in excess of 3000sgm of new building
which according to Central Government advice would require a full
traffic impact assessment and not the Transport Statement (TS)
submitted by the applicant.

This is only
advice from
Central
Government but
notwithstanding
this there are
concerns in
respect of
highway matters
as set out in
paragraphs 6.25
- 6.34.

The access to the site is constrained by its width and layout as well
as the existing uses it serves including a waste transfer station,
allotments and a number of residential properties along the lane.
The extra traffic on Green Lane will be significant and add an extra
180 vehicle movements per day. Accommodating a coach is another
factor which adds to the traffic issues. There is no assessment within
the Transport Statement with regard to existing users of the road or
recognition of the activities arising from the waste transfer station.
The TS is not a robust assessment of the highway implications of
the development.

6.25 -6.34

The proposed development could impact on the future viability of the
waste transfer business. The bridge on Green Lane provides for
single file traffic and the entrance gates flanked either side of the
yard will reduce visibility and result in Heavy Goods Vehicles idling
on the highway. The operators of the waste transfer business have
committed to reducing this in their Noise Management Plan which
has been agreed with RBWM.

This is not a
relevant
material
consideration.

The Environmental Protection Officer refers to a condition for a
Noise Impact Assessment to be submitted. This should be a pre-
decision requirement as the implications of noise generation need to
be determined before planning permission is issued.

6.35

10.

Such leisure uses should be subject to a sequential assessment to
establish whether there are sequentially preferable sites.

6.10-6.12

11.

The Green Belt should not be built on under any circumstance. This
is a loophole that is being taken advantage of, so that developers
can build houses on the old site and make an obscene amount of
money. Soon be living in a concrete jungle where Slough, Cookham,
Maidenhead and Windsor are all merged together with no green in
between. Protect these areas for future generations.

6.2-6.3

6.2-6.3&6.47
—-6.53

12.

Building here and surrounding the site with high weld mesh fencing
will adversely affect the openness of the Green Belt as the site is
currently an undeveloped field. There will be a material
intensification of the level of activity on the site due to the increased
number of vehicles on the site. Currently it is a quiet place used by
allotment holders along with users of the Green Way and current
business. The bowls club needs to relocate due to the
redevelopment of the current site but these are not VSCs — they
could relocate to other non-Green Belt site such as urban parks. The

6.2-6.9

67




proposals are contrary to both local and national planning policy
relating to Green Belt.

13.

The site is a quiet lane. It is accessed by a one way bridge which is
unsuitable to take a regular 9 tonne coachload of visitors and
potentially dangerous due to sightlines and cyclists being unaware of
the danger. Intensification would give serious concerns for road
safety contrary to both local and national planning policy.

6.25-6.34

14.

The impact of noise and disturbance as well as habitat loss maybe
addressed in the Ecology report but it is not available to view. The
site is home to both protected and priority species as well as being
used by less common declining species. There may be red listed
species on the site. There are certainly slow worms which have
been adversely affected by the new school building. Must assume
that there is no provision to increase biodiversity on the site. The
development is contrary to both national and local planning policy.

6.36 — 6.42

15.

Increased pedestrian/vehicular conflict due to increased vehicular
movements through the Green Way would detract from user's
enjoyment. Use of the one way bridge by 9 tonne coaches would
create danger to current users. Construction activities would also
cause disturbance. The proposed development is contrary to local
planning policy.

6.43

6.36 — 6.42

16.

Conflict of vehicles and the road is too narrow for 2 way traffic.

6.36 — 6.42

17.

Health hazard being located close to a historic land fill and close to
the town’s sewage plant.

6.47

18.

The traffic is pretty regular with skip lorries and people accessing the
allotments so can’t see how the tight single lane bridge would cope
with a substantial increase in numbers.

6.25-6.34

19.

Works would need to take place outside of breeding season.

6.36 — 6.42

20.

Given the level of traffic in the area and parked vehicles would make
access extremely difficult particularly when taking into account the
Stafferton Way bypass.

6.25-6.34

21.

The extended facilities within the club will cause significant
disruption to the residents of Green Lane particularly at weekends.

6.35

22.

Challenge whether the bridge could handle the increased traffic flow.

6.25-6.34

1 letter was received commenting to the application, summarised as:

Comment

Where in the
report this is
considered

No objection to the proposed development but respectfully request
every effort be made to maintain and/or establish trees and/or
bushes along the full length of the eastern boundary. This will
enhance the site and preserve the outlook from the houses at
Chalgrove Close.

6.4-6.9

Statutory consultees

Consultee

Comment

Where in the
report this is
considered

Environment

Agency

Object, as the proposals no not clearly demonstrate that
they will not impede rood’flgws and/or reduce storage

6.13 -6.22

0o




capacity thereby increasing risk of flooding on site and/or
elsewhere.

Lead Local Flood
Authority

The proposal fails to demonstrate that the development
will comply with the non-statutory technical standards for
sustainable drainage.

6.23 -6.24

Other consultees and organisations

Consultee

Comment

Where in the
report this is
considered

RBWM
Highways Officer

The supplemental transport note from the applicant does
not fully address the queries and issues raised by the
Highways Officer. Outstanding matters relate to the
operation of the proposed priority working over the
bridge, including access to the site and Horwoods Yard
access/operations; potential conflict with
pedestrian/cyclists, on-street parking, and suitability of
Green Lane for use by coaches and trip
generation/impact on Green Lane.

6.25-6.34

RBWM
Environmental
Protection Officer

Recommend conditions covering contamination, noise,
dust management and lighting.

6.35 & 6.47 —
6.48

RBWM Ecologist

Some habitat for reptiles will be lost but the slow worms
could translocated to another area within the site. Such
mitigation could be secured by condition.

There is potential for the development to directly and
indirectly affect the Braywick Park Local Nature Reserve,
Greenway Corridor Local Wildlife Site and the Braywick
Meadows from disturbance and pollution. A Construction
Environmental Management Plan secured by condition
to cover construction activities to prevent pollution
events is recommended.

There are several trees that have the potential to support
roosting bats. If any trees are to be directly affected then
further survey work will be required. In addition, a lighting
strategy to minimise disturbance to this protected
species will be required.

Habitats for birds, hedgehogs and stag beetles should
be protected and replaced where required. This could be
secured by condition.

Ecological Enhancements which would be beneficial to
wildlife could be secured through a condition.

6.36 — 6.42

Berkshire,
Buckinghamshire
and Oxfordshire
Wildlife Trust

The proposed development will result in loss of habitat
used by the protected species (bats and reptiles) so it is
essential that the management of the retained buffer
area is enhanced, managed and secured to achieve a
net gain in biodiversity through effective enhancements.

6.36 — 6.42

69




The development is also adjacent to the York Stream
and an area of deciduous woodland with the adjacent
Local nature reserve. Deciduous woodland and Rivers
are both Habitats of Principle Importance.

If the council is minded to grant permission, the following
conditions are recommended:

1) Landscape and Ecological Management Plan;
2) Reptile Mitigation Plan;
3) Lighting; and,

4) Construction Environmental Management Plan.

RBWM Tree
Officer

The principal landscape trees within and adjacent to the
site are subject to a Tree Preservation Order. There will
be an incursion into the root protection area (RPA) of a
veteran Oak Tree and the building will be located too
close to its canopy which will result in leaf loss and
multiple large pruning wounds.

The proposals will lead to incursions into RPAs. In
accordance with the British Standard (BS5837:2012), all
structures should be located outside of the RPA of a
retained tree unless there is an overriding justification.
No such justification has been provided to support the
application. In addition, the fact that tree branches and
roots have to be removed to facilitate the development
provides the inappropriate juxtaposition between the
building and the tree.

In addition, no details have been provided of proposed
services which could affect the trees.

Soft landscaping is limited and no details of new
landscaping is proposed to assess how it will integrate
into the site and the surrounding landscape.

6.7-6.9

RBWM Public
Rights of Way
Officer

It is not considered that the building or the security
fencing along the boundary with Green Lane would have
any adverse impact on the local public rights of way
network because the hedgerow will be retained. The
vehicular access to the car park will be from the northern
point of the site which will minimise the length of the
Green Way that will be subject to additional vehicle
movements. On balance, the proposal would not have a
significant adverse impact.

6.43

Berkshire
Archaeology

The site is in an area which is believed to have been
previously undeveloped and within the Middle Thames
Valley which is an area rich in prehistoric and Roman
remains. The site has potential to contain as yet
unidentified buried archaeological remains.

However, the site was previously subject to
archaeological investigation in the late 1980s. No
archaeological remains were found. In this case, a
condition to secure furtheLifqvestigation is not required.

6.46

[4V)




Maidenhead This is another example of erosion of the Green Belt and
Civic Society follows the recent construction of Oldfield School on
Bray Road and is ahead of the potential relocation of the
Magnet Leisure Centre to Braywick Park.

[1 The site is a discreet section of designated Green
Belt with limited visual impact on the buffer 6.2-6.3
between Maidenhead and Bray.

71 Poor access over a substandard bridge. 6.25-6.34

[1 The proposal is driven by the need to relocate the
bowls club to free up the existing site in the York | §.47 - 6.53
Road Opportunity Area.

[J The area is primarily given over to parking and Noted
the bowls areas with associated function space. '
The only area of green is the outdoor bowls.

[1 There is scope for much more than Ilimited
planting and more landscaping is necessary to | 6.6
soft the visual impact of the functional building
which has little visual appeal.

[J A substantial area of development within the 6.13 — 6.22
floodplain alongside ‘The Cut'. ' '

Maidenhead There should be no conflict with future public access to Noted.
Waterways the streamside so withdrawn that concern.

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

e Appendix A - Site location plan
e Appendix B — Elevations

e Appendix C — Floorplans

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues raised through the
application process and thorough discussion with the applicants. The Case Officer has sought
solutions to these issues where possible to secure a development that improves the economic,
social and environmental conditions of the area, in accordance with NPFF.

In this case the issues have not been successfully resolved.

RECOMMENDED REASONS FOR REFUSAL

The proposed development is inappropriate development in the Green Belt and therefore by
definition harmful to openness. But notwithstanding this, it will also physically reduce the
openness of the Green Belt by reason of its proposed siting and because it will be a substantial
building with a dominance of parked vehicles. The proposal would result in substantial harm to
the openness of the Green Belt and two of the purposes of including land in the Green Belt,
these being 'to check the unrestricted sprawl of large built up areas' and 'to assist in
safeguarding the countryside encroachement'. There are no 'Very Special Circumstances' to
outweigh the substantial harm to the Green Belt and the other significant harm which is identified
below. The proposals are contrary to the provisions of saved Policies GB1 and GB2A) of the
Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local Plan (Incorporating Alterations adopted June
2003) and paragraphs 80, 87, 88 and 89 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF).

The combined siting, scale and materials of the building along with the extent of hardstanding
and associated paraphernalia of fencing, car park barriers and lighting will result in an alien form
of development in this countryside location. In addition, there would be additional noise in the
countryside as a result of the comings and goings of users of the facility which would be harmful
to the rural character of the area. The proposals are contrary to Policies DG1 and GB2 of the

71



10

Local Plan and Core Planning Principle Bullet Point 7 and paragraphs 58 and 61 of the National
Planning Policy Framework.

A Veteran Oak Tree lies to the West of Green Lane. This tree is a principal landscape feature
that contributes to the character and appearance of the area and is protected by a Tree
Preservation Order. The building will encroach into the tree's root protection area resulting in
severance of roots and the siting of the building will result in branch overhang that will result in
conflicts that could lead to the pressure to prune. The proposals will be contrary to Policies DG1
and GB2 of the Local Plan and Core Planning Principle Bullet Point 7 and paragraphs 58, 61 and
118 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

The proposed development is a main town centre use. It has not been demonstrated through the
submission of sequential assessment and impact assessment that the proposed location for the
proposed development is acceptable in this out of centre location. In the absence of the
aforementioned assessments the proposals would impact on the vitality of Maidenhead and
Windsor Town Centres. The proposals are contrary to Core Planning Principle Bullet Point X and
paragraphs 26 and 27 of the NPPF.

It has not been demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority that the
additional traffic would have an acceptable impact on the capacity of the roads and junctions in
the vicinity of the application site. In addition, as a result of the siting and operations of the
barrier into the development, the restricted widths of part of the highway, the lack of detail on the
bridge strengthening and that the traffic management measures proposed would not be
workable, the development would result in harm to the safety and convenience of all highway
users. The proposals are contrary to Policy DG1 of the Local Plan and paragraph 32 of the
NPPF.

The application site lies within an area at high risk from flooding from the River Thames and the
proposal fails the Sequential Test as it has not demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Local
Planning Authority that the development could not be located in areas with a lower probability of
flooding. The proposal is contrary to paragraph 102 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

The submitted Flood Risk Assessment fails to demonstrate that the proposal complies with
national technical standards and no details has been provided in respect of future management
of any acceptable Sustainable Urban Drainage System scheme that may come forward. The
proposal is contrary to paragraph 103 of the NPPF.

The proposal will lead to the early demise of the off-site Oak Tree referred to in reason for
refusal number 3. The tree has potential to be a bat roost. In the absence of bat surveys, the
proposal could harm this protected contrary to Core Planning Principle Bullet Point 7 and
paragraph 118 of the NPPF.

The siting and scale of the building will result in an imposing development along the recreational
route of the Green Way. The proposal will detract from enjoyment of the route which would be
contrary to Policy R14 of the Local Plan.

The proposals fail to make provision for infrastructure improvements directly related to the

development. The proposal fails to accord with the Supplementary Planning Document on
Infrastructure and Amenity Requirements and Local Plan Policies IMP1 and T6.

72



Appendix A

Al dbrarski e 1 oo chechd o sk D vt sk,
drcrucanchs, e i ke o e = A,

MAIDENHEAD

DESBOROUGH

PLANNING
[] a

=

™ CHQ.15.11108-PLOT

150 A3 Larcacace

73



Appendix B

PP aluminium horzontal lacdrg pansis 1o
mateh colour: Goloarcoat Prisma Special

Pegesus. =
PP aluminium horzontal lacdrg panels 1o
match colour: Coloarcoal Prisma Sier Metalic:

PP aluminium horzontal lacirg paneis 1o
sk colour; Cooweoat P Grey A

e o rndr
B Y s
s el

e oo oz el
e

o menery cram ok s st

Metal gill covers ta oo fow opesings

)

A7 v T s O

Propesad West Elevation

B

3
N

— e e TN

74




ol nnloolpn|melonl om
| | I |

s Hosth Eleston

sposad East Elevarlon

J— Do

sposad West Elevaion

Propossd South Exsvation

75

Key MAIDENHEAD

4 mwics food flow opanings wah vetical ars at
100mm iz el
Top e Rt apeninge zal m Z161mADD (10047 +
GC Ficod kavaly

2 Open sided sorass rnp with verical bars 1
100mm o il

Opan g socsss £ Wi v bars 31

100mm iz el

Note:
Enisling groud levels alon; weslem peimedr are
ahave 23 61mADD (100yr § CC food levet)

T scaes watngenets 2
e i
U st et 8 1 e
orm =
Sl e E
ooy =
o Euvais v
O — o

rpesad Buiing Pl




Appendix C

76



77



This page is intentionally left blank



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD
PLANNING COMMITTEE

MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

16 March 2016 Item: 4
Application 15/03388/0OUT

No.:

Location: Woodlands Farm Spring Lane Cookham Dean Maidenhead SL6 9PN
Proposal: Outline application with all matters reserved: Erection of 3 x detached dwellings.
Applicant: Mr Simmonds- The Simmonds Partnership

Agent: Mr Matt Taylor- JSA Architects Ltd

Parish/Ward: Cookham Parish

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Susan Sharman on 01628 685320 or at
susan.sharman@rbwm.gov.uk

1.

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

2.

SUMMARY

The application seeks outline planning permission, (as opposed to full planning permission), for
three detached dwellings following the removal of stables, commercial units and associated
buildings from the site. As this is an outline application, the main consideration is whether the
principle of the proposed development is acceptable with details relating to appearance, means
of access, landscaping and layout to be dealt with under a later reserved matters application.

The application site is in the Green Belt where limited infilling or the partial or complete
redevelopment of previously developed sites (brownfield land), whether redundant or in
continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), is appropriate development provided it would not
have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the purposes of including land
within it than the existing development (paragraph 89 NPPF).

In this case it is considered that the previous agricultural use has sufficiently ‘moved on’ to other
uses such that it is reasonable to describe the site as ‘previously developed’. The applicant has
provided information that demonstrates that the proposal would reduce the amount of built
volume, footprint and floor space on the site compared to the existing development. Subject to a
restriction on the height of the dwellings to be no higher than the existing buildings on site,
together with conditions in relation to site levels and removal of domestic permitted development
rights, the proposal would not have a greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt than the
existing development. In addition, the proposal would not be contrary to any of the five purposes
of the Green Belt. For these reasons the proposal is considered to be appropriate development
in the Green Belt.

As the application site exceeds 0.5 hectare an element of affordable housing is sought in
compliance with Policy H3 of the Local Plan. This is to be secured by way of a S106 agreement.

It is recommended the Panel authorises the Borough Planning Manager:

1. | To grant planning permission on the satisfactory completion of an undertaking to
secure the affordable housing in Section 7 of this report and with the conditions
listed in Section 10 of this report.

2 | To refuse planning permission if an undertaking to secure the affordable housing in
Section 7 of this report has not been satisfactorily completed by 15t April 2016 for
the reason that the proposed development would not be accompanied by
associated affordable housing.

REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

o At the request of Councillor Clir. MJ Saunders in light of the scale and impact of this

79




3.1

3.2

41

5.1

5.2

5.3

application and the related community comments received to date by RBWM Planning.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

Woodlands Farm is located on the eastern side of Spring Lane, close to its junction with Church
Lane in Cookham Dean. The farm extends to approximately 25 hectares and was previously a
diary, then poultry farm. The application site itself is 0.79 hectares and is occupied by 31 stables
let on a livery basis. In addition various redundant single storey farm buildings have been
converted to offices and storage space with associated parking. The remaining land is mainly laid
to grass to provide grazing for the liveried horses. Two larger buildings are located to the centre
of the developed area of the site and provide all weather manege and hay store together with a
residential flat above.

The site is located in the Green Belt and in an Area of Special Landscape Importance. It is
positioned on higher ground than the surrounding open fields and countryside to the east and
south. Access is provided off Spring Lane. The site abuts the curtilage of St. Johns House to the
west, Woodlands Farm House and Woodlands Farm Cottages to the north.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

Ref. Description Decision and Date

342/49 Reconstruction of farm house and conversion of | Approved 30.11.49
barn to diary and cowshed.

6547/65 Erection of cattle yard and Dutch barn. Approved 28.07.65

428065 Conversion of two agricultural buildings to light | Approved 19.08.94
industrial and storage.

99/33564 Renewal of 428065. Approved 09.04.99

00/36112 Change of use of Building B to light industrial unit | Approved 15.02.01.
and storage.

01/36542 Change of use of former stables to garage. Approved 19.03.01.

03/40262 Construction of replacement hay and implement | Approved 18.12.03.

store with ancillary staff accommodation above
and tractor store.

04/01332 Variation of condition 1 of 99/33564 to allow | Approved 17.12.04.
change of use of Building A to general B1 and B8.

The proposal seeks outline planning permission with all matters reserved for the erection of three
detached dwellings, following the demolition the existing buildings and removal of hard standing.

MAIN RELEVANT STRATEGIES AND POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION
National Planning Policy Framework, Sections 9.
Royal Borough Local Plan

The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are:

Green
Belt

Local Plan GB1,

GB2.

Supplementary planning documents adopted by the Council relevant to the proposal are:

e Sustainable Design and Construction

80



54

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

e Planning for an Ageing Population
e Cookham Village Design Statement: Relevant policies G4.4, Section 6 and G9.1 and G9.2.

More information on these documents can be found at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/pp supplementary planning.htm

Other Local Strategies or Publications
Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are:

° RBWM Landscape Character Assessment - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web pp supplementary planning.htm

° RBWM Parking Strategy - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web pp supplementary planning.htm

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

As this is an outline planning application, the key issue for consideration is whether the principle
of the proposed development is acceptable. Issues relating to appearance, means of access,
landscaping and layout would be considered as part of a reserved matters application.

Policy GB1 of the Local Plan sets out the types of development that are considered appropriate in
the Green Belt. The proposal does not fall within any of these types but this Policy has to some
extent been superseded by the lists of types of appropriate development set out in paragraphs 89
and 90 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), and this is material to the
consideration of the application. Specifically, paragraph 89 of the NPPF explains that limited
infilling or the partial or complete redevelopment of previously developed sites (brownfield land),
whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), which would not have a
greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and the purpose of including land within it than
the existing development, is not inappropriate development in the Green Belt.

Annex 2 of the NPPF explains that the definition of previously developed land excludes land that
“is or has been occupied by agricultural buildings.” However, this definition has created issues of
interpretation at appeal because the vast majority of all land in the UK would have been
agricultural at one point or another. If applied literally, this definition would have the effect of
preventing almost all claims under that section of Paragraph 89 of the NPPF. Given the
Government’s drive to provide more housing such a literal approach could not have been the
intention of the clause when drafted.

In assessing this application, officers looked at other appeal decisions and of particular interest is
the decision in the case of llsom Farm, in which the Inspector considered the definition of
previously developed land in some detail:

“It appears to me that the definition is intended to address the circumstances where agricultural
buildings stand on a site or have been demolished. The agricultural use of the appeal site was
first replaced by the stonemasonry use in 1990 and there have been subsequent planning
permissions, including for B1 use. The site has therefore been used continuously (with planning
permission) for non-agricultural purposes for many years, notwithstanding that the former
agricultural buildings have been reused. These factors lead me to conclude that the use of the
site has genuinely ‘moved on’ from its agricultural origins and that it is reasonable to define the
appeal site as PDL. Accordingly its effective reuse can be encouraged in accordance with
Paragraph 17 of the Framework and this is a material consideration which attracts significant
weight.”

This approach requires the local planning authority to assess the proximity of the agricultural use
as a matter of fact, and it is clearly possible for a site to ‘move on’ beyond being considered to
have had an agricultural use, for the purposes of the NPPF. The llsom Farm case went back to
1990 with the appeal decision being made in 2013.

81


http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.idox.cotswold.gov.uk/WAM14/doc/Appeal%20Decision-619223.pdf?extension=.pdf&id=619223&appid=&location=volume1&contentType=application/pdf&pageCount=1

6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

6.11

6.12

6.13

In the consideration of this application officers have adopted a similar approach in assessing
whether it is reasonable to define the site as previously developed land. The factors that were
weighed up in making this assessment included:

1) Whether the agricultural buildings have been re-used for another purpose.
2) Whether the agricultural use of the land has been replaced by a different use.
3) Whether any different use was granted planning permission.

Having regard to the planning history set out in section 4 of this report, legal advice provided and
further clarification from the applicant regarding the hay making part of the operation, officers are
of the opinion the site has moved on from its agricultural origins and constitutes previously
developed land.

Having established the site is PDL, an assessment of the impact of the proposed development on
the openness of the Green Belt, together with the purposes of including the land within it, when
compared to the existing development, has to be made.

The applicant’s agent has provided the following volume calculations:

Existing (to be Proposed (3 dwellings Difference
demolished) combined) each arranged
over two floors with

basement - indicative

Volume 8701.09 m3 6118.10 m3 -2582.99 m3 = 30% reduction
Floorspace 2494.12 m2 1696 m2 -798.12 m2 = 32% reduction
Footprint 2358 m2 851.6 m2 -1506.4m2 = 64% reduction

From the figures outlined above it can be seen that in terms of total volume of building, floorspace
and footprint, the indicative development would be significantly less than that of the existing.
However, an assessment of scale including the heights of the proposed development against the
existing also needs to be undertaken in order establish whether the proposal would harm the
openness of the area.

As an outline application has been submitted the applicant is not required to submit detailed
elevations of the proposed dwellings. However, paragraph 11.2 of the submitted Planning
Statement indicates that “the proposed dwellings are likely to be full two-storeys in height, with
basement accommodation.” The agent has also advised that illustrative elevations indicate a
maximum height of 8.5m with a partial basement that could add another circa 2.8m to the south-
eastern elevation.

The highest existing building on the site has a ridge height of 7.35m, with the majority of the other
buildings being only single storey. If the proposed three dwellings each had a height as indicated
(8.5m plus basement of 2.8m at the rear) the scale and bulk of the proposed development would
far exceed the existing, irrespective of volume and footprint, and this would have a greater impact
on the openness of the Green Belt, as well as potentially harming the character and appearance
of the area. It is important to stress however that, while the proposal is for three detached
dwellings, the agent’s reference to two-storeys in height and basement are indicative. As such, in
order to ensure the openness of the Green Belt is preserved, it is recommended that a planning
condition be attached to any approval limiting the height of each dwelling to 7.35m when taken
from any point of the natural (existing) ground level, (notwithstanding the levels indicated on the
submitted plans).

With regard to preserving the purposes of the Green Belt, the main issue in this case is to
safeguard the countryside from encroachment (the other purposes not being relevant here). The
indicative layout shows the proposed development will remain within the existing building lines on
the site. Provided this is suitably conditioned and domestic permitted development rights
removed, it is considered that the proposal would safeguard the countryside from encroachment.

82



6.14

6.15

6.16

6.17

6.18

7.1

7.2

In terms of other criteria covered in Policy GB2 and DG1 of the Local Plan, the proposal will not
lead to a material intensification in the level of activity on the site, as the vehicle movements
associated with three family dwellings would be significantly less than for the existing livery
business and commercial units. The dwellings would also be some distance away from the
nearest residential properties and therefore unlikely to cause harm to the amenities of
neighbours.

With regard to the loss of the stables and loss of the commercial units there are no local or
national planning policies that specifically seek to protect these other than if they are local
services and community facilities in villages such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues,
cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship. As this is a privately owned site none of
these community ‘exceptions’ are applicable to the application.

In summary, subject to planning conditions that include restricting the height of the dwellings,
retaining the levels of the site and removing domestic permitted development rights, the proposal
is considered appropriate in the Green Belt, with the character and appearance of the
countryside, which is within an Area of Special Landscape Importance, also protected.

Other Material Considerations

The application is supported by an Ecological Assessment and Bat Survey Report (Aspect
Ecology, September 2015) and this has been examined by the Council’s ecologist. The ecologist
has advised that if the Local Planning Authority is minded to approve the application, conditions
relating to a sensitive lighting strategy, vegetation removal and protective measures for breeding
birds, the provision of nest boxes and biodiversity enhancements, together with gaps at the base
of the fencing to facilitate the movement of wildlife, should be imposed.

The site is located in an Area of Special Landscape Importance. Policy N1 of the Local Plan
advises that proposals which would detract from the special qualities of that landscape will not be
permitted. In particular the Council will resist proposals that would (i) adversely affect both long
distance and local views within these areas; (ii) result in the loss of tree cover and hedgerows or
adversely affect the ecological value of the area; and/or (iii) adversely affect the formal landscape
features and their settings. As the only consideration for this application is whether the principle
of the proposed development is acceptable, with the exception of the ecological impact the other
issues for assessment will be the subject of a reserved matters application.

ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS

The application site is 0.7 hectares and, as such, in line with Policy H3 of the Local Plan a
proportion of the scheme should be for affordable housing. In this case, an off-site contribution of
£191,889 is being sought.

The impact of the proposal on local infrastructure and services would be limited due to its location
and scale. As such, it is not appropriate to seek any further S106 contributions under this
application.

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Comments from interested parties

4 occupiers were notified directly of the application.

The planning officer posted a statutory notice advertising the application at the site on 5t
November 2015.

24 letters were received objecting to the application, summarised as:

83



Where in the

Comment report this is
considered
1. How could this be allowed? Does it mean anyone with a spare bit of 6.2-6.16
land can put in outline planning permission? If this is allowed it would
make a total mockery of the Village Plan.
2. Horse ownership in the area is not on the decline. The equine 6.15
community is as strong as ever. The few livery yards in the area have
long waiting lists. Many people are devastated at the thought of losing
this yard. If Woodlands Farm closes | may not be able to keep my
horse as there is not enough stabling elsewhere.
3. The bat survey should be investigated as residents report a sizeable 6.17
bat population on the site. There are many birds and bats in the area
with a huge house martin and swallow population that breed on site
every year. The loss of their breeding site will affect their survival as a
species.
4. Lack of proper consultation. There appears to have been no real Section 8
consultation with residents. neighbour
notifications and
site notice.
5. Loss of local employment. If the application is approved these 6.15
businesses will have to relocate or close down. These businesses
contribute to the local economy.
The Green Belt should be preserved and protected at all costs 6.2,6.3
The livery business at Woodlands Farm is extremely viable. Thereisa | 6.15
great demand for stables in the area. It would be a significant loss to
Cookham
9. The proposal will cause harm to wildlife habitats. 6.17
10. | Will lead to an increase in traffic congestion. 6.14
11. | Loss of a leisure facility that would be harmful to children’s educational | 6.15
experiences of nature.
12. | Views of Cookham would be significantly harmed. 6.11,6.18
13. | No bat report or ecological report has been submitted. As these relate
to protected
species the
information is
not made public.
6.17
14. | The three-storey buildings will detract from the Green Belt and Area of | 6.11, 6.12.
Outstanding Natural Beauty.
15. | Will increase light pollution in the countryside. 6.17
16. | There is a shortage of good premises for local businesses and this will | 6.15
remove some. The existing businesses on the site could well move
out of the area or close down altogether.
17. | This is inappropriate development in the Green Belt, 6.16
18. | Will result in loss of access to the site to enjoy views of the countryside | This is private
from. property.
19. | Will harm a local catering business due to the loss of critical income if | 6.15
the businesses have to relocate.
20. | Letter from local child aged 7 — would like to be able to keep a horse at | 6.15

84




the stables when she grows up. (Representation includes a drawing
by the writer of horses grazing on the hills and photographs of ‘Snow’
the pony and ‘Fluffy’ the foal.)

Statutory consultees

Where in the
Consultee Comment report this is
considered
Cookham Objection 6.2-6.7
Parish Council | The proposed development does not conform to Para 89 of
the NPPF as the site should not be considered as
‘previously developed land’.
Concerns also exist regarding ecology and 6.17
Highways (access/egress) issues. 6.14
Inappropriate loss of industrial and leisure 6.15
Other consultees and organisations
Where in the
Consultee Comment report this is
considered
Environmental No objections. Recommends informatives relating to dust | Noted.
Protection and smoke controls, together with hours of construction be
attached to any approval.
The Cookham Contrary to paragraph 89 of the NPPF and Policy GB1 of | 6.1 -6.7
Society the Local Plan. If approved all farm buildings would be
able to claim that the site represent acceptable
development under paragraph 89 of the NPPF, which
would be disastrous for the Green Belt.
6.15

The assertion by the applicant that the livery is not thriving
is questioned, and the paddocks are unlikely to be
waterlogged as claimed. Refurbishment of the buildings
has not been adequately considered.

Do not agree with officer’s interpretation of ‘previously
developed land’.

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

e | Appendix A - Site location plan

e | Appendix B — Existing site plan

e | Appendix C — Proposed site plan

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues raised through the
application process and thorough discussion with the applicants. The Case Officer has sought
solutions to these issues where possible to secure a development that improves the economic,

social and environmental conditions of the area, in accordance with NPFF.

In this case the issues have been successfully resolved.

85




10.

10

CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR INCLUSION IF PERMISSION IS GRANTED

An application for the approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning
Authority within three years of the date of this permission

Reason: To accord with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990 (as amended).

The development shall commence within two years from the date of approval of the last of the
reserved matters.

Reason: In accordance with the requirements of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990 (as amended).

No development shall commence until details of the existing ground levels (against OD Newlyn)
measured at regular intervals across the site have been submitted to the Local Planning
Authority. No changes shall be made to the existing levels of the site.

Reason: In the interest of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policies Local Plan GB2, N1

No part of the development shall be higher than 7.35 metres above the original natural ground
level of any part of the site where it is immediately adjacent to the proposed dwellings.

Reason: To protect the openness of the Green Belt and in the interest of the visual amenities of
the area. Relevant Policies Local Plan GB2, N1.

No development shall commence until details of all finished slab levels in relation to ground level
(against OD Newlyn) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason: In the interest of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policy Local Plan DG1.

Irrespective of the provisions of Classes A, B and E of part 1 of Schedule 2 of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-
enacting that Order with or without modification) no enlargement, improvement or any other
alteration (including the erection of any ancillary building within the curtilage) of or to any
dwellinghouse the subject of this permission shall be carried out without planning permission
having first been obtained from the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: The site is in the Green Belt and an Area of Special Landscape Importance and whilst
the development subject to this permission complies with the relevant policies further
development would be unlikely to do so, Relevant Policies - Local Plan GB1, GB2, N1.

Irrespective of the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without
modification) no fence, gate, wall or other means of enclosure shall be erected on the site
without planning permission having first been obtained from the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure the location, form, design and materials are appropriate for the character and
appearance of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1.

Within one month of the substantial completion of the development the buildings shown to be
removed on the approved plans, shall be demolished in its entirety and all materials resulting
from such demolition works shall be removed from the site.

Reason: To prevent the undesirable consolidation of development on the site having regard to its
Green Belt location. Relevant Policies - Local Plan GB1, GB2,

No development shall take place until samples of the materials to be used on the external
surfaces of the development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policy GB2.

No development shall take place until samples and/or a specification of all the finishing materials
to be used in any hard surfacing on the application site have been submitted to and approved in

86



11

12

13

14

15

16

17

writing by the Local Planning Authority and thereafter undertaken in accordance with the
approved scheme.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan GB2.

No development shall commence until details of any proposed external lighting including
specification of the lights, LUX levels and operational times) have been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details and thereafter shall be operational.

Reason: In order to protect the character of the Green Belt. Relevant Policy - Local Plan GB2.

No development shall take place until details of sustainability measures have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall demonstrate how the
development would be efficient in the use of energy, water and materials in accordance with the
Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Sustainable Design & Construction Supplementary
Planning Document. The development shall be carried out and subsequently retained and
maintained in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that measures to make the development sustainable and efficient in the use
of energy, water and materials are included in the development and to comply with the Royal
Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Sustainable Design & Construction Supplementary Planning
Document.

No dwelling shall be occupied until details of the location of a water butt of at least 120L internal
capacity to be installed to intercept rainwater draining from the roof of each dwelling has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and subsequently provided
at each dwelling. The approved facilities shall be retained.

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding and demand for water, increase the level of sustainability
of the development and to comply with Requirement 4 of the Royal Borough of Windsor &
Maidenhead Sustainable Design & Construction Supplementary Planning Document.

No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a Construction
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The approved plan shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Plan
shall provide for the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors, the loading and unloading
of plant and materials and the storage of plant and materials used in constructing the
development.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic. Relevant Policies - Local
Plan T5.

No part of the development shall be occupied until vehicle parking and turning space has been
laid out and surfaced in accordance with a layout that has first been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The space approved shall be kept available for parking
and turning in association with the development.

Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking and turning facilities
in order to reduce the likelihood of roadside parking which could be detrimental to the free flow of
traffic and to highway safety, and to facilitate vehicles entering and leaving the highway in
forward gear. Relevant Policies - Local Plan P4, DG1.

No part of the development shall be occupied until a refuse bin storage area and recycling
facilities have been provided in accordance with details that have first been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These facilities shall be kept available for
use in association with the development at all times.

Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate facilities that allow it to be
serviced in a manner which would not adversely affect the free flow of traffic and highway safety
and to ensure the sustainability of the development. Relevant Policies - Local Plan T5, DG1.

No part of the development shall be occupied until covered and secure cycle parking facilities
have been provided in accordance with details that have first been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. These facilities shall thereafter be kept available for the
parking of cycles in association with the development at all times.

Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to

87



18

19

20

21

22

23

encourage the use of alternative modes of transport. Relevant Policies - Local Plan T7, DG1

Prior to any equipment, machinery or materials being brought onto the site, details of the
measures to protect, during construction, the trees shown to be retained on the approved plan,
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
measures shall be implemented in full prior to any equipment, machinery or materials being
brought onto the site, and thereafter maintained until the completion of all construction work and
all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been permanently removed from the site.
These measures shall include fencing in accordance with British Standard 5837. Nothing shall
be stored or placed in any area fenced in accordance with this condition and the ground levels
within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation be made, without the prior
written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To protect trees which contribute to the visual amenities of the site and surrounding
area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1, N6.

No tree or hedgerow shown to be retained in the approved plans shall be cut down, uprooted or
destroyed, nor shall any retained tree be lopped or topped other than in accordance with the
approved plans and particulars or without the prior written approval of the Local Planning
Authority, until five years from the date of occupation of the building for its permitted use. Any
topping or lopping approved shall be carried out in accordance with British Standard 3998 Tree
work. If any retained tree is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, another tree shall be
planted in the immediate vicinity and that tree shall be of the same size and species unless the
Local Planning Authority give its prior written consent to any variation.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan
DG1, N6.

No development shall commence until details of the siting and design of all walls, fencing or any
other means of enclosure (including any retaining walls) have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The design of any means of enclosure around the site
and between plots should include a gap at the base to facilitate the movement of wildlife through
the site into adjacent areas. Such walls, fencing or other means of enclosure as may be
approved shall be erected before first occupation of the development unless the prior written
approval of the Local Planning Authority to any variation has been obtained.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory resultant appearance and standard of amenity of the site and
the surrounding area and in the intersts of biodiversity. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1,
NPPF paragraph 109.

No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft landscape works, have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and these works shall
be carried out as approved within the first planting season following the substantial completion of
the development and retained in accordance with the approved details. If within a period of five
years from the date of planting of any tree or shrub shown on the approved landscaping plan,
that tree or shrub, or any tree or shrub planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted or
destroyed or dies, or becomes seriously damaged or defective, another tree or shrub of the
same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted in the immediate vicinity, unless
the Local Planning Authority gives its prior written consent to any variation.

Reason: To ensure a form of development that maintains, and contributes positively to, the
character and appearance of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1.

No development shall commence until a sensitive lighting strategy has been submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details

Reason: In order to protect bats by ensuring lighting from the development is directed away
from ecologically sensitive areas. Relevant Policy - NPPF Paragraph 125.

No clearance of the site (including demolition) shall be undertaken during 1st March and 31st
August inclusive (the bird nesting season). Should this not be possible, any vegetation and/or
suitable features to be removed should first be checked by a suitably qualified ecologist in order
to determine the location of nests prior to removal. Any active nests should be cordoned off and
protected until the end of the nesting season or until the birds have fledged (as recommended in

88



24

25

26

the submitted Ecological Assessment and Bat Survey Report, (Aspect Ecology, September
2015)
Reason: In order to protect bird nesting habitats. Relevant policy - NPPF, Paragraph 109.

No development shall commence until full details of biodiversity enhancements have been
submitted to and approved in writing by the council. Biodiversity enhancements shall include but
not be limited to: details of swallow nest boxes, other nest box designs and bat boxes, schedule
of native species planting and retained trees and provision of log piles. The biodiversity
enhancements shall be retained thereafter in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To accord with the paragraph 109 of the NPPF.

No development shall commence until an invasive non-native species method statement full is
submitted to and approved in writing by the council. The method statement shall include
measures for the containment, control and removal of these species. The measures shall be
implemented as approved.

Reason: To accord with the paragraph 109 of the NPPF.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans
listed below.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
particulars and plans.

89



This page is intentionally left blank



i,

SPRING LANE

91

APPENDIX A



e

e e ,///
METRETT

i
ém’; i , /
E-g.;_";§5§|||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||||j/ f
ez nnnm LTI T T

e T T T

’ ) : \‘\
"é ;

=9
)
Nz

e "iﬁ
o
=)

‘J?& d

—{
P
il ~.‘r

_ ‘? -
/()

5‘
XY
S0
/
O

e

A ‘,I"
)

APPENDIX B — EXISTING SITE PLAN

92



1.8m close bocrded tenca

93

APPENDIX C—- PROPOSED SITE PLAN

13m

10

D 2% 8



This page is intentionally left blank



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD
PLANNING COMMITTEE

MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

16 March 2016 Item: 5

Application 15/03901/FULL

No.:

Location: Former Stiefel Laboratories (Ireland) Ltd Whitebrook Park 68 Lower Cookham Road
Maidenhead

Proposal: Construction of a new part two/three storey office (use class B1) building with
associated landscaping, tree works and car parking following demolition of existing
buildings

Applicant: The Royal London Mutual Insurance Society Limited

Agent: Ms Amy Lee -WYG

Parish/Ward: Maidenhead Riverside Ward

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Antonia Liu on 01628 796697 or at
antonia.liu@rbwm.gov.uk

1. SUMMARY

a. The proposal is for is to demolish the existing buildings and erect a part two-storey, part three
storey office (use class B1) with associated car parking, landscaping and tree works. Consent for
the scheme had previously been granted permission under 09/02484/FULL and 12/03074/FULL.

b. The preferred location for office development would be within the town centre to support its
vitality and viability, however, the applicant has submitted an assessment of sequentially
preferable sites both within and at the edge of the town centre and there are no available,
suitable or viable sites in a sequentially preferable location. In terms of impact on the vitality of
Maidenhead town centre, it is unlikely to be detrimental. There is also an identified need for
additional office development within the Borough

C. The application site lies within an area of high probability of flooding. The proposal is considered
to pass a sequential test which demonstrates that there are no available, suitable or viable sites
in a sequentially preferable location. The submitted Flood Risk Assessment demonstrates that
the proposed development does not increase flood risk elsewhere and is safe over its lifetime,
and a number of sustainability measures have also been considered and incorporated into the
design of development. An acceptable Sustainable Drainage System has been proposed that
meets national technical standards.

d. The proposed development would not be overly prominent or intrusive when viewed from Lower
Cookham Road or the Thames footpath to the east as the trees act as a significant barrier to
views. On higher land above the Thames from the woodland within the grounds of the Cliveden
Estate, views would be from a significant distance so there would be not significant impact. In
general the design and materials are conventional for an office building and therefore not
considered overly incongruous.

e. The nearest neighbouring properties are at no. 4 and 5 Islet Park Drive. The separation distance
and oblique angles is considered to sufficiently mitigate any undue visual intrusion, loss of light
and loss of privacy as a result of the proposal.

f. Comments from the Local Highway Authority are still pending and any comments received shall
be reported in an update. However, it is considered that the layout of the internal access road, the
number and size of the car parking bays, the reversing distance for cars from the parking spaces
are acceptable. In terms of the main access from Whitebrook Business Park onto the A4094 the
visibility splays are adequate.

95




3.1

3.2

Ecological surveys have been undertaken at this site in 2009 and 2012 in support of the two
previous applications. During an inspection survey undertaken in 2015 it was concluded that the
building supported bat roosts and emergence survey was recommended within the ecologists
report to update the 2012 surveys, to be carried out between April and September inclusive. It is
recommended that this survey is undertaken prior to a decision to ensure compensatory roosts of
sufficient size and appropriate to the species can be accommodated at the site within the
proposed development. There are no objections to the scheme in relation to breeding birds,
badgers and bio-diversity enhancements.

The original planning permission for this site in 2009 and the 2013 renewal were granted subject
to a S106 legal agreement securing contributions towards highways/public transport, leisure,
public art / heritage, economic development, air quality and securing a Public Footpath Creation
Agreement between the Council and adjacent landowners for the missing link of the footpath
between Lower Cookham Road and the Thames Path National Trail. The applicant has confirmed
that they are willing to undertake a deed of variation in this respect.

It is recommended the Panel authorises the Borough Planning Manager:

1. | To grant planning permission subject to: no substantive objection to the proposal
being received from the Highway Authority; on the satisfactory completion of an
up-to-date dusk emergence and dawn return to roost bat survey on the buildings
within the site with details and approval of suitable bat mitigation strategy where
appropriate; an undertaking to secure a deed of variation of the S106 under
planning permission 12/03074/FULL; and, the conditions listed in Section 9 of this
report.

2 | To refuse planning permission if a substantive objection to the proposal is made by
the Highway Authority and Ecologist and has not been resolved by 31 May 2016, an
undertaking to secure a deed of variation of the S106 under planning permission
12/03074/FULL has not been satisfactorily completed by 31 May 2016 for the reason
that the proposed development would not be accompanied by associated
infrastructure improvements.

REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

e The Council’'s Constitution does not give the Borough Planning Manager delegated powers to
determine the application in the way recommended; such decisions can only be made by the
Panel.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

The application site lies within the eastern side of Whitebrook Business Park, which is on the
north eastern extremity of the settlement of Maidenhead. On the site is a predominately 2 storey
brick built building with a single storey element attached to the north elevation of the building. In
addition to the main building, on the northern boundary is a former stable building, storage
building and enclosures containing plant equipment. The majority of the car parking can be found
to the west of the main building with some parking to the east. There are two vehicular access
points into the site from the shared driveway into the Business Park from Lower Cookham Road.

The northern boundary of the site is marked by a 1.8m high close boarded fence beyond which is
a belt of trees approximately 10-12m wide and then a flat plain of fields. The eastern boundary is
marked by a 1.8m high chain link fence beyond which is a sports field, a belt of trees, the river
and then a wooded hillside forming part of the Cliveden Estate. To the south of the application
site are residential properties and a car park that serves the remainder of the business park. To
the north is a 2 storey building occupied by Hitachi and other buildings that form part of the
business part and beyond these is Lower Cookham Road.

96



41

5.1

5.2

5.3

5.4

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

Ref.

Description

Decision and Date

12/03074/FULL

Construction of a new part two/three storey office
(B1 use class) building with associated
landscaping, tree works and car parking following
the demolition of existing buildings (renewal of

planning permission 09/02484)

Approved — 05.02.2013

09/02484/FULL

Construction of a new part two/three storey office
(B1 use class) building with associated
landscaping, tree works and car parking following
the demolition of existing buildings

Approved — 24.11.2009

09/00376/FULL

Construction of three storey office (B1 use class)
building with associated landscaping and car
parking following demolition of existing buildings

Refused — 29.05.2009

The proposal is to demolish the existing buildings and erect a part two-storey, part three storey
office (use class B1) with associated car parking, landscaping and tree works.

MAIN RELEVANT STRATEGIES AND POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

National Planning Policy Framework, Section 2 (Ensuring the vitality of town centres), 7
(Requiring good design), 10 (Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal
change) and 11 (Conserving and enhancing the natural environment).

Royal Borough Local Plan

The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are:

Within settlement High risk of Protected Highways/Parking
area flooding Trees issues
Local Plan DG1, E10, NAP3 F1 N6 T5, P4

Supplementary planning documents adopted by the Council relevant to the proposal are:

e Planning Obligations and Developer Contributions

e Interpretation of Policy F1 — Area Liable to Flood
e Sustainable Design and Construction

More information on these documents can be found at:

http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/pp supplementary planning.htm

Other Local Strategies or Publications

Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are:

° RBWM Parking Strategy - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web pp supplementary planning.htm

° RBWM Strategic Flood Risk Assessment - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web pp supplementary planning.htm

97



http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp_supplementary_planning.htm

6.

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

Vi

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

The key issues for consideration are:

The principle of the development;

Flooding;

The impact on the character of the area;

Impact upon the living conditions of occupiers of neighbouring properties;
Highway matters;

Other material considerations

Principle of development

The application site is considered to be out of centre as it is neither within nor at the edge of the
commercial boundary as identified in the Maidenhead Town Centre Area Action Plan or the
commercial boundary as identified in the Proposals Map to the Local Plan. One of the objectives
of the NPPF is ensuring the vitality of town centres and the NPPF directs office development to
town centres to ensure their vitality. The current of the Local Plan is silent in respect of the
locational approach for office uses and it does not allocate suitable sites for such uses. The
NPPF advises that Local Planning Authorities should apply a sequential test to planning
applications for town centre uses that are not within existing centres and not in accordance with
an up-to-date plan, and for development over a threshold of 2,500sgm such as this an impact
assessment on the town centre would be required. The application is accompanied by a
sequential test which updates the sequential test documents submitted under 09/02484/FULL
and 12/03074/FULL, and includes a town centre impact assessment.

The Sequential Test demonstrates that a review has been undertaken of a number of sites within
Maidenhead town centre, at its edge and out of centre to establish whether there are any other
sequentially preferable sites that are suitable, available and viable. As there is demand for office
space in Maidenhead, as demonstrated by the Borough's Employment Land Review (ELR), a
Borough wide assessment is not considered necessary in this case. The assessment shows that
there are no alternative sites suitable, available and viable in a sequentially preferable location.
On this basis the sequential test is passed.

In terms of the impact on Maidenhead town centre, the main consideration is the cumulative
impact of a number of office developments outside the town centre. In this respect, the most
recent study (Annual Monitoring Review 2011) indicated that while 8,482sqm (GEA) was
completed in Maidenhead town centre only 300sgm (GEA) was delivered in the rest of the
borough (excluding Windsor town centre). Given the overall limited amount of out of town office
development, the cumulative effect of the proposal and existing out of town office development
on viability and vitality of Maidenhead town centre is unlikely to be detrimental.

In the Borough’s ELR from 2009 shows that there is an identified supply requirement for
85,300sgm of office floorspace up to 2026. The emerging ELR is also indicating there is a
requirement for a further supply of office floorspace. The proposal would provide a net addition of
3847sgm which will assist in meeting the quantitative demand. In addition office demand has
focused on new and good second hand space and the ELR notes that older stock is not in as
high demand. The new office building would therefore go to meeting qualitative demand.

Flooding

Sequential Assessment

The application sites is located within the 1% Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP) (1 in 100
year) plus 20% allowance for climate changﬁélood extent. This is classified by the National



6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and the associated National Planning Policy Guidance
(NPPG) as flood zone 3 and as having a ‘high probability’ of flooding from rivers. National
planning policy seeks to direct development to the lowest risk areas of flooding first, before
considering land in the medium (FZ2) and high (FZ3) probability of flooding classifications. A
sequential assessment for the site shows that no available sites have been identified within
Flood Zone 1 and 2 that could accommodate the proposal within the Borough. The sequential
assessment also notes that the NPPG, Table 3: ‘flood risk vulnerability and flood zone
compatibility’ confirms that offices fall into the ‘less vulnerable’ category and so this development
is not considered inappropriate in this flood zone. The proposal is considered to pass the
sequential test.

Flood Risk

The application includes a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) to demonstrate that the proposed
development does not increase flood risk elsewhere and is safe over its lifetime. In this case
there will be an increase in the amount of built form compared to the existing situation and the
applicant proposes flood compensation. Level for level floodplain compensation is the preferred
method of mitigation and it requires land on the edge of the floodplain and above the 1% AEP
plus 20% allowance for climate change flood extent to be achievable. The site of the proposed
development is fully located within the 1% AEP plus 20% allowance for climate change flood
extent. It is therefore consider volumetric compensation to be acceptable. The volume of
floodplain storage gained by the scheme is greater than the volume lost by the increase in built
footprint caused by the development consequently there will be no increase in flood risk to the
surrounding area. In terms of the development being safe over its lifetime flood risk arises from
water entering the site from the south. The modelling data in the submitted Flood Risk
Assessment shows that if flooding occurs it will therefore occur slowly and with several days’
notice. The modelling also shows that the site is not at risk of flooding in an event less extreme
than 1 in 50, while the building floor level and utilities will be resilient or above flood level even in
an extreme 1 in 100 year event with climate change allowance (in excess of the 60 year lifetime
of a commercial development). A number of sustainability measures have also been considered
and incorporated into the design of development, which would improve the Borough'’s stock of
sustainable office development.

The Environment Agency raises no objections subject to condition 22 requiring that the approved
development is carried out in accordance with the approved FRA including the mitigation
measures detailed within the FRA prior to occupation.

Sustainable Drainage

A Ministerial Statement from December 2014 confirms the Government’s commitment to
protecting people from flood risk. This Statement was as a result of an independent review into
the causes of the 2007 floods which concluded that sustainable drainage systems (SuDS) were
an effective way to reduce the risk of ‘flash flooding’. Such flooding occurs when rainwater rapidly
flows into the public sewerage and drainage system which then causes overloading and back-up
of water to the surface. Since April 2015 Local Planning Authorities have assumed responsibility
for SuDS. A Drainage Design Report has been submitted and the details within are considered
adequate, meeting the national technical standards, and the Local Lead Flood Authority has
raised no objection on this basis. Condition 19 is recommended to secure the approved SuDs
and future management to accord with paragraph 103 of the NPPF.

Impact on the character of the area

The NPPF states that the government attaches great importance to the design of the built
environment as good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is indivisible from good
planning and should contribute positively to making places better for people. Local Plan policy
E10 states that in considering planning applications for business development the Local Planning
Authority should have regard to the layout of the site, the design, scale and materials of the
building should be appropriate for the area in which they are located, and should not result in an
undesirable intensification. DG1 states %t the design of new buildings should be compatible



6.11

6.12

6.13

6.14

6.15

6.16

with the scale, height, lines and materials of adjacent properties, where appropriate should
include landscaping schemes, and harm should not be caused to the character of the
surrounding area through development which is cramped or which result in the loss of important
features that contribute positively to the area.

The proposed offices would be arranged over three floors within 2 wings (east and west) off a
central atrium. The atrium will be approximately 15m in height and the 2 wings would be
approximately 13m in height. The west wing would be approximately 47 in length and 18 wide,
while the east wind would measure approximately 41m in length and 18m in width. The west,
east and north of the building will have a predominately glazed curtain wall with clear glass. The
blank parts of the west, east and north elevations will be constructed of silver anodized
aluminium louvers and ceramic tile rain screen panelling finished in a deep blue colour. The south
elevation will be glazed to the atrium with the wings of the building having blank facades of
ceramic tiles cladding in a deep blue accented with a vertical cream ‘coach lines’.

Beyond the northern and eastern boundary of the site is countryside that forms part of the Green
The existing belt of trees some 10m deep just beyond the northern boundary of the application
site contributes to the undeveloped ‘soft’ edge of the settlement which is characteristic to both
sides of Lower Cookham Road and the rural character of the Green Belt in general. The west
wing of the proposed building would be sited further west and to the south compared to the
existing building, and would be visible through the thinner parts of the tree belt, but it is not
considered to be overly prominent or intrusive when viewed from Lower Cookham Road as the
trees act as a significant barrier to views from this vantage point. Control of any artificial lighting
emitting from the predominately glazed building can be controlled by condition 13 to ensure no
light pollution and thereby visual intrusion in this respect. The development would also be
screened from the Thames footpath to the east of the site by a dense belt of trees. On higher
land above the Thames the building would be visible from the woodland, which lies within the
grounds of the Cliveden Estate, but at a distance and it would be seen in the foreground of the
Hitachi building. In addition, there is an opportunity to plant a hedge and native trees along the
eastern boundary, which would enhance the parkland setting. These factors are considered to
weigh in favour of the replacement development and can be secured by condition 5.

The footprint of the building is considered to be proportionate to the plot and therefore would not
be cramped within the site. In addition to the demolition of the unsightly clutter of plant spaces
and stables on the northern boundary the outlook into the site from the Green Belt will be greatly
enhanced, opening even greater space around the building from within the site. In general the
design and materials are conventional for an office building and therefore not considered overly
incongruous.

Overall, the proposal is not considered to harm the visual amenities of the adjoining,
undeveloped countryside or result in overdevelopment. The proposal therefore accords with the
NPPF and policies E10 and DG1 of the Local Plan.

Impact upon neighbouring properties

Core principle 4 of the NPPF seeks to ensure that development achieves a good standard of
amenity for existing and future occupants of land and buildings. Local Plan policy E10 states that
the layout of sites and the design and scale of any building should not be unneighbourly. It is
considered that the proposal complies with this policy in relation to the nearest neighbouring
properties at no. 4 and 5 Islet Park Drive.

The nearest parts of the building to these neighbouring properties are the atrium and east wing.
The atrium is fully glazed but given the separation distance of approximately 45m to the rear
facing windows and 20m distance to the rear boundary of these neighbouring properties, together
with the oblique angle, it is considered that there will be no unreasonable level of overlooking.
The south elevation of the east wing, which faces these neighbours, would be blank with plant
rooms behind the wall. However, it is recommended that rights to inset windows be removed by
condition 17. The top floor of the eastern wing of the building has also been moved backwards in
part from a perpendicular position by 13.5 degrees so that the outlook for future office workers
will be north easterly and away from the properties on Islet Park Drive.

100



6.17

6.18

6.19

6.20

6.21

6.22

6.23

The nearest part of the building is 13m in height and given the separation distance from the
properties on Islet Park Drive, is not considered to result in any unreasonable loss of light or
visual intrusion.

External lighting can be controlled through condition 12 of any planning permission.
Highway matters

Comments from the Local Highway Authority are still pending and any comments received shall
be reported in an update. Vehicles would enter and exit the site via an existing access off Lower
Cookham Road and through the Hitachi car park. Car parking is provided at a ratio of 1 space per
35 m2 of floor space totalling 223 spaces with 11 allocated disabled parking spaces located
immediately outside the main entrance. 60 cycle parking are provided immediately within the
entrance gate, at a ratio of 1 space per 10 employees.

The layout of the internal access road, the size of the car parking bays, the reversing distance for
cars from the parking spaces is considered acceptable. In terms of the main access from
Whitebrook Business Park onto the A4094 the visibility splays are adequate. Condition 26 is
recommended so that the part of the access road in the southern part of the site shown to be
restricted for emergency and service vehicle access is only used and retained for such. The total
number of car parking spaces is 202, which equates to 1 space per 37sgm of office floorspace.
This is meets the maximum level recommended for this site, which is located in an area of poor
accessibility according to the Council’'s Parking Strategy. A total of 11 of the 202 spaces will be
for disabled persons, which is to the required standard. It is recommended that the level of car
parking be reduced by 5% over 4 years from first occupation and that land be landscaped and
the landscaping retained in perpetuity to encourage sustainable travel methods, which can be
secured by condition 25. A total number of 10 motocycle parking spaces and 60 cycle parking
spaces are proposed, which are considered acceptable and can be secured with condition 24.

Other Material Considerations

Ecology

Ecology surveys had been undertaken at this site in 2009 and 2012 in support of the two previous
applications. In 2009 a bat survey did not reveal any bats emerging or returning to roots at the
site. An updated bat survey in 2012 recorded Soprano Pipistrelle bats emerging from building
B1b confirming roosts within the building. During an inspection survey undertaken in 2015 it was
concluded that the building supported bat roosts and emergence survey was recommended
within the ecologists report to update the 2012 surveys, to be carried out between April and
September inclusive. It is recommended that this survey is undertaken prior to a decision to
ensure compensatory roosts of sufficient size and appropriate to the species can be
accommodated at the site within the proposed development. There are no objections to the
scheme in relation to breeding birds, badgers and bio-diversity enhancements.

Trees

There are a number of trees on site. A revised tree protection plan is required to take into
account changes in tree condition and to accord with the revised BS5837. An arboriculture
method statement including tree retention and protection plan, and landscaping scheme should
be secured by condition 5, 6, 20 and 21.

Archaeology

The application site covers approximately 1.2ha which has large areas of undeveloped land

within it. It also lies within an area of archaeological potential. The proposed development will
provide for works that would impact on currently undeveloped areas of the site that have the
potential to contain buried archaeological remains. It is considered that these impacts can be
mitigated by an appropriate programme of archaeological work. In view of the previous impacts
on parts of the site, such work can be achieved post-determination should the scheme be
permitted. This is in accordance with Paragraph 141 of the NPPF which states that local planning

101



6.24

6.25

6.26

authorities should ‘require developers to record and advance understanding of the significance of
any heritage assets to be lost (wholly or in part) in a manner proportionate to their importance
and the impact, and to make this evidence (and any archive generated) publicly accessible’.
Condition 9 is therefore recommended.

Sustainable design and construction

The Council has an adopted ‘Sustainable Design and Construction’ Supplementary Planning
Document which seeks to improve the sustainability performance of buildings and spaces
through their construction and subsequent use and is a material consideration in the assessment
The SPD makes clear that applications submitted without any evidence of how issues of
sustainability have been considered and appropriate actions taken risk being refused. The
submitted Sustainability and Energy Report outlines that how sustainable design measures have
been considered and incorporated into the development and compliance can be secured by
condition 11.

S106 Deed of Variation

The original planning permission and the 2013 renewal were granted subject to a S106 legal
agreement securing contributions towards highways/public transport, leisure, public art /
heritage, economic development, air quality and securing a Public Footpath Creation Agreement
between the Council and adjacent landowners for the missing link of the footpath between Lower
Cookham Road and the Thames Path National Trail. The applicant has confirmed that they are
willing to undertake a deed of variation in this respect.

Contaminated Land

The site lies within an area of contaminated land. To comply with policy NAP3 it is s
recommended that condition 16 is attached to any permission including the submission and
approval of a scheme of remediation and its implementation, including the reporting of
unexpected contamination and long term monitoring and maintenance.

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Comments from interested parties

21 occupiers were notified directly of the application. The application was advertised in the
Maidenhead & Windsor Advertiser on 10.12.2015. The planning officer posted a statutory notice
advertising the application at the site on 22.12.2015.

1 letter were received supporting the application, summarised as:

Where in the
Comment report this is
considered
1. | East Berks Ramblers supports the proposal on the basis of the Para. 6.25
proposed improvements of a public right of way along the northern
boundary of the site, linking Lower Cookham Road to the Thames Path.
Other consultees and organisations
Where in the
Consultee Comment report this is
considered
Berkshire No objection subject to conditions. Para. 6.23
Archaeology
Environmental No objection subject to condition. Para. 6.26
Protection

102




9.

Ecology

Bats - Without further information on the population of
bats on site that it is possible to accommodate
compensatory roots of sufficient size and appropriate
for the species at the site within the proposed
development. Further information, which should
include up-to-date dusk emergence and dawn return
to roost surveys on the buildings within the site,
should be provided to the Local Planning Authority
prior to the determination of this application. The
surveys should be undertaken at the appropriate time
of year. In addition, details of a suitable mitigation
strategy should also be provided.

Badgers — The setts were re-surveyed in 2015 and
were recorded as being disused. The applicant’s
ecologist has recommended that the setts should be
re-surveyed prior to construction commencing, which
can be secured by condition.

Breeding Birds - The trees, shrubs and hedgerows on
site have the potential to support breeding birds. The
applicant’'s ecologist has provided information with
regards to timing of vegetation removal and protective
measures with regards to breeding birds, which
should be secured by condition.

Bio-diversity — the application presents opportunities
to incorporate features which would be beneficial to
wildlife, which can be secured by condition.

Para. 6.21

Environment
Agency

No objection subject to conditions

Para. 6.7 — 6.8

Arboriculture Officer

It is likely that there would be no objections but an up-
to-date tree survey and tree protection plan would
need to be submitted, along with indicative planting,
so as to take into account any changes in tree
condition and to accord with the revised BS5837.
Conditions applied under 09/02484 in relation to trees
and landscaping would need to be revised in relation
to the revised BS5837.

Para. 6.22

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

e Appendix A - Site location plan

e Appendix B — Proposed Floor Plans

e Appendix C — Proposed Elevations

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues raised through the
application process and thorough discussion with the applicants. The Case Officer has sought
solutions to these issues where possible to secure a development that improves the economic,
social and environmental conditions of the area, in accordance with NPFF.

In this case the issues have not been successfully resolved.

CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR INCLUSION IF PERMISSION IS GRANTED

103




The development hereby permitted shall be commenced within three years from the date of this
permission.

Reason: To accord with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended).

No development shall take place until samples of the materials to be used on the external
surfaces of the development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policy - Local Plan DG1

The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with the details of slab
levels as shown on drawing no. PL_015 Rev B; PL_016 Rev A; PL_020 Rev A; and, PL_021
Rev A.

Reason: In the interests of the character and appearance of the area, and to prevent an
increased risk of flooding elsewhere due to impedance of flood flows and reduction of floodwater
storage capacity. . Relevant Policy - Local Plan DG1 and F1

No development shall take place until samples and/or a specification of all the finishing materials
to be used in any hard surfacing on the application site have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority and the development shall be undertaken in accordance
with the approved scheme.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1.

No development shall take place until full details of soft landscape works, including a hedge and
native trees along the eastern boundary, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the
Local Planning Authority and these works shall be carried out as approved within the first
planting season following the substantial completion of the development and retained in
accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure a form of development that maintains, and contributes positively to, the
character and appearance of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1.

No development shall take place until a landscape management plan including long-term design
objectives, management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for a minimum period of 5
years have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan
shall cover any areas of existing landscaping, including woodlands, and all areas of proposed
landscaping within and outside of the application site, and shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure the long term management of the landscaped setting of the development
and to ensure it contributes positively to the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Polices -
Local Plan DGH1.

If within a period of five years from the date of planting of any tree or shrub shown on the
approved landscaping plan or longer if agreed in the Landscape Management Plan, that tree or
shrub, or any tree or shrub planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted or destroyed or
dies, or becomes seriously damaged or defective, another tree or shrub of the same species and
size as that originally planted shall be planted in the immediate vicinity, unless the Local
Planning Authority gives its prior written approval to any variation.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory and continuing standard of amenities are provided and
maintained in connection with the development. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1, N6.

Irrespective of the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that Order with or without
modification) no fence, gate, wall or other means of enclosure shall be erected on the east facing
boundary of the application site without planning permission having first been obtained from the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the location, form, design and materials are appropriate for the character and
appearance of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1 and GB2.

No development shall take place, other than demolition to ground level, until the applicant or

104



10

11

12

13

14

15

16

their agents or successors in title have secured the implementation of a programme of
archaeological work, which may comprise more than one phase of investigation, in accordance
with a written scheme of investigation, which has been submitted by the applicant and approved
by the planning authority.

Reason: The site lies in an area of archaeological potential, particularly in relation to the
prehistoric and Roman settlement and land use of this part of the Thames Valley. The potential
impacts can be mitigated by a programme of archaeological work in accordance with national
and local planning policy. Berkshire Archaeology would be pleased to discuss an appropriate
programme of archaeological work with the applicant or their archaeological consultant. It is
likely that an initial phase of exploratory investigation will be required to establish the
archaeological potential of the site and to enable an informed mitigation strategy to be agreed.
This may involve a further phase of investigation prior to the commencement of development.
The applicant is therefore advised to provide for such an eventuality in their programme and to
seek appropriate advice on the potential duration and resources required

No development, including any demolition works, shall take place until a Site Waste
Management Plan confirming how any demolition and construction waste arising from the
development will be recovered and reused on the site or on other sites, has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be implemented
in accordance with the approved plan.

Reason: To ensure that the development would include the re-use of limited resources, to
ensure that the amount of waste for landfill is reduced and to comply with Requirement 11 of the
Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Sustainable Design & Construction Supplementary
Planning Document.

The development shall be carried out and maintained to achieve a reduction in its annual energy
demand and Carbon Dioxide emissions through the use of low and zero carbon technologies as
specified in the 'Planning Sustainability Report and Energy Statement' by MTT/Sustain dated
17.11. 2015.

Reason: To ensure that the development would include a reduction in energy demand and to
comply with Requirements 2 and 3 of the Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Sustainable
Design & Construction Supplementary Planning Document.

No external lighting shall be installed on the building or within the site unless it is in accordance
with details which have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority; such details shall include location, height and direction of light sources and intensity of
illumination. Any lighting which is so installed shall not thereafter be altered without the prior
approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To prevent light pollution of the surrounding area and to protect the character and
appearance of the adjoining Green Belt. Relevant Policy - Local Plan Policy E10 and GB2.

A motorised blind shall be installed and maintained to screen the top floor of the northern facing
elevation of the building and shall be under control of a light sensor that will close when ambient
external light levels drop at dusk and will not permit the blind to open until ambient light levels
rise at dawn.

Reason: To protect the character and appearance of the adjoining Green Belt. Relevant Policies

- Local Plan E10 and GB2.

The noise levels on the southern boundary of the site and the boundaries with nos 4 and 5 Islet
Park Drive shall not at any time as a result of this development exceed Laeq 55dBA when
measured over any 15 minute period.

Reason: To protect the amenities of the area. Relevant Policy Local Plan NAP3.

Details, including acoustic specifications, of all plant associated with air moving equipment,
compressors, generators or plant or equipment of a like kind to be installed within the site, shall
be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority before installation.

Reason: To protect the residential amenities of the area. Relevant Policy Local Plan E10 and

NAP3.

Unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority, development other than that required

105



27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

to be carried out as part of an approved scheme of remediation must not commence until
requirement 27 to 30 have been complied with. If unexpected contamination is found after
development has begun, development must be halted on that part of the site affected by the
unexpected contamination to the extent specified by the Local Planning Authority in writing until
requirement 30 has been complied with in relation to that contamination.

An investigation and risk assessment, in addition to any assessment provided with the planning
application, must be completed in accordance with a scheme to assess the nature and extent of
any contamination on the site, whether or not it originates on the site. The contents of the
scheme are subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The investigation
and risk assessment must be undertaken by competent persons and a written report of the
findings must be produced. The written report is subject to the approval in writing of the Local
Planning Authority. The report of the findings must include:

a survey of the extent, scale and nature of contamination;

an assessment of the potential risks to:

human health,

property (existing or proposed) including buildings, crops, livestock, adjoining land,
groundwaters and surface waters,

ecological systems,

archaeological sites and ancient monuments:

an appraisal of remedial options, and proposal of preferred option(s).

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's "Model
procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11".

A detailed remediation scheme to bring the site to a condition suitable for intended use by
removing unacceptable risks to human health, buildings and other property and the natural and
historical environment must be prepared, and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local
Planning Authority. The scheme must include all works to be undertaken, proposed remediation
objectives and remediation criteria, timetable of works and site management procedures. The
scheme must ensure that the site will not qualify as contaminated land under Part 2A of the
Environmental Protection Act 1990 in relation to the intended use of the land after remediation.

The approved remediation scheme must be carried out in accordance with its terms prior to the
commencement of development other than that required to carry out remediation, unless
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Local Planning Authority must
be given two weeks written notification of commencement of the remediation scheme works.

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a verification
report (referred to in PPS23 as a validation report) that demonstrates the effectiveness of the
remediation carried out must be produced, and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local
Planning Authority.

In the event that contamination is found at anytime when carrying out the approved development
that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning
Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the
requirements of requirement 27, and where remediation is necessary a remediation scheme
must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of requirement 28, which is the subject of
the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority.

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a verification
report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning
Authority in accordance with requirement 29.

A monitoring and maintenance scheme to include monitoring the long-term effectiveness of the
proposed remediation over a period of 5 years, and the provision of reports on the same shall be
submitted to the Local Planning Authority for written approval.

Following completion of the measures identified in that scheme and when the remediation
objectives have been achieved, reports that demonstrate the effectiveness of the monitoring and

106



17

18

19

20

21

22

maintenance carried out must be produced and submitted to the Local Planning Authority.

This must be conducted in accordance with DEFRA and the Environment Agency's = Model
Procedures for the Management of Land Contamination, CLR 11'.

Reason: For requirement 26 to 31:To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future
users of the land and the neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be carried out
safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors. Relevant
Policy Local Plan NAP4.

Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 55 of The Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as
amended), no window or opening, other than those shown on the approved drawings shall be
inserted in the south-facing elevation of the east wing at first floor level or above.

Reason: To prevent overlooking and loss of privacy to neighbouring occupiers. Relevant Policy:
Local Plan - E10.

The flat roof area of the building hereby approved shall not be used as a balcony, roof garden or
similar amenity area without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To prevent overlooking and loss of privacy in the interests of the residential amenities of
the neighbouring properties. Relevant Policy: Local Plan - E10.

The development shall be carried out and maintained as specified in 'Surface Water Drainage
Design Report' by Reuby and Stagg Ltd dated 20.11.2015 including the maintenance
arrangements of proposed drainage system which shall be followed throughout the lifetime of the
development.

Reason: To prevent the increased risk of flooding, to improve and protect water quality, improve
habitat and amenity and ensure future maintenance of the surface water drainage system in
accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework. (NPPF)

With regard to the protection of trees to be retained on the site:a) No development or other
operation (including site clearance) shall commence on the site until a scheme (herein called the
Approved Arboricultural Method Statement) that provides for the retention and protection of
trees, shrubs and hedges growing on or adjacent to the site, including details of arboricultural
supervision during construction works, has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the
Local Planning Authority. No development or other operations shall take place except in
complete accordance with the approved protection scheme.b) No operations shall commence on
site in connection with development hereby approved (including any tree felling, tree pruning,
demolition works, soil moving or any other operation involving the use of motorised vehicles or
construction machinery) until the tree protection works required by the Approved Arboricultural
Method Statement are in place on site.c) The fencing or other works which are part of the
approved scheme shall not be moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works
including external works have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus
materials removed from the site, unless the prior approval of the local planning authority has first
been sought and obtained.

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory and continuing standard of amenities are provided and
maintained in connection with the development. Relevant Policies: Local Plan - DG1, N6.

No tree or hedgerow shown to be retained in the approved plans shall be cut down, uprooted or
destroyed, nor shall any retained tree be lopped or topped other than in accordance with the
approved plans and particulars or without the prior written approval of the Local Planning
Authority, until five years from the date of occupation of the building for its permitted use. Any
topping or lopping approved shall be carried out in accordance with British Standard 5837. If any
retained tree is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, another tree shall be planted in the
immediate vicinity and that tree shall be of the same size and species unless the Local Planning
Authority give its prior written consent to any variation.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policies: Local Plan -
DG1, GB2, N6.

The development permitted by this planning application shall be carried out in accordance with

107



23

24

25

26

27

the approved Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and the following mitigation measures detailed
within the FRA: 145 metres cubes of compensatory flood plain storage will be provided as shown
in drawing reference: SK-02 dated 6 November 2015 included in Appendix 2 of the FRA, and
finished floor levels will be set at least 300 millimetres (mm) above 1% Annual Exceedence
Probability (AEP) plus 20% allowance for climate change flood extent. The mitigation measure(s)
shall be fully implemented prior to occupation and subsequently in accordance with the timing /
phasing arrangements embodied within the scheme, or within any other period as may
subsequently be agreed, in writing, by the local planning authority.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed development does not increase flood risk onsite or
elsewhere by ensuring that compensatory storage of flood water is provided and to reduce the
risk of flooding to the proposed development and future occupants. This is sought in accordance
with paragraph 103 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and saved policy F1 of
the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local Plan (adopted 2003).

No development shall take place until a Construction Management Plan showing how demolition
and construction traffic, (including cranes), materials storage, facilities for operatives and vehicle
parking and manoeuvring will be accommodated during the works period has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall be implemented as
approved and maintained for the duration of the works or as may be agreed in writing by the
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic. Relevant Policy: Local
Plan - T5.

No part of the development shall be occupied until covered and secure cycle parking facilities
have been provided in accordance with details that have first been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. These facilities shall thereafter be kept available for the
parking of cycles in association with the development at all times.

Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to
encourage the use of alternative modes of transport. Relevant Policies: Local Plan - T7, DG1.

The number of car parking spaces shall be reduced to 190 by the end of the third year following
first occupation of the office and the land used for car parking that is surrendered shall be
landscaped in accordance with details that have first been submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The landscaping shall be implemented within the first planting
season following approval of the landscaping details.

Reason: To encourage alternative modes of travel to and from the site and in the interests of air
quality. Relevant Policies: Local Plan - NAP3, T7(5) and Section 4 of the NPPF - Promoting
Sustainable Transport (March 2012).

The part of the access road in the southern part of the site shown to be restricted for emergency
and service vehicle access purposes shall only be used and retained as such in accordance with
the approved drawings.

Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers. Relevant Policies: Local Plan - E10,
NAP3.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans
listed below.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
particulars and plans.

108



APPENDIX A — LOCATION PLAN

109



L

L

.'._?;‘I{:r__}-;;f‘i. 2

L S

o]

=]

r—

©

LTl T

—

e

e

=

= | | Prepees

TF=
e
ez
W

Genpn] Amirgerent Grrass Pl
—
|=

TR T

| e Ty

Curpari
™

=
e
i
= no
At

L ]

T

SRS

D RA FT UL RGURANGS SCEITY

b

i
110

i

{

oy
:L:%;E
HiHH
D mead 00 |

!

i PR
TN
it
s s alnlalsal ol -]
N
ilf 1

i

i

B

i =

i |2
g
i?ﬁi i

110



APPENDIX B — PROPOSED FLOOR PLANS

111



+37.40 400
Reof

HIACH BLLCRE

(
K
NG
3}@; PR e
2 3) Do @
A
ok = _g‘,
| R
\&ﬁ%‘ __ |l
Y = d]|
1),“RN e © E
m’%é}ﬁ :
NS ’
o, [©) ol
_J‘-}\\W—t

(01 Marth Elsvation
Larth Elevatian

>
2
3

)

sinadl

Whitesraok Fadk

]

Hamiltons

[

+37.67 400
Rocf X

B

(02 Sauth Elavaton

PLANNING

ket et kb

112

MUTUAL INSURANGE SOCIETY

ROYAL LONDON
LIMITED




v 504 T 0
e 1) , ——
ey e i | A O
- Whw o AL3IO0S IONVHENSNI I -.—Di, . WosEesne. (3 7
so0zzanz | s an NOOGNO WAOY | | f 7 iilﬁ © 7 |
e R e | | e o . b
[ 1 L] ! e 5 , , =
uogera3 159 3 1963 e et s | |
- ' | e ; | ONINNV1d
— —tee | PO oot —
peoyuaDEl | -— - AL IS TR MO VD (8] | o] g P = s —
.E.Eez;_ SUOYIWDH o g d o i (¥ MR — T
= el | ’ s S 3 | oy | M ]| o

om0
Jooy &
10v L9'L8+

7 wan

vonenara 5o b0
i > 1
e =] P,
e -
6 &
o - .
S0 |
\ i perre
4 ! i
Pt Y o
o i O 30 2
e S
§
¥

APPENDIX C — PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

113



This page is intentionally left blank



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD
PLANNING COMMITTEE

MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

16 March 2016 Item: 6

Application 15/04201/VAR

No.:

Location: All Saints CE Junior School Westborough Road Maidenhead SL6 4AR

Proposal: Construction of 2 storey building to form 4x additional classrooms, two court sports
MUGA with parking on site as approved under planning permission 15/00620 without
complying with condition 2 (external surface materials) to change the materials to be
used.

Applicant: The Royal Borough Windsor And Maidenhead

Agent: Mr Phil Grover - Thomson Roddick And Laurie

Parish/Ward: Boyn Hill Ward

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Susan Sharman on 01628 685320 or at
susan.sharman@rbwm.gov.uk

1.1

1.2

1.3

3.1

3.2

SUMMARY

The application seeks to vary condition 2 of 15/00620, specifically to not surface the multi-use
games area (MUGA) in a grass green colour but in porous black macadam.

As an alternative to painting the surface grass green, (which would make the surface
impermeable and require regular re-application) a planting scheme along the western boundary
has been agreed between the Education Department and affected local resident from Denham
Close. The details of this scheme have been approved by the Planning Authority as part of the
details required for condition 10 (relating to biodiversity enhancements).

With the additional boundary planting, the porous black macadam is considered acceptable and
would not harm the visual amenities of the area.

It is recommended the Panel grants planning permission subject to the conditions
listed in Section 9 of this report.

REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

e The Council’'s Constitution does not give the Borough Planning Manager delegated powers to
determine the application in the way recommended; such decisions can only be made by the
Panel.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

The application site is located off Westborough Road in an area which is predominately
residential but with some local shops near by. The main pedestrian and vehicular access is from
Westborough Road. All Saints School was originally built in the 1970’s and is a single storey
building for some 240 mixed gender pupils aged 7 — 11 years.

The site is bounded on three sides by residential properties with the Bath Road (A4) running
parallel to the northern boundary.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

Ref. Description Decision and Date

115




4.1

4.2

5.1

5.2

5.3

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

15/03057/CONDIT | Details required by conditions 7 (Travel Plan), | Approved 11.02.16
10 (Biodiversity enhancements), 12
(Sustainable drainage)

15/00620/FULL Construction of a two storey building to form 4 | Approved 13.07.15.
additional classrooms, a two court sports
MUGA with additional parking on site.

14/01531/FULL Erection of single storey detached Approved 14.07.2014

05/00738/FULL Erection of a timber pergola Approved 25.05.2005

The application seeks to vary condition 2 of 15/00620, specifically to not surface the multi-use
games area (MUGA) in a grass green colour, but in porous black macadam.

Details required in relation to pre-commencement conditions 7, 10 and 12 of 15/00620 have been
approved and the MUGA has already been constructed together with the approved classrooms.
MAIN RELEVANT STRATEGIES AND POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION

National Planning Policy Framework, Sections 7 and 8.

Royal Borough Local Plan

The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are:

Within
settlement
area

Local Plan DG1, CF2

Supplementary planning documents adopted by the Council relevant to the proposal are:
e Sustainable Design and Construction.

More information on these documents can be found at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/pp supplementary planning.htm

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

The key issue for consideration is whether the use of porous black macadam on the approved
MUGA instead of a grass green coloured surface would be harmful to the visual amenities of the
area.

The previous application (15/00620) was considered by the Development Control Panel on 8t
July 2015. The Panel was addressed by a local resident from Denham Close, immediately to the
west of the school site, as well as the Headmistress for the school. Concerns were raised by the
local resident about the proposed appearance of the MUGA so, with the headmistress’s
agreement, the Panel included a stipulation in the condition covering materials that the surface of
the MUGA be a grass green colour.

Construction of the MUGA and classrooms proceeded during the summer break following the
Panel meeting. However, it was found that painting the surface would make it impermeable and
would require frequent repainting, which would be expensive for the school and not cost-effective.
It would have also meant that the development would be contrary to condition 5 of the
permission, which requires the MUGA surface to be made of porous materials.

In order to address the concerns of the local residents, planning and education officers met with
the person concerned to agree an alternative approach. This resulted in additional planting being
proposed along part of the western boundary of the school, where it lies adjacent to properties in

116



http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/pp_supplementary_planning.htm

Denham Close. The planting scheme in this location was submitted as part of the details
required for condition 10 (relating to biodiversity enhancements) and has recently been approved.

Overall, with the additional planting along the western boundary, it is not considered that the use

of porous black macadam instead of grass green paint on the surface of the MUGA harms the
visual amenities of the area.

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT

Comments from interested parties

56 occupiers were notified directly of the application.

The planning officer posted a statutory notice advertising the application at the site on 7t

January 2016

1 letter of objection has been received, summarised as:

Where in the
Comment report this is
considered
1. | Concerned about the increasing parking problems associated with This was
this school. considered under
15/00620.

This application is
only concerned
with the surface of
the approved
MUGA.

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

e Appendix A - Site location plan

e Appendix B — indicative layout drawings

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues raised through the
application process and thorough discussion with the applicants. The Case Officer has sought
solutions to these issues where possible to secure a development that improves the economic,
social and environmental conditions of the area, in accordance with NPFF.

In this case the issues have been successfully resolved.
CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR INCLUSION IF PERMISSION IS GRANTED

The materials to be used on the external surfaces of the development shall be in accordance
with those specified in the application unless any different materials are first agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority. Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved
details.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1.

The first floor windows in the east elevation of the extension shall be of a high level type with a
cill level that is a minimum of 1.7m above the finished internal floor level and the window type
shall not be altered without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

117




Reason: To prevent overlooking and loss of privacy to neighbouring occupiers Relevant Policies
- NPPF Core Principle.

No further window(s) shall be inserted at first floor level in the east elevation of the building
without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To prevent overlooking and loss of privacy to neighbouring occupiers. Relevant Policies
- NPPF Core Principle.

The hard surface of the MUGAs shall be made of porous materials and retained thereafter or
provision shall be made and retained thereafter to direct run-off water from the hard surface to a
permeable or porous area or surface within the curtilage of the property.
Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding and pollution and increase the level of sustainability of the
development and to comply with Requirement 5 of the Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead
Sustainable Design & Construction Supplementary Planning Document.

The MUGAs hereby permitted shall only be used for school activities and only operate between
the hours of 08:30 hours and 18:30 hours on Mondays to Fridays and at no time on weekends,
Bank or Public Holidays.

Reason: To protect the amenities of adjoining occupiers. Relevant Policies - Local Plan NAP3.

No floodlighting shall be used, installed or erected within or around the approved MUGAs at any
time.

Reason In the interests of the residential amenities of surrounding occupiers. Relevant Policies -
Local Plan DGH1.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans
listed below.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
particulars and plans.

118



\

W

u

A

)

APPENDIX A — LOCATION PLAN

119



ueld 35

HvE 91s
PESLUSPIER ‘PEOY UBNOIOQISSA
"JoOL3S JOIUNE 37 SIUIES ||V

PESUUSPIEW ' J0SPUI
Jo ybnouog |ehoy
w0

mermmd spmrm s mdape (1t ¥

APPENDIX B — INDICATIVE LAYOUT

120



ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD
PLANNING COMMITTEE

MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

16 March 2016 Item: 7

Application 16/00098/FULL

No.:

Location: 1 Cannon Down Cottages And Land At 1 Cannon Down Cottages Maidenhead Road
Maidenhead

Proposal: Two storey rear extension at No. 1 and 1x new attached dwelling with associated
works.

Applicant: Mrs Constable

Agent: Mr Richard Drabble

Parish/Ward: Cookham Parish

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Diane Charlton on 01628 685699 or at
diane.charlton@rbwm.gov.uk

1.

1.1

3.1

41

4.2

5.1

5.2

SUMMARY

The proposal is for a 2 storey rear extension to an existing house and a new end terrace house,
in the urban area of Cookham. The proposal is considered to respect the character of the area
and the street scene. It would not harm the amenities of the neighbouring properties nor raise
any highway objections. The proposal complies with the policies of the development plan.

It is recommended the Panel grants planning permission subject to the conditions
listed in Section 9 of this report.

REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION
¢ At the request of Councillor Saunders, only if the recommendation is to grant approval, for the
reason that the Parish Council and neighbouring residents have raised concerns about
inadequate spacing relative to the boundary and compliance with VDS 6.8.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

The application site is an end terrace house with a wide side garden, situated on the outskirts of
Cookham. The site backs on to the railway.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

The proposal is for a new two bedroom house to be added to the terrace, and for the existing
house to have a rear extension which would match the rear extension of the proposed house.

There is no relevant planning history for the site.

MAIN RELEVANT STRATEGIES AND POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION
National Planning Policy Framework, Sections 17, 58 and 64.
Royal Borough Local Plan

The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are:

121




Within Highways
settlement | /Parking
area issues
Local Plan DG1, H10,
H11 T5, P4

5.3 Supplementary planning documents adopted by the Council relevant to the proposal are:

54

6.1

6.2

6.3

e Sustainable Design and Construction
e Cookham Village Design Statement

More information on these documents can be found at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/pp supplementary planning.htm

Other Local Strategies or Publications
Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are:

° RBWM Townscape Assessment - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web pp supplementary planning.htm

° RBWM Parking Strategy - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web pp supplementary planning.htm

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION
The key issues for consideration are:
i the principle of a new dwelling;

ii the design of the proposed new dwelling and of the proposed rear extension to the
existing house;

iii impact on neighbours; and
iv  parking and highway safety.
Principle of development

The site to the side of an end terrace house does not lie in the Green Belt, and therefore its use
to meet housing need is considered appropriate and in accordance with The National Planning
Policy Framework (NPPF). The site itself is sufficiently large to accommodate a modest size
dwelling, with adequate amenity space and space for parking on the frontage.

Design

The design of the new house and of the extension to the existing house is considered to be
acceptable. The new house would be added to the terrace, and although it would be 0.7m wider
than the existing houses, this difference is considered to be almost imperceptible, and would not
harm the rhythm of the terrace. The design and detailing would largely match that of the other
houses in the terrace. The rear extension would complement the design of the original house,
and would not harm the character of the area. The new house would be in keeping with the
character of the area, and the other houses in the terrace. There would be a gap of 1m to the
side boundary, and given the wide gap within the adjoining site to the house ‘Sidings’, there
would be no terracing effect. The proposal is therefore considered to comply with Local Plan
Policies H10, H11, DG1 and the design considerations under H14.

122


http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp_supplementary_planning.htm

6.4

6.5

6.6

6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

6.11

The Cookham Village Design Statement, which is a Supplementary Planning Document, has
relevant guidance, and is a material consideration. Guidance G6.1 requires that the size of
proposed buildings and their plots must be considered in relation to their context. New buildings
should sit comfortably in their surroundings. The width of frontage, depth and height of a
proposed building should be in keeping with the other buildings in the area. A new building
should respect the general building line/ set back from the road and the spacing of buildings
which characterise the area. It is considered that the proposal complies with this guidance, in
that the new house would match the terrace to which it would be attached.

The roof would harmonise with the rest of the terrace, in accordance with Guidance G6.2. The
materials would match the rest of the terrace, in accordance with Guidance G6.3 and it would
adhere to Cookham’s built-colour palette, in accordance with Guidance G6.5.

Guidance G6.8 was referred to by Councillor Saunders when he called this application to Panel,
and states that development should be designed to provide gardens and green space. The
spacing of buildings should follow the pattern of buildings in the immediate and nearby area. As
a normal minimum the gap between a building and the property boundary should be no less than
1.5m. In this case, the house would have a rear garden. The new end terrace house would
follow the pattern of the rest of the terrace which does not have spaces between the houses, and
in this instance the gap of 1m to the side boundary which is proposed is considered acceptable
because it is a terrace house, and because there is a wide gap within the adjoining site to the
nearest house to the South. The spacing proposed is in keeping with the character of the area,
so the normal minimum of 1.5m in the guidance is not necessary in this instance, as there would
be no harm.

Guidance G6.9a states that extensions should be subordinate in scale, should not result in an
overbearing appearance or unneighbourly impact, and should sympathetically reflect the design
of the original building. In this case, the proposed extension to the existing house is considered
to comply with this guidance.

Guidance 6.10 relating to terraced properties states that the visual integrity of traditional cottage
terraces must be protected in the following ways: No building in advance of the faéade, except for
porches, front lobbies and bay windows where such a feature already exists in the terrace. All
additions should be proportionate, and sympathetic in style and use of materials. The proposal is
considered to comply with this guidance.

Guidance 6.11 relating to the primacy of the original states that where there is general uniformity,
new building designs or extensions should match the style of other buildings in the terrace or
area. The proposal is considered to comply with this Guidance.

Guidance G6.16 states the car parking in all new developments should be sufficient for residents
and their visitors. Car parking should be arranged discreetly, avoiding visually dominant hard-
standings at the front of houses and providing adequate screening at boundaries. In this case,
the proposed hard standings would comply with the Council’'s Parking Strategy. Although they
would be at the front of the existing and proposed house, this is unavoidable given the amount of
space available, and would be normal for this type of terraced house.

Impact on neighbours

The neighbouring terrace house 2 Cannon Down Cottages has a single storey extension to the
rear. The proposed two storey rear extension would be 1m from the boundary, and would not
project beyond a line drawn at 60 degrees from the nearest first floor rear window, nor would it
project beyond a line drawn at 45 degrees from the nearest ground floor window. Consequently
the proposal complies with the guidance in Appendix 12 of the Local Plan concerning house
extensions, and is not considered to cause loss of light to the neighbouring property. The roof
over the extension would be hipped, thus reducing further any possible impact on the
neighbouring house and its garden.

123



6.12

6.13

6.14

With regards the neighbouring house to the South, Sidings, the proposed new house would be
situated due North of that property, so would not cause any loss of light or direct sunlight. The
gap of 1m to the side boundary, and 2.7m for the rear extension, is considered adequate to
prevent any adverse impact on that property. There would be no side windows to cause any
overlooking of the neighbour. The proposal is not considered to cause any loss of amenity to
Sidings.

Parking and highway safety

There would be two parking spaces for the existing house and two for the proposed house, and
as they would each be two bedroom houses, this complies with the Council’s Parking Strategy.
The new access is acceptable, it would not cause an adverse impact on highway safety.

Other Material Considerations

Berkshire Archaeology has advised that there are potential archaeological implications from the
proposal as evidenced by Berkshire Archaeology’s Historic Environment Record. Less than 50m
to the south-east of the application area is the site of the former ‘Strande Castle Gravel Pit’, while
further south is the site of the former ‘Prior's Gravel Pit. Rescue excavations at both pits
recorded Late Iron Age and Romano-British settlement evidence. In the wider Cookham area
there are important Bronze Age monuments and Iron Age and Roman remains. Paragraph 141
of the National Planning Policy Framework states that local planning authorities should ‘require
developers to record and advance understanding of the significance of any heritage assets to be
lost (wholly or in part) in a manner proportionate to their importance and the impact, and to make
this evidence (and any archive generated) publicly accessible.” A programme of archaeological
work should therefore be required by condition.

CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT
Comments from interested parties
4 occupiers were notified directly of the application.

The planning officer posted a notice advertising the application at the site on 15" January 2016.

2 letters were received objecting to the application, summarised as:

Where in the
Comment report this is
considered
1. | Loss of light. 6.11,6.12
2. | Right of access for bins across land will result in having to go through 2 | Not a material
gardens not 1. planning

consideration.

3. | Overdevelopment and cramped. Only 1 metre to boundary. Terracing 6.2-6.10

effect.
Overbearing on Sidings 6.12
New access onto busy road 6.13

Statutory consultees

Where in the
Consultee Comment report this is
considered

124



Cookham Objection 6.6

Parish Does not comply with VDS Guidance 6.8 — spacing to

Other consultees and organisations

Where in the
Consultee Comment report this is
considered

Environmental | No objection subject to informatives. Informatives
Protection added

Highways No objection, subject to conditions and informatives. 6.13

Conditions and
informatives
added. (see
conditions 6, 7
and 8 in section
of 9 of this
report.)

Archaeology A watching brief should be conditioned. Condition
added.(see
condition 5 in
section 9 of this
report.)

APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

i) Appendix A - Location plan
i) Appendix B - Block Plan
iii) Appendix C - Floor Plans
iv) Appendix D - Elevations

—~ o~ o~ o~

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues raised through the
application process and thorough discussion with the applicants. The Case Officer has sought
solutions to these issues where possible to secure a development that improves the economic,
social and environmental conditions of the area, in accordance with NPFF.

CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR INCLUSION IF PERMISSION IS GRANTED

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced within three years from the date of this
permission.

Reason: To accord with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended).

The materials to be used on the external surfaces of the development shall match those of the
existing building unless first otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1.

No development shall take place until details of sustainability measures have been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. These details shall demonstrate how the
development would be efficient in the use of energy, water and materials in accordance with the
Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Sustainable Design & Construction Supplementary

125



1

Planning Document. The development shall be carried out and subsequently retained and
maintained in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: To ensure that measures to make the development sustainable and efficient in the use
of energy, water and materials are included in the development and to comply with the Royal
Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead Sustainable Design & Construction Supplementary Planning
Document.

No window(s) shall be inserted at first floor level in the flank elevations of the extension and the
dwelling without the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To prevent overlooking and loss of privacy to neighbouring occupiers. Relevant Policies
- Local Plan H14, H11.

No development shall take place within the area of archaeological interest until the applicant has
secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological work in accordance with a written
scheme of investigation which has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the continued preservation in situ or by record of any finds made in this area
of archaeological interest. Relevant Policies - Local Plan ARCH2, ARCH4.

No part of the development shall be occupied until the extended access serving no. 1 Cannon
Down Cottages has been constructed in accordance with the approved drawing. The access
shall thereafter be retained.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic. Relevant Policies - Local
Plan T5, DG1.

No part of the development shall be occupied until vehicle parking space has been provided in
accordance with the approved drawing. The space approved shall be retained for parking in
association with the development.

Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to
reduce the likelihood of roadside parking which could be detrimental to the free flow of traffic and
to highway safety. Relevant Policies - Local Plan P4, DG1.

No part of the development hereby permitted shall be occupied until the access has been
surfaced with a bonded material across the entire width of the access for a distance of at least
five metres measured back from the highway boundary.

Reason: To avoid spillage of loose material onto the carriageway which could adversely affect
conditions of highway safety. Relevant Policies - Local Plan T5.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans
listed below.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
particulars and plans.

Informatives

The Streetcare Services Manager at Tinkers Lane Depot Tinkers Lane Windsor SL4 4LR tel:
01628 796801 should be contacted for the approval of the access construction details and to
grant a licence before any work is carried out within the highway. A formal application should be
made allowing at least 4 weeks notice to obtain details of underground services on the
applicant's behalf.

The attention of the applicant is drawn to the Berkshire Act 1986, Part Il, Clause 9, which
enables the Highway Authority to recover the costs of repairing damage to the footway or grass
verge arising during building operations.

The attention of the applicant is drawn to Section 59 of the Highways Act 1980 which enables
the Highway Authority to recover expenses due to extraordinary traffic.

No builders materials, plant or vehicles relati%g the implementation of the development should



be parked/stored on the public highway so as to cause an obstruction at any time.

The applicant and their contractor should take all practicable steps to minimise dust deposition,
which is a major cause of nuisance to residents living near to construction and demolition sites.
The applicant and their contractor should ensure that all loose materials are covered up or
damped down by a suitable water device, to ensure that all cutting/breaking is appropriately
damped down, to ensure that the haul route is paved or tarmac before works commence, is
regularly swept and damped down, and to ensure the site is appropriately screened to prevent
dust nuisance to neighbouring properties. The applicant is advised to follow guidance with
respect to dust control:London working group on Air Pollution Planning and the Environment
(APPLE):London Code of Practice, Part 1: The Control of Dust from Construction; and the
Building Research Establishment: Control of dust from construction and demolition activities

The Royal Borough receives a large number of complaints relating to construction burning
activities. The applicant should be aware that any burning that gives rise to a smoke nuisance is
actionable under the Environmental Protection Act 1990. Further that any burning that gives rise
to dark smoke is considered an offence under the Clean Air Act 1993. It is the Environmental
Protection Team policy that there should be no fires on construction or demolition sites. All
construction and demolition waste should be taken off site for disposal. The only exceptions
relate to knotweed and in some cases infected timber where burning may be considered the best
practicable environmental option. In these rare cases we would expect the contractor to inform
the Environmental Protection Team before burning on 01628 683538 and follow good practice.

The applicant should be aware the permitted hours of construction working in the Authority are

as follows:Monday-Friday 08.00-18.00Saturday 08.00-13.00No working on Sundays or Bank
Holidays.

127



This page is intentionally left blank



Maidenhead, SL6 9EA

Maidenhead R

Cannon Down Cotta

1

Appendix A

129



N | oc.cSTion 'FO"

i(Zr)a vak\h(?)
Spovsaa PeY

Appendix B

130



rl—— 1
!
|
|
| A | Updated for Flanning |&-‘|a-'15
|
80 degree vision splay from | Bedroom Bedroom REV | AMENDMENT [ pat=
center of 1st flcar window }
| TIMLE
b I
! 1 Cannondown Cottages
| I H Maidenhead Road
I i
— = ] ! | N || = Cookham
i ‘ Proposed New Dwelling
R— | Bathroam and Rear Extension to
= i Existing Dwelling
: DATE: Aug 2015 | GCALE:  1:50
—_— |
f ] ! ‘ DRAWN: RD | spPROVED:
fmomoeooo |
Proposed First Floor
— Plans
Badroom Bedrocom
———— ] — : DRAWING STATUS
PROPOSED
0.0m 20m 4.0m
Illllllll\l I I I } DRAWING No REV
TOm  Geale B 30m Sim 15H03/03 A
sting foul d; and hole fo b focated
2 “ o st prapeced rew dwekig &-‘
|ﬁﬂ ) = e = ]
|
1 '
I
A | Updated far Flanning |m|2.-|5
B Kitchen / Dining Kzhen | Dining | REV | AMENOMENT | DATE
i TITLE
1 Cannondown Cottages
| Maidenhead Road
| I ! Cookham
1 .
Proposed New Dwelling
i and Rear Extension to
Existing Dwelling
ELE]
‘ = i DATE: Aug. 2015 | SCALE: 150
In [
u DRAWN: RD | apPROVED:
f
I
Lring Foom Luing oo Proposed Ground Floor
| Plans
1
H |
1 ] ] CRAWING STATUS
N i PROPOSED
S 0.0m 20m 1 4.0m
IIIIHIIHI I } I I DRAWING No REV
T
10m  SealeBar 30m 5.0, 15H03/02 A

Appendix C

131




D.E
[_—
iy
1]
Front Elevaton ______

Side Elevation

Exieinal materals -

‘Walks - facing brickwork.
Fioof - files

Windows and Doors - UPVC
Fasciaz and Guttering UFVC

All materizls b maich existing

FAear Elevaton

A | Updated for Flanning |zzn2ns
REV | AMENDMENT [ pate
TIMLE

1 Cannondown Cottages
Maidenhead Road
Cookham

Proposed New Dwelling
and Rear Extension to
Existing Dwelling

DATE: Aug. 2015 | SCALE: 1:100

DRAWN: RD | APPROVED:

Proposed Elevations

DRAWING STATUS

PROPOSED
DRAWING No REV
15H03/04 A

Appendix D

132




ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR & MAIDENHEAD
PLANNING COMMITTEE

MAIDENHEAD DEVELOPMENT CONTROL PANEL

16 March 2016 Item: 8

Application 16/00395/FULL

No.:

Location: Land And Buildings To Rear of Oakley Green Lodge Oakley Green Road Oakley
Green Windsor SL4 4PZ

Proposal: Erection of 3 x dwellings, with garages and curtilages, with access alterations, parking,
landscaping and ancillary works following demolition of existing buildings and
hardstanding

Applicant: Mr And Mrs Bennett

Agent: Mr M Carter - Carter Planning Ltd

Parish/Ward:  Bray Parish

If you have a question about this report, please contact: Susan Sharman on 01628 685320 or at
susan.sharman@rbwm.gov.uk

1.

1.1

1.2

1.3

3.1

SUMMARY

The application seeks planning permission to redevelop an existing commercial site in the Green
Belt to provide three detached houses and garages. The proposal would not have a greater
impact on the openness of the Green Belt nor be contrary to any of the purposes of the Green
Belt. The principle of the proposed development is therefore acceptable.

In addition, the individually designed three houses on spacious plots would be in keeping with the
character and appearance of the residential development in the area. Having regard to the
separation distances involved, it is not considered that the proposal would harm the living
conditions of any neighbours.

There are no objections from the Highways Authority, but advice from the Council’'s Ecologist is
awaited and will be reported at the Panel meeting.

It is recommended the Panel authorises the Borough Planning Manager:

1. | To grant planning permission subject to there being no objections from the
Council’s Ecologist and with the conditions listed in Section 10 of this report.

2 | To refuse planning permission if it has not been sufficiently demonstrated that
protected species and/or their habitats would not be harmed by the proposal.

REASON FOR PANEL DETERMINATION

o The Council's Constitution does not give the Borough Planning Manager delegated powers to
determine the application in the way recommended; such decisions can only be made by the
Panel.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE AND ITS SURROUNDINGS

The application site is located on the south side of Oakley Green Road, to the rear of Oakley
Green Lodge. It is approximately 0.5 hectares, roughly rectangular in shape and currently
occupied by a company that supplies articulated lorries, (mainly to overseas customers). There
are a number of commercial buildings of varying sizes that cover about 1527 sq.m of the site with
several articulated lorries parked on the remainder of the land. A mature hedge encloses the site
along the majority of the eastern boundary, an earth bund of about 3m high encloses the site to
the south, there is residential fencing/bfg’gary screening to the west, and a boundary fence




3.2

41

4.2

4.3

5.1

5.2

5.3

between Oakley Green Lodge and the site. There is separate vehicular access to the site from
Oakley Green Road.

Open fields lie to the east and south, while residential properties are sited to the north and west.
The site is located in the Green Belt.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSAL AND ANY RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

Ref. Description Decision and Date

00/35313 Change of use of part of the barn for the | Approved 31.10.00
fabrication of timber displays for exhibitions and
part for repairs and servicing of motor vehicles

00/35347 Certificate of Lawfulness for the storage, servicing | Approved 06.03.03.
repair and resale of commercial vehicles and the
siting of an associated office building on the site
and 2 steel container used for storage.

12/01948 Extension to existing access road and revised | Approved 04.09.12.
entrance with new gate. New brick walls and piers.
14/03994 Erection of 6 x dwellings with garages and Refused 22.04.15

curtilages, with access alterations, parking,
landscaping and ancillary works.

The proposal involves redeveloping the site to provide three traditional style detached houses
and garages.

The house proposed for plot 1 would be approximately 16.4m wide, 10m deep and have a
maximum ridge height of 8m. The house proposed for plot 2 would be approximately 14m wide,
11m deep with a maximum ridge height of 7.8m. The house proposed for plot 3 would be
approximately 24.5m wide, 13m deep and 7.7m high. The houses proposed on plots 1 and 2
would each be served with a detached double garage, while the larger house on plot 3 would
have a detached triple garage.

It should be noted from the planning history above, that a previous application for 6 houses on
the site (reference 14/03994) was refused on four grounds. Two of these related to harm to the
Green Belt caused by the sprawl of the development and its greater impact on the openness of
the Green Belt, one ground related to the design and layout of the scheme (considered to be too
suburban for this location) and another related to potential harm to protected bats. Following this
refusal, the applicant sought pre-application advice from officers to overcome these objections.
The submitted proposal is broadly as agreed with officers at the pre-application stage.

MAIN RELEVANT STRATEGIES AND POLICIES RELEVANT TO THE DECISION
National Planning Policy Framework, Section 9
Royal Borough Local Plan

The main strategic planning considerations applying to the site and the associated policies are:

Green
Belt

Local Plan GB1,
GB2

Supplementary planning documents adopted by the Council relevant to the proposal are:
e Sustainable Design and Construction
e Planning for an Ageing Population

More information on these documents can be found at:

134




54

6.1

6.2

6.3

6.4

6.5

6.6

http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/pp supplementary planning.htm

Other Local Strategies or Publications
Other Strategies or publications relevant to the proposal are:

° RBWM Landscape Character Assessment - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web pp supplementary planning.htm

° RBWM Parking Strategy - view at:
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web pp supplementary planning.htm

EXPLANATION OF RECOMMENDATION

The key issues for consideration are:

i The principle of development and Green Belt issues;

ii The impact of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area;
iii The impact on the living conditions of neighbours;

iv Highway and parking issues; and

v Ecology.

The principle of development and Green Belt issues

The application site is currently used for commercial purposes. However, as it is does not have a
specific designation in the Local Plan, there is no objection to the loss of this use to residential.

The application site is also located in the Green Belt. Paragraph 89 of the NPPF sets out the
types of new buildings that are not considered inappropriate in the Green Belt and these include
buildings involved in the complete redevelopment of previously developed sites (brownfield land),
whether redundant or in continuing use (excluding temporary buildings), which would not have a
greater impact on the openness of the Green Belt and does not conflict with the purposes of
including land within it than the existing development.

The application site is brownfield land and, as such, the principle of the proposal is acceptable
subject to an assessment of its impact on the openness and purposes of the Green Belt. In this
case, the floor area of the existing buildings on site total 1358m?, while the total existing volume is
4128m3. By comparison, the floor area of the proposed buildings totals 1267m? while the total
proposed volume of development would be 4078m?3. The proposal therefore involves a reduction
in built footprint and volume on the site. In addition, none of the three dwellings would exceed 8m
in height, (the maximum height of existing buildings being 8.02m) and there would be generous
gaps between each of the three houses. A large number of lorries currently parked on the land
would also be removed from the site as a result of the proposal. Taken together, it is considered
that these elements would ensure that the proposal would not have a greater impact on the
openness of the Green Belt than the existing development.

In terms of whether the proposal would conflict with the purposes of the Green Belt, the
application site is well contained by established boundaries and none of the proposed dwellings
would project further into the Green Belt than existing. As such, it is not considered that the
proposal would lead to encroachment in the countryside. Furthermore, it would not conflict with
the other purposes of the Green Belt such that it would not result in the unrestricted sprawl of
large built-up areas, the merging of neighbouring towns, harm to the setting and special
character of historic towns, or prevent urban regeneration.

Overall, it is not considered that the proposal would harm the Green Belt.

135


http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web/pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp_supplementary_planning.htm
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/web_pp_supplementary_planning.htm

6.7

6.8

6.9

6.10

6.11

6.12

6.13

6.14

6.15

6.16

The impact of the proposal on the character and appearance of the area

The area is characterised by large dwellings in generous sized plots backing on or lying adjacent
to open fields. The previously refused scheme (14/03994) involved six new houses and was
considered to be very suburban in its layout, design and form. The houses would have been
sited on much smaller plots than the surrounding pattern of development and would have
detracted from the character of the area.

The current proposal involves three individually designed houses set within more spacious plots
that are more compatible to the prevailing character of the area. As such, it is not considered
that the proposed development would harm the character and appearance of the area.

The impact on the living conditions of neighbours

Open fields lie to the east, south and west of the site. The nearest neighbouring property to the
proposed development would be ‘Tanglewood’ sited to the north-west approximately 25m from its
closest point with the house on Plot 1. The first floor rear of Plot 1 would face the rear garden of
‘Tanglewood’, but would not look directly into any windows on this property nor the private
amenity space immediately to its rear. Given the separation distance between the properties it is
not considered the property on Plot 1 would cause direct loss of privacy to ‘Tanglewood’. The
new houses proposed on Plots 2 and 3 would not lead to any loss of privacy issues as they
would be at least 50m from the nearest neighbours.

The scale and siting of the proposed houses, together with the distances separating them from
the neighbours means that the development would not appear overbearing. In addition, given the
orientation of the sun and the positions of the proposed houses the development would not cause
any loss of sunlight to the neighbours.

The proposal would result in the removal of a fairly unneighbourly use from the land; the current
use involves frequent movements into, around and out of the site by articulated lorries, which are
quite noisy and create fumes. The redevelopment of the site as proposed would result in a form
of development that would be far more sympathetic to the living conditions of neighbours.

Highway and parking issues

The site has the benefit of an existing access point via a crossover about 10m wide which tapers
down to 5.0m to the gated access road. Visibility is unrestricted in each direction at the junction
with Oakley Green Road and is considered to be sufficient to serve the level of residential
development which is currently proposed.

Plots 1 & 2 (5 beds) and Plot 3 (6 beds) are all to be provided with double or triple garaging and
surface parking space on driveways to more than comply with the requirements of the Council’s
parking standards. Additionally, the site layout plan Drawing. No 13-P895-10 makes provision for
on-site turning space for use by service/delivery vehicles.

The proposed residential development is likely to generate between 32 and 48 vehicle
movements per day. This represents a reduction in the number of daily vehicle movements that
has in the past been generated from the commercial use of this site (the Transport Statement
submitted in respect of the previous proposal for 6 dwellings on this site quoted 84 daily vehicle
movements, 34 of which were heavy goods vehicle movements).

The Highway Authority raises no objections to the application subject to conditions in respect of a
construction management plan and parking and turning to be provided prior to occupation.
(conditions 8 and 9 respectively).

Ecology

As the proposal involves the removal of buildings from the site, a bat survey has been submitted
with the application. At the time of writing, the Council’s Ecologist’s has yet to provide advice on
this, but it is expected that this will be available to report on the day of the Panel.

136



7. ASSOCIATED INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS

71 The impact of the proposal on local infrastructure and services would be limited due to its
location and scale. As such, it is not appropriate to seek S106 contributions under this
application.

8. CONSULTATIONS CARRIED OUT
Comments from interested parties
10 occupiers were notified directly of the application.
The planning officer posted a notice advertising the application at the site on 25" February 2016.

1 letter of support has been received, summarised as:

Where in the
Comment report this is
considered
1. | From the neighbours at Willow Court Farm — Fully support the Noted.
application. For three houses only, that are attractive and well
designed. This residential proposal will benefit this Green Belt location
and we would be happy to see the application approved.
Statutory consultees
Where in the
Consultee Comment report this is
considered
Bray Parish Comments awaited. To be reported
Council at Panel.
Highway No objections subject to conditions. 6.12-6.16
Authority
Other consultees and organisations
Where in the
Consultee Comment report this is
considered
Environmental | Recommends informatives in respect of hours of Noted.
Protection construction, dust and smoke controls to be attached to any
approval.

9. APPENDICES TO THIS REPORT

e Appendix A - Site location plan

e Appendix B — Ste layout

e Appendix C — Plot 1 Floor plans and elevations
e Appendix D — Plot 2 Floor plans and elevations
e Appendix E — Plot 3 Floor plans and elevations

e Appendix F — Site section and proposed garages

This recommendation is made following careful consideration of all the issues raised through the
application process and thorough discug_s@v with the applicants. The Case Officer has sought



10.

solutions to these issues where possible to secure a development that improves the economic,
social and environmental conditions of the area, in accordance with NPFF.

In this case the issues have been successfully resolved.

CONDITIONS RECOMMENDED FOR INCLUSION IF PERMISSION IS GRANTED

The development hereby permitted shall be commenced within three years from the date of this
permission.

Reason: To accord with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
(as amended).

No development shall take place until details of the materials to be used on the external surfaces
of the development have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with the approved
details.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policy DG1.

No development shall commence until details of all finished slab levels in relation to ground level
(against OD Newlyn) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The development shall be carried out and maintained in accordance with the
approved details.

Reason: In the interest of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policy Local Plan DG1, GB2.

Irrespective of the provisions of Classes A, B and E of part 1 of Schedule 2 of the Town and
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-
enacting that Order with or without modification) no enlargement, improvement or any other
alteration (including the erection of any ancillary building within the curtilage) of or to any
dwellinghouse the subject of this permission shall be carried out without planning permission
having first been obtained from the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: The site is in the Green Belt and whilst the development subject to this permission
complies with the Green Belt policy further development would be unlikely to do so, Relevant
Policies - Local Plan GB1, GB2, DG1.

No development shall commence until details of the siting and design of all walls, fencing or any
other means of enclosure (including any retaining walls) have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Such walls, fencing or other means of enclosure as may
be approved shall be erected before first occupation of the development unless the prior written
approval of the Local Planning Authority to any variation has been obtained.

Reason: To ensure the satisfactory resultant appearance and standard of amenity of the site and
the surrounding area. Relevant Policy - Local Plan DG1, GB2.

Within one month of the substantial completion of the development the buildings shown to be
removed on the approved plans, shall be demolished in their entirety and all materials resulting
from such demolition works shall be removed from the site. In addition, the use of the land for
parking shall cease and all vehicles removed from the site, other than those associated with the
approved residential development.

Reason: To prevent the undesirable consolidation of development on the site having regard to its
Green Belt location. Relevant Policies - Local Plan GB1, GB2, DG1.

The measures set out in section 3 of the Design, Access and Sustainability Statement
accompanying the application shall be implemented in accordance with the statement prior to the
first occupation of any unit, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority
prior to the commencement of the development.

Reason: To ensure that measures to make the development sustainable and efficient in the use
of energy, water and materials are included in the development and to comply with the Council's
SPD on 'Sustainable Design and Construction.'

No part of the development shall be occupied until vehicle parking and turning space has been

138



10

11

12

13

provided, surfaced and marked out in accordance with the approved drawing. The space
approved shall be kept available for parking and turning in association with the development.
Reason: To ensure that the development is provided with adequate parking facilities in order to
reduce the likelihood of roadside parking which could be detrimental to the free flow of traffic and
to highway safety, and to facilitate vehicles entering and leaving the highway in forward gear.
Relevant Policies - Local Plan P4, DG1.

Prior to the commencement of any works of demolition or construction a management plan
showing how demolition and construction traffic, (including cranes), materials storage, facilities
for operatives and vehicle parking and manoeuvring will be accommodated during the works
period shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan
shall be implemented as approved and maintained for the duration of the works or as may be
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the free flow of traffic. Relevant Policies - Local
Plan T5.

No tree or hedgerow shown to be retained in the approved plans shall be cut down, uprooted or
destroyed, nor shall any retained tree be lopped or topped other than in accordance with the
approved plans and particulars or without the prior written approval of the Local Planning
Authority, until five years from the date of occupation of the building for its permitted use. Any
topping or lopping approved shall be carried out in accordance with British Standard 3998 Tree
work. If any retained tree is removed, uprooted or destroyed or dies, another tree shall be
planted in the immediate vicinity and that tree shall be of the same size and species unless the
Local Planning Authority give its prior written consent to any variation.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan
DG1, N6.

Prior to any equipment, machinery or materials being brought onto the site, details of the
measures to protect, during construction, the trees shown to be retained on the approved plan,
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
measures shall be implemented in full prior to any equipment, machinery or materials being
brought onto the site, and thereafter maintained until the completion of all construction work and
all equipment, machinery and surplus materials have been permanently removed from the site.
These measures shall include fencing in accordance with British Standard 5837. Nothing shall
be stored or placed in any area fenced in accordance with this condition and the ground levels
within those areas shall not be altered, nor shall any excavation be made, without the prior
written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To protect trees which contribute to the visual amenities of the site and surrounding
area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1, NG6.

No development shall take place until full details of both hard and soft landscape works, have
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and these works shall
be carried out as approved within the first planting season following the substantial completion of
the development and retained in accordance with the approved details. [If within a period of five
years from the date of planting of any tree or shrub shown on the approved landscaping plan,
that tree or shrub, or any tree or shrub planted in replacement for it, is removed, uprooted or
destroyed or dies, or becomes seriously damaged or defective, another tree or shrub of the
same species and size as that originally planted shall be planted in the immediate vicinity, unless
the Local Planning Authority gives its prior written consent to any variation.

Reason: To ensure a form of development that maintains, and contributes positively to, the
character and appearance of the area. Relevant Policies - Local Plan DG1.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the approved plans
listed below.

Reason: To ensure that the development is carried out in accordance with the approved
particulars and plans.

139



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A — LOCATION PLAN

141



i e it
i < Lo s o e 4 s .

ANOAYT IS 0350408

HOSONIM 'NIFHO ASTDIVO
30007 NIIFUD AT DIVO

a17 S1HOdX3
WIOHIWWNOD Tva0 19

NDISIA LODSV

[

NOISSINGNS BNINNYTY __|

N7
7N

>z

APPENDIX B — PROPOSED SITE LAYOUT

142



e A o Bt 4 A w1

SNOILLVAITA 2 SNVd
HOO4 03S0d0td | 107d

e

HOSUNIM ‘NIFHO AT DIVO
‘39007 NIIFHD AIDIVO
417 S1HO0dX3
IVIOHIWWOO TVEO1D

aumosliyoUy

NOISHd LODOSYV

o

NOISSINENS DONINNVId l._

NOUVATTZ 3OS QIWOSIM 942004 ¥

NOUYATT3 3018

T W0

NOUYAZ13 30IS

ol [ol]

......

143

APPENDIX C—-PLOT 1



APPE

A emns o ooy o Ao
o e s g kB

SNOILVATT3 ¥ SNV1d
HOOT4 03S0d0Hd 2 107d
e

HOSANIM 'N3IHO AT VO
‘IO00TNIIHO ATDIVO
411 S1HO0dX3
VIDHIWWOD V801D
o semmera m

> e LT U Y90 S CCOBEE VIO WS
Wik T A Yy s POV S ARG

sunoeuyoIY

NOISAd LOOSV

i

NOISSINENS ONINNYd |

RN OO ATNACOY MOOKWAS O WCOW

BOOM 1St

NOUWAZTT 30

=

il

iu
H

& [

1 —

wrbmI0E - ¥3D TYAOL
HOOT3 ONNOYD

NOUYATTI HY3H

NOUVATI INOHS

APPENDIX D — PLOT 2

144



) st s ey it .
2 s o s 8 A

SNOILYAIN3 ® SNV
€004 03S0dOHd € 10d

e

HOSONIM ‘NI3HD AT TIVO
‘39007 NI3HD AIDIVO

a1 S1H0dX3
IVIOH3IWWOD V8019

2IMosIyoIY

NODISHd LOODSV

9

| Noissiwans oNINNvId |

~~~~~~

NOUYATYS 3018

assss ]

APPENDIX E - PLOT 3

145



[ e i e
| | vL-cBd-EL
_ ;__ BN __ b @ ool g

S3ADYHYD 3500
QMY NOLLDAS 3US

HOSANIW NIIHD ASTIVO
‘FDA0T NIZHD AFTHYO

e

ALl S1H0dX3
TFIOHIWWOD TvE01D

aimoa)uoly

NOISHd LODSV

FvoE

UrDOE = ¥ID WLOL
P HOOTS

HOLYATTE 2018

_

NOISSINENS DNINNYId ]

Fvos

NOLLYAS TS HvSk

UrbeZy=Y3D WLOL
AV O

2% LSL0d

HOILYATTE 30K NOLLYATTS HY3H

WOILYATTE 308 HORLYATT LR

¥V INEOE LTS

Tﬁl’éENDIX F —SITE SECTION & GARAGES



MAIDENHEAD

Appeal Ref.:
Appellant:

Decision Type:
Description:
Location:

Appeal Decision:

Main Issue:

Agenda |

Appeal Decision Report

Windsor
Maidenhead

6 February 2016 - 7 March 2016

15/00060/REF 15/00551/VAR Pins Ref.:  APP/T0355/W/15/

3131329

Mr David Edmondson c/o Agent: Mr Graham Fisher GF Planning Limited 1 Woodlands
Avenue London E11 3RA

Delegated

Planning Ref.:

Officer Recommendation: Refuse

Removal of condition 4 (Permitted Development) of planning permission 413546
Winterbourne Berries Road Cookham Maidenhead SL6 9SD
Allowed Decision Date: 6 February 2016

The National Planning Policy Framework indicates that conditions should only be imposed
where they are necessary, relevant to planning and to the development to be permitted,
enforceable, precise and reasonable in all other respects. The Planning Practice Guidance
also sets out these six tests and further states that conditions restricting the future use of
permitted development rights will rarely pass the test of necessity and should only be used in
exceptional circumstances. Also the blanket removal of freedoms to carry out small scale
domestic alterations that would otherwise not require an application for planning permission
are unlikely to meet the tests of reasonableness and necessity. The Inspector concluded that
the effect of removing condition 4 on (1) the character and appearance of the area; (2) the
Green Belt; and (3) Flooding would not be harmful and the exceptional circumstances
sufficient to withhold permitted development rights do not exist.

Appeal Ref.:
Appellant:

Decision Type:
Description:
Location:

Appeal Decision:

Main Issue:

15/01761/FULL Pins Ref.:  APP/T0355/D/15/

3136441

Mr Papazoglou c/o Agent: Mr Allen Watson Buttery And Watson Berry House 78 Altwood
Road Maidenhead Berkshire SL6 4PZ

Delegated Officer Recommendation:
Construction of garage/garden machinery store

Hurst Place Bradcutts Lane Cookham Dean Maidenhead SL6 9AA
Decision Date: 26 February 2016

15/00085/REF Planning Ref.:

Refuse

Dismissed

The erection of a domestic garage/garden store does not fall within any of the categories of
development listed in Saved Policy GB1 or paragraph 89 of the Framework. As such it would
be inappropriate development which is, by definition, harmful to the Green Belt. The scale of
the proposal would be such that it would erode the openness of the Green Belt. It is
accepted that the loss of openness would be unlikely to affect the Green Belt outside the
boundary of the site, nonetheless, there would be a loss of openness. No very special
circumstances have been demonstrated.

147




Appeal Ref.:
Appellant:
Decision Type:

Description:
Location:

Appeal Decision:

Main Issue:

15/00090/REF 15/01659/FULL Pins Ref.:  APP/T0355/W/15/

3132937

Mr Christopher Robinson- Elite Homes Ltd c/o Agent: Mr lan Sowerby Bell Cornwell LLP
Oakview House Station Road Hook Hampshire RG27 9TP

Officer Recommendation:

Planning Ref.:

Committee Application

Permitted
Erection of 2 x 3 bed semi detached and 2 x 4 bed detached dwellings.
4 - 7 Woodlands Park Road Maidenhead

Allowed Decision Date: 1 March 2016

When the limited visual impact from the public highway, roof profiles of Plots No 1 and 2
which would allow space and an area of sky to be seen between the two properties, further
set back on the site allowing for more forecourt space, and the context to other development
the surrounding area, especially to the adjacent Park Lodge Close development, then the
proposal would not result in a cramped form of development. The development would
therefore not be contrary to Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local Plan Policies
H10 and H11 and the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) Core Planning
Principle 4. Whilst the additional dwelling would cause extra traffic movements, given the
relatively minor increase in traffic movements, no objections from the Council's
Environmental Health Officer and blank flank walls to No 4 and 5, then these extra traffic
movements would not cause undue noise and disturbance to the residents of No 4 and 5.
Turning to the impact of proposed Plot No 1 on adjacent properties causing loss of light and
privacy; the Inspector found that Plot 1 would have the same relationship to the adjacent
dwellings in particular No 8 Park Lodge Close, as the previously unimplemented planning
permission, which the Council found to be acceptable. Therefore, the development does not
harm the amenities or living conditions of the adjacent properties due to increased use of the
access way, and would not be contrary to Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Local
Plan Policies H10 and the National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) Core
Planning Principle 4.

Appeal Ref.:

Appellant:
Decision Type:
Description:

Location:

Appeal Decision:

Main Issue:

15/00093/REF Planning Ref.: 15/01432/FULL Pins Ref.:  APP/T0355/D/15/
3139758

Mr Peter Hersom 29 Ray Mill Road West Maidenhead SL6 8SA

Delegated Officer Recommendation:  Refuse

3 storey side extension and second storey front extension following hip to gable roof
extension and enlargement of existing roof with the addition of 1 front dormer and 2 rear
dormers to facilitate loft conversion. Addition of roof lantern to existing single storey rear
extension and amendments to fenestration

29 Ray Mill Road West Maidenhead SL6 8SA

Dismissed Decision Date: 23 February 2016

Due to the bulk, mass and height of the proposed extension it would overwhelm the existing
property which would be unsympathetic to the host and unbalance the terrace. Together with
the proposed materials, it would draw the eye and appear as a discordant feature in the
street scene and relate poorly to its surroundings. It would also erode the existing gap
between the terrace and the adjacent semi-detached dwellings, which would harm the
distinctiveness of the street in this regard. This is contrary to the NPPF and Local Plan policy
DG1. The proposal would fail to meet the adopted Parking Strategy 2004 for 3 off-street
parking spaces for a dwelling with 4 or more bedrooms, increasing the pressure for on-street
parking in the vicinity which would unacceptably exacerbate existing parking problems in the
vicinity to the overall detriment of highway and pedestrian safety, contrary to Local Plan
policy P4.

148



MAIDENHEAD

The Royal Borough
iy

Planning Appeals Received
5 February 2016 - 7 March 2016
Winclso &
Maidenhead

The appeals listed below have been received by the Council and will be considered by the Planning Inspectorate.
Further information on planning appeals can be found at www.planningportal.gov.uk/pcs Should you wish to make
comments in connection with an appeal, please use the PlIns reference number and write to the relevant address,

shown below.

Enforcement appeals: The Planning Inspectorate, Room 3/23 Hawk Wing, Temple Quay House, 2 The Square,

Temple Quay, Bristol, BS1 6PN or email teamel@pins.gsi.gov.uk

Other appeals: The Planning Inspectorate Room 3/10A Kite Wing Temple Quay House 2 The Square Bristol BS1

Parish/Ward:
Appeal Ref.:

Date Received:

Type:
Description:

Location:
Appellant:

Parish/Ward:
Appeal Ref.:

Date Received:
Type:
Description:
Location:

Appellant:

Parish/Ward:
Appeal Ref.:

Date Received:
Type:
Description:
Location:
Appellant:

Parish/Ward:
Appeal Ref.:

Date Received:

Type:
Description:

6PN or email teampl3@pins.gsi.gov.uk

White Waltham Parish

16/00013/REF Planning Ref.:  15/02906/FULL Pins Ref.:  APP/T0355/W/16/
3143249

5 February 2016 Comments Due: 11 March 2016

Refusal Appeal Type: Written Representation

Construction of 2 detached dwellings served by existing vehicular access, following
demolition of existing buildings

White Waltham Garage Waltham Road White Waltham Maidenhead SL6 3SG

Mr B Glister - White Waltham Garage Ltd c/o Agent: Mr Christopher Arden Christopher
Arden Chartered Architects 11 Galton Road Ascot Berkshire SL5 0BP

16/00016/REF Planning Ref.:  15/02252/FULL Pins Ref.:  APP/T0355/W/15/
3140382

12 February 2016 Comments Due: 18 March 2016

Refusal Appeal Type: Written Representation

Construction of 4 x 2 bed and 5 x 1 bed flats following demolition of existing dwelling
23 Braywick Road And Land To The Rear Providing Access From Greenfields
Maidenhead

Mr Simon Davies - SSIDEWLLP c/o Agent: Mr Paul Dickinson Paul Dickinson And
Associates Highway House Lower Froyle Hants GU34 4NB

Bray Parish

16/00017/REF Planning Ref.:  15/03644/FULL Pins Ref.:  APP/T0355/D/16/
3143634

12 February 2016 Comments Due: Not Applicable

Refusal Appeal Type: Householder

Construction of new garage with first floor games room

Lorien Brayfield Road Bray Maidenhead SL6 2BN

Mr And Mrs R Williams c/o Agent: Mr Patrick Arthurs APD Planning Consultants Bines
Farmhouse Bines Road Partridge Green Horsham RH13 8EQ

16/00020/REF Planning Ref.:  15/01966/FULL PIns Ref.:  APP/T0355/W/16/
3142751

18 February 2016 Comments Due: 24 March 2016

Refusal Appeal Type: Written Representation

Construction of 10 dwellings 3 x 1 bed units and 7 x 2 bed units following demolition of
property including outbuilding. 149


http://www.planningportal.gov.uk/pcs
mailto:teame1@pins.gsi.gov.uk
mailto:teamp13@pins.gsi.gov.uk

Location:
Appellant:

Parish/Ward:
Appeal Ref.:

Date Received:

Type:
Description:
Location:
Appellant:

Parish/Ward:
Appeal Ref.:

Date Received:

Type:
Description:
Location:
Appellant:

Parish/Ward:
Appeal Ref.:

Date Received:

Type:
Description:
Location:
Appellant:

Parish/Ward:
Appeal Ref.:

Date Received:

Type:
Description:
Location:
Appellant:

Diwa 2 Norfolk Road Maidenhead SL6 7EE
Mr And Mrs A Dhendsa c/o Agent: Mr Paul Butt Paul Butt Planning Ltd 8 Hyde Copse
Marcham Abingdon Oxfordshire OX13 6PT

Cookham Parish

16/00022/REF PIins Ref.:  APP/T0355/W/15/
3140926
24 March 2016

Written Representation

Planning Ref.:  15/01060/FULL
18 February 2016 Comments Due:
Refusal Appeal Type:
Change of use from A3 (restaurant) to C3 (residential).
Cookham Tandoori High Street Cookham Maidenhead SL6 9SL

Mr B Islam c/o Agent: Mr Jake Collinge JCPC Ltd 5 Buttermarket Thame Oxfordshire OX9
3EW

Cookham Parish

16/00023/REF PIins Ref.:  APP/T0355/W/15/
3141078
28 March 2016

Written Representation

Planning Ref.:  15/01323/FULL
22 February 2016 Comments Due:
Refusal Appeal Type:
Change of use of ancillary outbuilding to single dwelling.
Dean Farm Alleyns Lane Cookham Maidenhead SL6 9AE
Mr Patrick Noone c/o Agent: Mr Vincint Verster Vail Williams LLP 550 Thames Valley Park
Drive Reading RG6 1RA

Waltham St Lawrence Parish

16/00029/REF Planning Ref.:  15/03531/LBC PIns Ref.:  APP/T0355/Y/16/
3142400

4 March 2016 Comments Due: 8 April 2016

Refusal Appeal Type: Hearing

Consent to convert existing barn to a dwelling with ancillary landscaping works
Paradise Farm Twyford Road Waltham St Lawrence Reading RG10 OHL

Mr B Palmer-Page c/o Agent: Mr Martin Crook MSC Planning Ltd 259 Amersham Road
Hazlemere High Wycombe Buckinghamshire HP15 7QW

Waltham St Lawrence Parish

16/00030/REF Planning Ref.:  15/03528/FULL PIns Ref.:  APP/T0355/W/16/
3142397

4 March 2016 Comments Due: 8 April 2016

Refusal Appeal Type: Hearing

Conversion of existing barn to a dwelling with ancillary landscaping works

Paradise Farm Twyford Road Waltham St Lawrence Reading RG10 OHL

Mr B Palmer-Page c/o Agent: Mr Martin Crook MSC Planning Ltd 259 Amersham Road
Hazlemere High Wycombe Buckinghamshire HP15 7QW

150



	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	LOCAL GOVERNMENT.docx access to info.pdf
	Declaring Interests at Meetings (Oct 2015).pdf

	3 MINUTES
	4 PLANNING APPLICATIONS (DECISION)
	meetings_160316_mdcp_02081_item1
	meetings_160316_mdcp_appendices_item1
	meetings_160316_mdcp_02107_item2
	meetings_160316_mdcp_appendices_item2
	meetings_160316_mdcp_02135_item3
	meetings_160316_mdcp_appendices_item3
	meetings_160316_mdcp_03388_item4
	meetings_160316_mdcp_appendices_item4
	meetings_160316_mdcp_03901_item5
	meetings_160316_mdcp_appendices_item5
	meetings_160316_mdcp_04201_item6
	meetings_160316_mdcp_appendices_item6
	meetings_160316_mdcp_00098_item7
	meetings_160316_mdcp_appendices_item7.pdf
	meetings_160316_mdcp_00395_item8
	meetings_160316_mdcp_appendices_item8

	5 ESSENTIAL MONITORING REPORTS (MONITORING)

